

Non-planar anomalous dimensions in super Yang–Mills theories

Anne Spiering

School of Mathematics Faculty of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Trinity College Dublin, the University of Dublin

January 2022

This thesis is submitted for the degree of *Doctor of Philosophy*.

Supervisor Referees Prof. Dr. Tristan McLoughlin Prof. Dr. Ruth Britto Prof. Dr. Andreas Brandhuber

Declaration

I declare that this thesis has not been submitted as an exercise for a degree at this or any other university and it is entirely my own work. I agree to deposit this thesis in the University's open access institutional repository or allow the Library to do so on my behalf, subject to Irish Copyright Legislation and Trinity College Library conditions of use and acknowledgement. I consent to the examiner retaining a copy of the thesis beyond the examining period, should they wish so.

Parts of this thesis are based on the publications [1, 2], the preprint [3], as well as on unpublished work [4], which contain work in collaboration with Riccardo Gonzo, Tristan McLoughlin, Diego Medrano and Raul Pereira.

> Anne Spiering January 2022

Summary

Conformal supersymmetric Yang–Mills theories play an important role in the gaugegravity correspondence and, despite being highly non-physical, have been a driving force for many new approaches in more realistic theories like QCD and gravity. An important class of objects in conformal field theories is the spectrum of scaling dimensions of local operators, specifically their non-trivial coupling-dependent parts, the anomalous dimensions. The discovery of integrability in planar maximally supersymmetric Yang–Mills theory led to considerable advances in the computation of its anomalous-dimension spectrum. Less is known at the non-planar level where the theory is assumed to be non-integrable. In this thesis we consider non-planar anomalous dimensions in conformal supersymmetric Yang–Mills theories with gauge group SU(N) and approach them by a number of means.

First, we use an on-shell form-factor approach based on the intimate connection between the dilatation operator and scattering amplitudes. The former gives rise to operator mixing and its diagonalisation gives the operators' anomalous dimensions. The latter are basic observables in any quantum field theory, describing its interactions and linking theoretical developments to experimental investigations. A lot of progress has been made in recent years in the study of scattering amplitudes due to the advent of on-shell methods which circumvent many difficulties of more traditional approaches, and we use some of these here to extract the dilatation operator in certain sectors of the theories considered. In particular, we study a set of dimension-4 operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang–Mills theory that is relevant for the mixing of the theory's on-shell Lagrangian, and compute the spectrum of non-planar anomalous dimensions in this sector. Furthermore, we extract the general form of the one-loop dilatation operator in the sector of purely scalar operators in the β -deformed version of this theory.

In the planar limit of the theories considered in this thesis, the dilatation operator maps to a spin-chain Hamiltonian that can be diagonalised by integrability techniques, in particular a suitable Bethe ansatz. In this mapping the spectrum of anomalous dimensions becomes the energy spectrum of the corresponding spin chains. When going away from the planar limit, integrability is lost, but we can compute non-planar corrections to the planar spectrum using Rayleigh–Schrödinger perturbation theory. Using the basis of Bethe states, we compute matrix elements of the deformed and undeformed dilatation operator relevant in this approach. We find compact expressions in terms of off-shell scalar products and hexagon-like functions. We then use nondegenerate perturbation theory to compute the leading $1/N^2$ corrections to operator dimensions and as an example compute the large *R*-charge limit for two-excitation states through subleading order.

Finally, we numerically study statistical properties of large sets of anomalous dimensions which we obtain from a direct diagonalisation of the dilatation operators discussed in this thesis. Specifically, we analyse the distribution of level spacings in these spectra and find universal features: in the planar limit it follows the Poisson distribution characteristic of integrable systems, and at finite values of N it transitions to the Wigner–Dyson distribution of the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble of random matrix theory. This provides numerical evidence that perturbative non-planar anomalous-dimension spectra are quantum-chaotic, which is further supported by similar findings in the spectral rigidity measuring long-range interactions in the spectra. We also demonstrate that the finite-N eigenvectors possess properties of chaotic states.

Acknowledgements

Over the last four years, I benefited from the presence of a great number of people in my academic and non-academic life and in this text I can only begin to thank you all. Hopefully I can soon continue in person, and not through a mask anymore!

First of all, I am immensely grateful to Tristan McLoughlin for his kind supervision and his strong dedication to all our research projects, I could not have wished for any more support and guidance during this time. With a large amount of my PhD studies spent in lockdown, much of our interaction in the last months was online, but this did not lessen, but really increased his commitment to helping me through the ups and downs of a PhD life. I will always warmly remember our daily online morning meetings together with Raul Pereira, in spite (and because) of all the technical hickups, construction-work noise, and simply bad internet connection. We spent hours discussing physics and I am grateful for this inspiring time, specifically the lively debates on super Yang-Mills theories and super-Yang-Mills theories.

During the last few years, I had many interesting discussions with colleagues in the School of Mathematics at Trinity College Dublin, and all over the world, and I feel lucky and grateful for all of these opportunities. I owe special thanks to Tristan McLoughlin and Raul Pereira, as well as Riccardo Gonzo and Diego Medrano, for the great collaborations over the last years. I am grateful to Guy Jehu and Tristan McLoughlin for the many helpful and invaluable comments on previous versions of this thesis. I am also particularly thankful to Ruth Britto and Andreas Brandhuber for kindly agreeing to referee this thesis.

My work was partially funded by the SAGEX training network, and I want to thank all SAGEX members, and particularly Gabriele Travaglini and Lara, for all the hard work and effort that made this time so invaluable in my development as a researcher. I also wish to say a big thank you to all the SAGEX ESRs for so many good moments, in particular during our network events, and for becoming friends – how much less fun this time would have been without you! Another special thanks to Matthias Staudacher and Canxin Shi, as well as Susanne Milde and Sascha Rieger, for that shared wish to have Bob splashed by Alice. I am moreover grateful to Jenna Lane and Mary Thomas for all their help, and patience when waiting for my career development plans. I am also grateful to the people at Maplesoft in Waterloo for the opportunity to spend three months in Canada and being so welcoming throughout this time. A warm thank you to Jürgen Gerhard for the guidance, and many delightful and interesting discussions.

I thank my fellow students and postdocs Ana, Andrea, Anton, Aradhita, Chaolun, Chiara, Christiana, Elias, George, Guy, Johann, Johannes, Kiko, Martijn, Nico 1 and Nico 2, Paul, Petar, Pedro, Philipp, Raul, Robin, and Riccardo for many enjoyable chats, coffee and lunch breaks, pub nights and all the great cake we had for Fika.

Apart from the people mentioned above, I also wish to thank my friends Anna, David, Jakob, Jan-Peter, Julia, Julian, Lisa, Martin, Maxime, Nico, Nikolai, Peter, Till, Vanessa, and many more, but particularly Frido for always being there, and Guy for all the moral support and cheering during the last stretch of writing this thesis.

Ein ganz besonderer Dank gilt auch meinen Eltern und meiner kleinen Schwester für ihre unglaubliche Unterstützung und ihren ständigen Zuspruch vor allem während der letzten vier Jahre. Hier ist sie endlich: eine Arbeit über viele kleine Teilchen.

This work was financially supported by the Science Foundation Ireland through the grant 15/CDA/3472 and has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 764850 "SAGEX". Some of the calculations reported here were performed on the Lonsdale cluster maintained by the Trinity Centre for High-Performance Computing; this cluster was funded through grants from the Science Foundation Ireland.

Contents

Introduction

1	$\mathcal{N}=$	= 4 su p	er Yang–Mills theory and its marginal deformations	7					
	1.1 Undeformed theory								
		1.1.1	Symmetries, field content and action	7					
		1.1.2	Dilatation operator and anomalous dimensions	11					
		1.1.3	Scattering amplitudes and form factors	16					
	1.2	1.2 Deformations							
		1.2.1	Leigh–Strassler deformations	21					
		1.2.2	β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	22					
	1.3	Infrar	ed divergences	27					
		1.3.1	Infrared finite S-matrix and coherent states	28					
		1.3.2	Asymptotic symmetries and soft theorems	33					
2	Dila	Dilatation operator from on-shell methods 3'							
	2.1	Review of on-shell techniques							
		2.1.1	On-shell recursion for amplitudes and form factors	37					
		2.1.2	Dilatation operator meets scattering amplitudes	41					
	2.2	4 sYM theory from on-shell methods	49						
	2.3 Scalar β -deformed dilatation operator								
		2.3.1	Undeformed dilatation operator	56					
		2.3.2	Deformed dilatation operator	59					
3	Perturbative non-planar anomalous dimensions 63								
	3.1	r theory and integrability	64						
		3.1.1	Integrable structures in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory	64					
		3.1.2	Coordinate Bethe ansatz for the Heisenberg spin chain	66					
		3.1.3	Deformed planar theory	72					
	3.2	rbation theory in the undeformed theory	73						
		3.2.1	Matrix elements from ordered partitions	75					
		3.2.2	Matrix elements from spin-chain scalar products	77					

1

		3.2.3	A hexagon-like formulation	. 78				
		3.2.4	Anomalous dimensions from overlaps	. 84				
	bation theory in the β -deformed theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$. 88						
		3.3.1	Matrix elements	. 89				
		3.3.2	Anomalous dimensions	. 91				
		3.3.3	BMN limit	. 93				
4	Stat	tistical	properties of sYM theory spectra	103				
	4.1 Random matrix theory and quantum chaos							
		4.1.1	Review of random matrix theory	. 103				
		4.1.2	Level statistics observables	. 108				
	4.2 Level statistics for sYM theories							
		4.2.1	Desymmetrisation	. 118				
		4.2.2	Short-range correlations	. 120				
		4.2.3	Long-range correlations	. 126				
		4.2.4	Statistics of eigenstates	. 128				
		4.2.5	GOE and discrete symmetries	. 130				
Co	onclu	isions		131				
A	Nor	n-minii	mal form factors in the $SU(4)$ -invariant marginal sector	135				
В	B Overlaps from the algebraic Bethe ansatz							
С	C Data preparation							
Re	References							

Introduction

Quantum field theory (QFT) is the most powerful known theoretical framework to describe the elementary particles of nature and their interactions, and its predictions are being tested to ever higher precision in experiments. But despite having been studied for decades, only few of its predictions are exact results and most computations rely on perturbation theory. Toy models can pave a way towards new non-perturbative approaches, and can help us in overcoming problems in the more physically realistic setups. A prime example in this quest is $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills ($\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM) theory which is the most symmetric renormalisable quantum field theory known in four dimensions. It is a quantum conformal field theory (CFT) with the maximal amount of supersymmetry, and is uniquely fixed up to the choice of the gauge group. Most commonly, it is studied with gauge group SU(N). In the limit of infinite N, the so-called planar limit, the theory's symmetry structure is even further enhanced, and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory becomes integrable. Here exact results can be achieved. But the planar limit is a highly unphysical limit and in this thesis we study $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM observables in the non-planar theory. By furthering our understanding of this theory we might not only hope to gain new techniques for the study of more generic QFTs, but due to its duality with a gravitational theory defined on an Anti-de-Sitter (AdS) background in the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence [5], we simultaneously learn more about the dual type IIB string theory, with strings propagating on $AdS_5 \times$ S^5 .

The basic objects of interest in conformal field theories like $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory are correlation functions. The conformal symmetry puts strong constraints on their structure and in particular the two-point correlation functions of local operators are completely determined up to the operators' scaling dimensions. An important class of operators in superconformal field theories are primary operators, which are annihilated by the lowering operators of the superconformal algebra, and they form the seeds from which descendant operators can be obtained by the action of the complementary raising operators. For scalar primary operators $\mathcal{O}_i(x)$, the correlation function can be brought into the form

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i(x_1)\mathcal{O}_j(x_2)\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{|x_1 - x_2|^{2\Delta_i}} , \qquad (1)$$

with Δ_i denoting the scaling dimension of operator \mathcal{O}_i . The conformal symmetry ensures that the scaling dimension of descendant states corresponds to that of the associated primary operator. Thus the spectrum of scaling dimensions of primaries, together with the structure constants of three-point functions, form the CFT data of the theory; any higher-point correlation function can be computed from this data via an operator product expansion (OPE).

Given the absence of any physical energy scales, the problem of finding the spectrum of scaling dimensions takes on the role of the Hamiltonian spectral problem in conformal sYM theories. The analogue of the Hamiltonian is the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} and we are interested in solving its eigenvalue problem

$$\mathfrak{D} \cdot \mathcal{O}_i(0) = \Delta_i \mathcal{O}_i(0) . \tag{2}$$

The Δ_i equal the bare dimensions of operators, Δ_i^0 , at tree level, but are corrected in the quantum theory,

$$\Delta_i = \Delta_i^0 + \gamma_i(g_{\rm YM}, N, ...) . \tag{3}$$

The coupling-dependent part γ_i is the so-called anomalous dimension and is a nontrivial function of the parameters of the theory, e.g. in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory it is a function of the gauge coupling $g_{\rm YM}$ and the rank N of the gauge group. The problem of finding anomalous dimensions has been of continued interest due to its role as a proving ground for novel calculational techniques and because of its importance in the AdS/CFT correspondence, where the spectrum of scaling dimensions matches up with the string energy spectrum.

In this thesis we study the spectrum of anomalous dimensions perturbatively in the 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{\rm YM}^2 N$, and thus expand the dilatation operator as

$$\mathfrak{D} = \sum_{k} g^{2k} \mathfrak{D}_{2k} \qquad \text{with} \qquad g^2 = \frac{\lambda}{16\pi^2} \ . \tag{4}$$

There are a number of results for the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM dilatation operator, and in particular it was found at one-loop order for the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector in [6–9] and for the full theory in [10]. At each order in g^2 we can further consider the large-N expansion of the operator dimensions and a key development was the insight that in the planar limit $N \to \infty$ for the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector of operators the one-loop, $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$, dilatation operator acts like an integrable spin-chain Hamiltonian [11]. Therefore the leading large-N anomalous dimensions can be computed by means of an integrable spin chain, making the problem in some sense exactly solvable. This was subsequently extended to the full one-loop theory [12] and to higher orders in perturbation theory [13] as well as being observed at strong coupling [14]. Thus the full planar theory is conjectured to be integrable, and there are even non-perturbative results from the thermodynamic Bethe ansatz and the Quantum Spectral Curve (QSC) [15–18]. The latter interpolates between the weak-coupling gauge-theory regime and the strong-coupling string-theory regime and is conjectured to capture the finite- λ data of the planar theory.

The planar limit corresponds to the limit of an infinite number of gluon colour charges. In physical quantum field theories like QCD, this number is finite and thus it is important to understand whether and how the structures and techniques in the planar limit carry over to the non-planar regime of the theory. With the spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM anomalous dimensions being the starting point of many advances in planar sYM theories, they are also a natural starting point for explorations towards a deeper understanding of non-planar theories, where considerably less is known. In particular there is no systematic direct approach to the computation of the nonplanar anomalous dimension spectrum. There are a number of impressive perturbative results for specific operators, e.g. twist-two operators at four loops were studied and the four-loop non-planar correction to the cusp anomalous dimension was computed [19]. Furthermore, non-planar scaling dimensions can be obtained indirectly from the hexagon formalism for correlation functions [20–23] from OPE limits, or by evaluating four-point functions with two operators taken to be the identity [24]. In this work we obtain perturbative non-planar anomalous dimensions from diagonalising the dilatation operator itself by computing 1/N corrections about the planar limit using Rayleigh–Schrödinger perturbation theory. In order to do so, we split the dilatation operator into a leading planar part and subleading off-diagonal terms, which mix single- and multi-trace operators, and then compute matrix elements of the subleading terms in the basis of planar eigenstates. Such an approach was previously used to compute the large *R*-charge limit of non-planar dimensions of two-impurity BMN operators in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector at one- and two-loop level [6–9]. In this work we will generalise this approach for the one-loop dilatation operator in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector by making use of Bethe states describing arbitrary numbers of excitations or magnons.

Although the perturbative approach to non-planar data is promising at first sight, this procedure is made complicated by degeneracies in the planar spectrum [9,13,25]. Thus degenerate perturbation theory has to be employed, which requires solving a non-trivial mixing problem. We will instead consider deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory for which these degeneracies are lifted. In particular, we consider β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory which is a marginal deformation of the maximally supersymmetric theory preserving $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry. It is a special case of the Leigh–Strassler deformations [26] where products of fields get twisted by factors of $q = \exp(i\beta)$, and the Yang–Mills coupling $g_{\rm YM}$ in the superpotential gets deformed to κ . We concentrate on the case $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ for which the theory is exactly conformal to all loop orders in the planar limit [27] with $|\kappa|^2 = g_{\rm YM}^2$, and the planar spectral problem for the β -deformed theory is described by an integrable twist of the undeformed spin chain.

The planar one-loop dilatation operator in the β -deformed theory has been previously studied in [28, 29] and in this work we derive it at finite N in the scalar sector and use it for quantum-mechanical perturbation theory also in the deformed theory. There are a number of techniques to obtain the dilatation operator in sYM theories, in particular the complete one-loop dilatation operator for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory was found in [30] by a few Feynman diagram computations and symmetry arguments. Our approach of choice is a form-factor approach developed in [31], based on an earlier approach [32], relating the action of the dilatation operator to cuts of form factors. Importantly, this approach mainly relies on on-shell techniques that overcome difficulties related to gauge redundancies and the proliferation of diagrams in the usual perturbative approach by constructing observables directly from smaller on-shell building blocks. Here we will use it to find the one-loop deformed dilatation operator including non-planar double-trace contributions in the scalar sector of the theory to then study non-planar corrections to scaling dimensions also in the deformed theory. We find compact expressions for non-planar matrix elements relevant for the leading 1/Ncorrections and as an application of the method compute the large R-charge limit for two-excitation states.

In another attempt to further our understanding of non-planar sYM theories, in this thesis we also explore statistical behaviours of large sets of anomalous dimensions. Since the work of Wigner [33], as well as Porter and Rosenzweig [34] on the statistical properties of the energy levels of highly-excited nuclei, the study of spectral statistics has been a common technique to understand general properties of a system, while avoiding the exact analytic solution of the system's spectral problem. This is especially advantageous for very complex systems for which finding or solving the system's equations seems impossible. Here we will study spectra of planar, as well as finite-Nanomalous dimensions of sYM theories. In particular, we will be interested in the phenomenon of level repulsion: It is characteristic of chaotic systems where energy levels are correlated and so avoid each other, while in integrable systems levels are uncorrelated and move independently, crossing on occasion. The phenomenon of (non-)repulsing energy levels can be studied by looking at the distribution of spacings between neighbouring energy levels. If one computes the probability P(s)ds that the normalised spacing between adjacent levels lies in the interval between s and s+ds, one finds that for a generic, chaotic, quantum system $P(s) \to 0$ as $s \to 0$. For integrable systems it is generally the case that P(s) goes to a constant as $s \to 0$ which reflects the presence of hidden symmetries in these models. In addition to the occurrence of level repulsion, energy spectra of chaotic systems can generally be described by ensembles of random matrix theory (RMT) [35], and the statistics of the nearest-neighbour level spacings are closely approximated by the corresponding Wigner–Dyson distribution.

This has often been taken as a defining property of chaotic quantum systems and has been seen in a wide variety of areas ranging from condensed matter physics to quantum gravity. By contrast, the statistics of spacings in integrable systems are generally described by the Poisson distribution [36]. In this work we numerically study the spectrum of both the deformed and undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory. This is particularly interesting in the context of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory being the canonical example of a holographic theory, and many of the recent developments in quantum many-body chaos have come from the connection to black-hole physics [37–41]. We will find that in the planar limit the spectral distribution is Poisson, consistent with integrability, while at finite N the distribution is Wigner–Dyson and corresponds to that of the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble (GOE) random matrix theory.

Overview. This thesis is structured as follows. After this general introduction we review $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and its marginal deformations in Chapter 1. This includes a discussion of the undeformed theory in Section 1.1 with its symmetries and field content, the dilatation operator and anomalous dimensions. Further important concepts necessary for subsequent chapters like scattering amplitudes and form factors are introduced. In Section 1.2 we discuss marginal deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, including the Leigh–Strassler deformations, and dilatation operators and scattering amplitudes in the β -deformed theory. Finally in Section 1.3 we study infrared divergences of scattering amplitudes in non-abelian gauge theories, review concepts important for subsequent chapters and summarise the results of the paper [1].

In Chapter 2 we begin with a discussion of on-shell methods in the computation of scattering amplitudes and the dilatation operator in Section 2.1. Then we exploit this machinery to extract non-planar anomalous dimensions of dimension-4 operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in Section 2.2, and the one-loop dilatation operator of the β deformed theory in the scalar sector in Section 2.3. These sections are mainly based on unpublished work [4].

In Chapter 3 we review results of the publication [2]. We first discuss in Section 3.1 how the spectrum of scaling dimensions in the planar limit of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory can be obtained from integrability methods, focussing on the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector at one-loop order. Then we compute non-planar anomalous dimensions perturbatively around the planar theory in the undeformed case in Section 3.2, and the β -deformed case in Section 3.3. Doing so, we find compact expressions for matrix elements of the leading non-planar length-changing terms in the one-loop dilatation operators in terms of ordered partitions, spin-chain scalar products and hexagon-like objects. These results are applied to specific examples for which we obtain the leading non-planar correction to one-loop anomalous dimensions, and in particular we evaluate our expressions in the BMN limit of the deformed theory.

In Chapter 4 we discuss further results of the publication [2], as well as of [3], about the numerical study of spectra in deformed and undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory. We begin with a review on random matrix theory in Section 4.1, and also discuss its relevance for quantum-chaotic models. Furthermore, we introduce level statistics observables in order to explore features of numerical spectra which we will then apply to spectra in sYM theories in Section 4.2.

We conclude this thesis with a summary of the results and an outlook on possible future directions of work. In addition, there are a few appendices included. In Appendix A we list form factors relevant for the mixing of marginal operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory discussed in Section 2.2. In Appendix B we discuss the algebraic Bethe ansatz for the Heisenberg spin chain, including compact expressions for spin-chain scalar products following from this ansatz relevant for Chapter 3. Finally, in Appendix C we give more details on data preparation for the level statistics analysis performed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 1

$\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang–Mills theory and its marginal deformations

In this chapter we review $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and its marginal deformations, introduce the dilatation operator in conformal field theories, and discuss scattering amplitudes and form factors. This will lay the foundations for the following chapters. In Section 1.1 we begin with a discussion of pure $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, in particular its field content and symmetries, as well as scattering amplitudes and form factors in this theory. We furthermore introduce the main characters of this thesis: the dilatation operator and anomalous dimensions. In Section 1.2 we then move on to marginal deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, mainly focussing on the β -deformed theory and its dilatation operator and scattering amplitudes. In the final Section 1.3 we give a review of infrared divergences in scattering amplitudes, and discuss soft theorems and coherent states.

1.1 Undeformed theory

1.1.1 Symmetries, field content and action

Field content and action. $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory [42,43] has a rich symmetry structure. In four-dimensional spacetime it is the unique theory enjoying the maximal amount $\mathcal{N} = 4$ of supersymmetry allowed for renormalisable quantum field theories. Both its matter content and the form of the action are fixed by this symmetry.

The theory's matter fields are massless and contain the three complex scalar fields $\phi_{AB} = -\phi_{BA}$, the four fermionic fields $\psi_{A\alpha}$ and the four anti-fermionic fields $\bar{\psi}^A_{\dot{\alpha}}$. The indices A, B = 1, 2, 3, 4 correspond to the global R-symmetry group $SO(6) \simeq SU(4)$, and the spinor indices $\alpha, \dot{\alpha}$ range over 1, 2 and $\dot{1}, \dot{2}$, respectively. Furthermore, there is a gauge field A_{μ} , with Lorentz index $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ in mostly-minus signature, and we will work with SU(N) as the gauge group with all fields transforming in the adjoint

representation. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM action is given by

$$S_{\mathcal{N}=4} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\mathrm{Tr} \left(-\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{D}^{\mu} \phi^{AB}) (\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \phi_{AB}) + i \bar{\psi}^A_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu} \psi_{A\alpha} \right. \\ \left. + g_{\rm YM} \psi^A_A [\phi^{AB}, \psi_{B\alpha}] + g_{\rm YM} \bar{\psi}^A_{\dot{\alpha}} [\phi_{AB}, \bar{\psi}^{B\dot{\alpha}}] + \frac{g^2_{\rm YM}}{16} [\phi^{AB}, \phi^{CD}] [\phi_{AB}, \phi_{CD}] \right)$$
(1.1)

with dimensionless Yang–Mills coupling constant $g_{\rm YM}$. It contains the field strength $F_{\mu\nu}$ and covariant derivative \mathcal{D}_{μ} defined as

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - ig_{\rm YM}[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}] , \qquad \mathcal{D}_{\mu}X = (\partial_{\mu}X) - ig_{\rm YM}[A_{\mu}, X] , \qquad (1.2)$$

and the matrix $(\bar{\sigma}_{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = (\mathbb{1}, \sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}$ with Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{1.3}$$

The equations of motion for the fundamental fields following from (1.1) are

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu}F_{\mu\nu} = + 2ig_{\rm YM}[\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\phi_{AB}, \phi^{AB}] + g_{\rm YM}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\{\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{A}, \psi_{A\alpha}\}$$

$$i\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{A} = + 2g_{\rm YM}[\phi^{AB}, \psi_{B}^{\alpha}] ,$$

$$i\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\psi_{\alpha A} = - 2g_{\rm YM}[\phi_{AB}, \bar{\psi}^{B\dot{\alpha}}] ,$$

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi^{AB} = \frac{g_{\rm YM}^{2}}{8}[[\phi^{AB}, \phi^{CD}], \phi_{CD}] + \frac{g_{\rm YM}}{4}\left(\varepsilon^{ABCD}\{\psi_{C}^{\alpha}, \psi_{D\alpha}\} + (\delta_{C}^{A}\delta_{D}^{B} - \delta_{C}^{B}\delta_{D}^{A})\{\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{C}, \bar{\psi}^{D\dot{\alpha}}\}\right) .$$
(1.4)

Symmetries. $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory has an exceptional amount of symmetry. This includes the maximal amount $\mathcal{N} = 4$ of supersymmetry, with supercharges $\mathfrak{Q}^{A}_{\alpha}$ and $\dot{\mathfrak{Q}}_{A\dot{\alpha}}$, and the corresponding global $SO(6) \simeq SU(4)$ R-symmetry group, with R-charges \mathfrak{R}^{A}_{B} . Furthermore, it is a conformal field theory and so the Poincaré symmetry algebra, consisting of the Lorentz transformations $\mathfrak{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ and $\dot{\mathfrak{L}}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}$ and translations $\mathfrak{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, is enhanced to the conformal symmetry algebra $\mathfrak{so}(2,4) \simeq \mathfrak{su}(2,2)$, with additional dilatation generator \mathfrak{D} and special conformal transformations $\mathfrak{K}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$. At the classical level the conformal invariance of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory follows from the absence of masses and dimensionful couplings in its action (1.1), whereas its conservation at the quantum level is non-trivial [44–46]. The conformal symmetry algebra combines with the supersymmetry algebra to $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ whose irreducible part is the superconformal algebra $\mathfrak{S}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$. The explicit commutation relations of the symmetry generators, as well as their action on composite operators can be found for example in [30].

Composite operators of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM fundamental fields form primary states

	A_{μ}	ϕ_1	ϕ_2	ϕ_3	ψ_1	ψ_2	ψ_3	ψ_4
q^1	0	-1	0	0	-1/2	+1/2	+1/2	-1/2
q^2	0	0	-1	0	+1/2	-1/2	+1/2	-1/2
q^3	0	0	0	-1	+1/2	+1/2	-1/2	-1/2
Q^1	0	-1	+1	0	-1	+1	0	0
Q^2	0	0	-1	+1	0	-1	+1	0
r	0	-2/3	-2/3	-2/3	+1/3	+1/3	+1/3	-1

Table 1.1: $\mathfrak{u}(1)^3$ Cartan charges of the fundamental fields of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, with the respective anti-fields carrying opposite charges.

when they are annihilated by all lowering operators

$$\{\mathfrak{K}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}},\mathfrak{S}^{\alpha}_{A},\dot{\mathfrak{S}}^{A\dot{\alpha}},\mathfrak{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}(\alpha<\beta),\dot{\mathfrak{L}}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}(\dot{\alpha}<\dot{\beta}),\mathfrak{R}^{A}{}_{B}(A
(1.5)$$

Descendant operators can be built by acting with the corresponding raising operators

$$\{\mathfrak{P}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}},\mathfrak{Q}^{A}_{\alpha},\dot{\mathfrak{Q}}_{A\dot{\alpha}},\mathfrak{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}(\alpha>\beta),\dot{\mathfrak{L}}^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}(\dot{\alpha}>\dot{\beta}),\mathfrak{R}^{A}{}_{B}(A>B)\}.$$
(1.6)

The remaining symmetry generators form the Cartan subalgebra and their eigenvalues can be used to classify primary operators. Of particular importance for the organisation of operators will be the $\mathfrak{u}(1)^3$ Cartan charges of the SU(4) R-symmetry group defined as

$$\mathfrak{q}_1 = \mathfrak{R}_2^2 - \mathfrak{R}_1^1, \qquad \mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{R}_3^3 - \mathfrak{R}_2^2, \qquad \mathfrak{q}_2 = \mathfrak{R}_4^4 - \mathfrak{R}_3^3. \quad (1.7)$$

The corresponding eigenvalues $[q_1, p, q_2]$ for a given state are the $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ Dynkin labels. In the context of marginal deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory it will furthermore be convenient to introduce two alternative sets of labels (q^1, q^2, q^3) and (Q^1, Q^2, r) which are related to the Dynkin labels via [47]

$$q^{1} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{1} - q_{2}) , \qquad q^{2} = -\frac{1}{2}(q_{1} + q_{2}) , \qquad q^{3} = -\frac{1}{2}(q_{1} + 2p + q_{2}) ,$$
$$Q^{1} = q^{1} - q^{2} , \qquad Q^{2} = q^{2} - q^{3} , \qquad r = \frac{2}{3}(q^{1} + q^{2} + q^{3}) .$$
(1.8)

Their values for the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM fundamental fields are given in Table 1.1, where we define three complex scalars as

$$\phi_i := \phi_{i4} , i = 1, \dots, 3 , \qquad (1.9)$$

with conjugates $\bar{\phi}^i$. Another important label of a composite operator is their scaling

dimension Δ measured by the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} . This quantity will take on a central role throughout this thesis and will be further elaborated on in Section 1.1.2.

Gauge group. The generators of the gauge group SU(N) in the fundamental representation are $N \times N$ hermitian matrices obeying the commutation relation

$$[T^a, T^b] = \sqrt{2}if^{abc}T^c \tag{1.10}$$

with structure constants f^{abc} . The generators are normalised to

$$\operatorname{Tr}(T^a T^b) = \delta^{ab} , \qquad (1.11)$$

which implies

$$f^{abc}f^{abd} = N\delta^{cd} . (1.12)$$

The structure constants moreover satisfy the Jacobi identity

$$f^{abe} f^{cde} + f^{ace} f^{dbe} + f^{ade} f^{bce} = 0 . (1.13)$$

On-shell superfield and Lagrangian. In the following sections the Lagrangian formulation of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory via (1.1) will play a secondary role. Instead, we will mainly make use of on-shell techniques to determine the quantities of interest. The main idea behind this is to build on-shell observables from other known on-shell observables. Of particular importance will be the $\mathcal{N} = \text{sYM}$ version of the Parke– Taylor amplitude [48] for tree-level MHV scattering of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM fields. A compact version of this formula uses the fact that all on-shell states of the theory can be combined into a single on-shell superfield $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ as a function of Grassmann variables $\tilde{\eta}$ [49]

$$\Phi(p,\tilde{\eta}) = g_{+}(p) + \tilde{\eta}^{A}\psi_{A}(p) + \frac{1}{2!}\tilde{\eta}^{A}\tilde{\eta}^{B}\phi_{AB}(p) + \frac{1}{3!}\tilde{\eta}^{A}\tilde{\eta}^{B}\tilde{\eta}^{C}\bar{\psi}_{ABC}(p) + (\tilde{\eta})^{4}g_{-}(p) .$$
(1.14)

It contains gluons g_{\pm} (with helicity $h = \pm 1$), scalars ϕ_{AB} (h = 0), as well as fermions ψ_A (h = +1/2) and anti-fermions $\bar{\psi}^A$ (h = -1/2). They transform under conjugation as

$$g_{\pm}^{\dagger} = g_{\mp} , \qquad (\phi_{AB})^{\dagger} = \bar{\phi}^{AB} = \phi^{AB} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ABCD} \phi_{CD} ,$$
$$(\psi_{A}^{\alpha})^{\dagger} = \bar{\psi}^{A\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{1}{3!} \varepsilon^{ABCD} \bar{\psi}_{BCD}^{\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (\bar{\psi}_{ABC}^{\dot{\alpha}})^{\dagger} = \psi^{ABC\alpha} = \varepsilon^{ABCD} \psi_{D}^{\alpha} , \qquad (1.15)$$

where the third relation is consistent with

$$\bar{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}_{ABC} = \varepsilon_{ABCD} \bar{\psi}^{D\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (1.16)$$

and ε_{ABCD} is the four-dimensional Levi-Civita symbol. The conjugation rules (1.15) are moreover consistent with $(\Phi^{\dagger})^{\dagger} = 1$, where $\Phi \in \{g_{\pm}, \psi_A, \bar{\psi}^A, \phi_{AB}\}$ denotes an arbitrary component field of Φ .

Evaluating the Lagrangian (1.1) on-shell by using the equations of motion (1.4) yields the chiral on-shell Lagrangian of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory

$$\mathcal{L} = \text{Tr}\left(F_{\alpha\beta}F^{\alpha\beta} - g_{\rm YM}\psi^{\alpha}_{A}[\phi^{AB},\psi_{\alpha B}] - \frac{g^{2}_{\rm YM}}{2^{4}}[\phi^{AB},\phi^{CD}][\phi_{AB},\phi_{CD}]\right) .$$
(1.17)

Here we dropped all total derivatives and a topological term $F^{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta} - \bar{F}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ in the pure-gauge part

$$-\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\left(F^{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta} + \bar{F}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\bar{F}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\right) \simeq F^{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta} . \qquad (1.18)$$

In [50] this on-shell Lagrangian was introduced in the so-called Lagrangian insertion procedure to obtain loop corrections of correlation functions of half-BPS operators, and was later used to define a super-Wilson loop at loop level [51] which is dual to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM amplitudes with general helicity configurations.

1.1.2 Dilatation operator and anomalous dimensions

Classical conformal invariance. An important observable in four-dimensional CFTs is the spectrum of scaling dimensions of local operators. They are related to dilatations which scale spacetime coordinates by a scaling factor e^{α} as

$$x^{\mu} \to e^{\alpha} x^{\mu}. \tag{1.19}$$

In a free massless theory one can always find an appropriate transformation of the elementary fields such that the action of the theory is left invariant under dilatations. For example in a free massless scalar field theory, the action

$$S_0[\phi] = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial \phi(x)\right)^2 \tag{1.20}$$

is invariant under simultaneous transformation (1.19) and

$$\phi(x) \to \phi'(x) = e^{-\Delta_{\phi}^{0} \alpha} \phi(e^{-\alpha} x) \tag{1.21}$$

for $\Delta_{\phi}^0 = 1$, which can be easily seen from

$$S_0[\phi] \to \int d^4x' \frac{1}{2} (\partial'\phi'(x'))^2 = \int d^4x e^{(4-2-2)\alpha} \frac{1}{2} (\partial\phi(e^{(1-1)\alpha}x))^2 = S_0[\phi] .$$
(1.22)

 Δ_{ϕ}^{0} is the classical scaling dimension of the scalar field ϕ , which characterises the scaling properties of general operators under rescalings (1.19).

The scale-invariance of free massless theories is broken when adding mass terms to the Lagrangian. Similarly, deforming the action by adding interaction terms may break this symmetry, with the exception of marginal deformations. These are deformations

$$\delta \mathcal{L} \sim g \mathcal{O} \tag{1.23}$$

where the classical dimension of the operator \mathcal{O} is $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^0 = 4$ and the deformation parameter g is dimensionless. For unitary renormalisable classical field theories in four dimensions, scale invariance automatically implies conformal invariance [52, 53].

Conformal invariance at the quantum level. In general, it is not guaranteed that the conformal invariance of a classical theory is inherited by the quantum theory, but in the case of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory it is exact also at the quantum level [44–46]. This is implied by the vanishing of the β -function

$$\beta(g_{\rm YM}^2) = \mu \partial_\mu g_{\rm YM}^2 , \qquad (1.24)$$

which encodes the dependence of the theory on the renormalisation scale μ , to all loop orders. Nevertheless, many composite operators are renormalised and their classical scaling dimensions Δ^0 receive quantum corrections. $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory with gauge group SU(N) has two free parameters¹, the gauge coupling $g_{\rm YM}$ and the rank of the gauge group N, and a possible perturbative treatment of this theory corresponds to a double expansion of small 't Hooft coupling $\lambda = g_{\rm YM}^2 N$ and large gauge parameter N [54]. In the large-N expansion it is useful to classify Feynman diagrams according to the topological surface they can be drawn on. Then diagrams are suppressed according to the genus of these surfaces, with graphs that can be drawn on the surface of a sphere, i.e. planar diagrams, being dominant. In this perturbative regime, the scaling dimension of a local operator \mathcal{O} may be expanded as

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g^{2k} \gamma_{\mathcal{O}}^{(k)}(N) , \quad \text{with} \quad g^{2} = \frac{\lambda}{16\pi^{2}} , \qquad (1.25)$$

¹In principle, as in any gauge theory, one could introduce a θ -term which would give rise to a complex coupling constant. Here we work in the $\theta = 0$ sector.

with the classical dimension $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^0$ receiving quantum corrections $\gamma_{\mathcal{O}}^{(k)}(N)$, the so-called anomalous dimensions. These are in general non-trivial functions of the rank N of the gauge group and can thus be further computed in an expansion of large N.

The operator generating dilatations in a CFT, and thus measuring scaling dimensions of local operators, is the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} . A general operator \mathcal{O} transforms under dilatations as, cf. (1.21),

$$\mathcal{O}(x) \to e^{-\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}\alpha} \mathcal{O}(e^{-\alpha}x)$$
 (1.26)

generated by \mathfrak{D} as

$$\mathcal{O}(x) \to e^{\alpha \mathfrak{D}} \mathcal{O}(x) e^{-\alpha \mathfrak{D}}$$
 (1.27)

with

$$[\mathfrak{D}, \mathcal{O}(x)] = (\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + x^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}) \mathcal{O}(x) . \qquad (1.28)$$

In the perturbative regime we may expand the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} similar to (1.25) as²

$$\mathfrak{D} = \sum_{k} g^{2k} \mathfrak{D}_{2k} . \tag{1.29}$$

One-loop dilatation operator of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ **sYM theory.** Early computations of anomalous dimensions were based on the relation (1) between two-point functions and scaling dimensions and were performed by direct Feynman diagram calculations for each operator of interest. In order to efficiently compute anomalous dimensions for a number of operators, it is more useful to obtain them from diagonalisation of the dilatation operator. In [10], see also [30], the complete one-loop $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM dilatation operator was derived. This derivation relies on the computation of certain two-point functions in closed sectors via Feynman diagram calculations from which the dilatation operator in these sectors can be deduced. These results are then lifted to the full dilatation operator by symmetry arguments. After this first derivation of the dilatation operator in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, other methods were developed and we review an on-shell approach to the dilatation operator in Section 2.1.2.

In Chapters 3 and 4 we will consider anomalous dimensions of a particular class of local gauge-invariant operators which are given as products of traces of the covariant

²The full $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM dilatation operator has an expansion not only in even, but also odd powers of the coupling starting at $\mathcal{O}(g_{\rm YM}^3)$. These so-called "half-loop" contributions change the lengths of operators and this effect will be studied in more detail in Section 2.2. In the remaining parts of this thesis we restrict to closed sectors of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in which those length-changing effects do not occur and the dilatation operator can be expanded in even powers of the coupling only.

fields

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\Phi_1 \dots \Phi_L)(x) , \qquad (1.30)$$

where Φ_i is either a scalar, fermion or field strength with possible insertions of covariant derivatives \mathcal{D}_{μ} and L is the operator length. The symmetry algebra of the theory, $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$, is non-compact and thus the operators organise themselves in infinitedimensional representations. Of particular interest in this thesis are two rank-one sectors of the theory, the scalar $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector spanned by two complex scalars, e.g. $\{Z = \phi_{12}, X = \phi_{14}\}$, as well as the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector spanned by one complex scalar and one covariant light-cone derivative $\{Z, \mathcal{D}\}$.

 $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector. First we discuss the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector comprising operators made of products of traces of the two complex scalar fields Z and X, and so we consider operators such as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{\ell_1})$$
, $\operatorname{Tr}(XZ^{\ell_1}XZ^{\ell_2})$, $\operatorname{Tr}(XZ^{\ell_1}XZ^{\ell_2}Z^{\ell_3})\operatorname{Tr}(XZ^{\ell_4})\operatorname{Tr}(XX)$. (1.31)

These operators can be organised into SO(6) representations with Dynkin labels [M, L - 2M, M], where L counts the total number of scalar fields in the operator, while M corresponds to the number of X-fields. This sector is known to be closed under the action of the dilatation operator and does not mix with operators containing other scalars, field strengths or fermions. To describe the action of the dilatation operator, we make use of the notation for functional derivatives of fields, for example

$$(\check{Z})^a{}_b := \frac{\delta}{\delta(Z)^b{}_a} \tag{1.32}$$

such that

 $(\check{Z})^{a}{}_{b}(Z)^{c}{}_{d} = \delta^{c}_{b}\delta^{a}_{d} - N^{-1}\delta^{a}_{b}\delta^{c}_{d}$, and $(\check{Z})^{a}{}_{b}(X)^{c}{}_{d} = 0$. (1.33)

This can be used to derive the fusion and splitting formulas

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A\check{Z})\operatorname{Tr}(BZ) = \operatorname{Tr}(AB) - N^{-1}\operatorname{Tr}(A)\operatorname{Tr}(B) ,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A\check{Z}BZ) = \operatorname{Tr}(A)\operatorname{Tr}(B) - N^{-1}\operatorname{Tr}(AB) , \qquad (1.34)$$

where it is assumed that A and B do not contain any Z's. The N^{-1} terms are due to the fact that we are considering the SU(N) gauge theory. This is not particularly important for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and we could equally well consider a U(N) gauge group, however it will become relevant when we subsequently consider the β -deformed theory.

Using this notation, the tree-level dilatation operator in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector can be

written as

$$\mathfrak{D}_0 = : \operatorname{Tr}(Z\dot{Z} + X\dot{X}) : \tag{1.35}$$

and simply counts the number of fields in a given operator. The normal-ordering markers : : indicate that the functional derivatives do not act on the fields enclosed by these colons. The one- and two-loop correction to the dilatation operator is then given by [6, 13]

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2} = -\frac{2}{N} : \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z][\check{X}, \check{Z}]) : ,$$

$$\mathfrak{D}_{4} = -\frac{2}{N^{2}} : \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left[[X, Z], \check{Z}\right] \left[[\check{X}, \check{Z}], Z\right] + \left[[X, Z], \check{X}\right] \left[[\check{X}, \check{Z}], X\right] + \left[[X, Z], T^{a}\right] \left[[\check{X}, \check{Z}], T^{a}\right]\right) : .$$
(1.36)
$$+ \left[[X, Z], T^{a}\right] \left[[\check{X}, \check{Z}], T^{a}\right] (1.37)$$

Due to the residual SU(2) R-symmetry we can arrange operators in terms of primary operators defined by $J_-\mathcal{O} = 0$, where the lowering operator acts as $J_-X = Z$, and descendant operators which can be obtained by acting with J_+ on a primary. The above dilatation operator gives rise to a mixing problem which, for short operators, can be solved by hand to obtain the corresponding anomalous dimensions. For longer operators the dimension of the mixing problem gets very large very quickly and this calls for a more general approach to anomalous dimensions. In the planar limit the action of the one-loop dilatation operator reduces to the integrable XXX spin-chain Hamiltonian [11] and thus dimensions can be obtained using integrability techniques. In Chapter 3 we review the planar integrable theory and compute non-planar anomalous dimensions perturbatively around the solvable planar limit, and then we move on to an investigation of the statistical properties of anomalous dimensions at finite N in Chapter 4.

 $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector. A second sector we examine in this work is the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector. In this sector we are interested in operators consisting of traces of the scalar field Z with insertions of covariant light-cone derivatives. These operators are of particular interest as they are in some sense universal in non-abelian gauge theory [55], and can even be related to perturbative QCD [56] where there is an integrable $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector at one-loop level in the planar limit [57, 58], despite the conformal symmetry being broken.

We denote a scalar excited with n derivatives by $Z^{(n)} \equiv \mathcal{D}^n Z/n!$. The one-loop dilatation operator is [10]

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2} = -\frac{1}{N} \sum_{\substack{m,n \\ k+l=m+n}} C_{mn}^{kl} : \operatorname{Tr} \left([Z^{(k)}, \check{Z}^{(m)}] [Z^{(l)}, \check{Z}^{(n)}] \right) :$$
(1.38)

with coefficients

$$C_{mn}^{kl} = \delta_{k=m} \left(h(m) + h(n) \right) - \frac{\delta_{k\neq m}}{|k-m|} , \qquad (1.39)$$

and h(n) being the harmonic sum. We organise the operators with respect to their number of fields L and derivatives S. Furthermore, since there is an SL(2) symmetry, operators are arranged into primaries \mathcal{O} , obeying $S_-\mathcal{O} = 0$, and descendants obtained by the action of S_+ on \mathcal{O} . The action of the lowering operator is given by $S_-Z^{(n)} =$ $nZ^{(n-1)}$. Note that in this case the representations are non-compact since we can act with the raising operator S_+ indefinitely, creating an infinite tower of descendants.

1.1.3 Scattering amplitudes and form factors

The scaling dimensions of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, together with the structure constants from three-point correlation functions, build the CFT data of the theory. In more general, non-conformal, quantum field theories we are often interested in an alternative set of observables to characterise the theory: the scattering amplitudes. As basic ingredients for cross sections, they form important data for experiment, but also provide insight more formally into structural properties of the theory. Their definition for theories with massless particles, and in particular conformal field theories, is subtle due to the invalidity of the assumption that interactions are negligible at large distances. This requires the introduction of an infrared regulator and we will discuss the associated infrared divergences in amplitudes in further detail in Section 1.3. Scattering amplitudes are an active field of physics and we will not attempt to give a complete overview, but only confine ourselves to aspects immediately relevant for the discussions in this work and refer to reviews and lectures such as [59–62] for a more complete treatment and list of references.

Scattering amplitudes are overlaps between on-shell states of elementary particles and thus probe their interactions. Choosing all particles to be outgoing by crossing symmetry, their general form is given by the overlap of an n-particle outgoing state and the vacuum, i.e.

$$\mathcal{M}_n(1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2}, \dots, n^{a_n}) := \langle 1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2}, \dots, n^{a_n} | 0 \rangle \quad . \tag{1.40}$$

In this thesis we will also be interested in the more general overlaps between *n*-particle outgoing states and the off-shell state created by the action of a local operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ on the vacuum, i.e.

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2}, ..., n^{a_n}; x) := \langle 1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2}, ..., n^{a_n} | \mathcal{O}(x) | 0 \rangle \quad .$$
(1.41)

These objects are the so-called form factors and they build a bridge between the purely on-shell scattering amplitudes and off-shell correlation functions. **Colour ordering.** In general, amplitudes of a given theory depend on the labels of the external particles and in non-abelian gauge theories we can separate the colourdependence of amplitudes from the remaining degrees of freedom by a colour decomposition. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory this decomposition of the full amplitude \mathcal{M}_n , depending on the colour indices $a_1, a_2, ..., a_n$, is achieved in terms of partial amplitudes \mathcal{M}_n at tree-level via [63, 64]

$$\mathcal{M}_{n}^{(0)}(\{p_{i},a_{i}\}) = g_{\rm YM}^{n-2} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_{n}/\mathbb{Z}_{n}} \mathcal{M}_{n}^{(0)}(p_{\sigma(1)},p_{\sigma(2)},...,p_{\sigma(n)}) \operatorname{Tr}(a_{\sigma(1)}a_{\sigma(2)}...a_{\sigma(n)}) , \quad (1.42)$$

where we leave the dependence on any other particle quantum numbers besides the momenta and colour indices implicit. The elements a_i in the colour trace represent the traceless generators T^{a_i} of SU(N) in the fundamental representation, obeying the relation (1.10) with normalisation (1.11). The sum in (1.42) is over all permutations S_n of the colour labels up to cyclically invariant combinations, i.e. we sum over $S_{n-1} = S_n/\mathbb{Z}_n$. This reflects the (graded) cyclicity of partial amplitudes:

$$M_n(1, 2, 3, ..., n) = M_n(2, 3, ..., n, 1) .$$
(1.43)

Using the reflection and U(1) decoupling identity,

$$M_n(1, 2, ..., n) = (-1)^n M_n(n, ..., 2, 1) ,$$

$$M_n(1, 2, 3, ..., n) + M_n(2, 1, 3..., n) + ... + M_n(2, 3..., n, 1) = 0 ,$$
(1.44)

as well as the more general Kleiss–Kuijf relations [65] of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM partial amplitudes, the relation (1.42) can be reformulated in terms of (n-2)! partial amplitudes as [66]

$$\mathcal{M}_{n}^{(0)}(\{p_{i},a_{i}\}) = (\sqrt{2}ig_{\mathrm{YM}})^{n-2} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_{n-2}} \mathrm{M}_{n}^{(0)}(p_{1},p_{\sigma(2)},...,p_{\sigma(n-1)},p_{n}) \cdot f^{a_{1}a_{\sigma(2)}e_{1}} f^{e_{1}a_{\sigma(3)}e_{2}}...f^{e_{n-3}a_{\sigma(n-1)}a_{n}}, \quad (1.45)$$

which for the four-point amplitude yields the simple relation

$$\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(0)} = -2g_{\rm YM}^2 \left(\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(0)}(1,2,3,4) f^{a_1 a_2 e} f^{a_3 a_4 e} + \mathcal{M}_{4}^{(0)}(1,3,2,4) f^{a_1 a_3 e} f^{a_2 a_4 e} \right) .$$
(1.46)

A further reduction of the basis of tree-level partial amplitudes to (n-3)! independent amplitudes can be achieved via the BCJ relations [67], but as they have not been established for the β -deformed theory we discuss further below, we will not make use of them in this work. Spinor-helicity variables. With $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory being a quantum conformal theory of only massless fields, it is particularly useful to describe amplitudes in momentum space in terms of spinor-helicity variables. They are introduced by decomposing on-shell massless momenta p^{μ} , $p^2 = 0$, into two two-component Weyl spinors λ and $\tilde{\lambda}$ as

$$p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = p^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}_{\mu} = \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\lambda^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} p^{0} + p^{3} & p^{1} - ip^{2} \\ p^{1} + ip^{2} & p^{0} - p^{3} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(1.47)

For physical momenta with real and positive energy the two spinors are related via

$$(\lambda^{\alpha}(p))^* = \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}(p) . \tag{1.48}$$

We adopt the convention where under crossing a momentum, $p \rightarrow k = -p$, the spinors satisfy

$$\lambda(-p) = -\lambda(p), \quad \tilde{\lambda}(-p) = \tilde{\lambda}(p) \tag{1.49}$$

and thus for crossed momenta k with real and negative energy, the relation (1.48) becomes

$$(\lambda^{\alpha}(k))^* = -\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}(k) . \qquad (1.50)$$

For a given momentum $p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}$ the spinors are only fixed up to a phase φ ,

$$(\lambda^{\alpha}, \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}) \to (e^{-i\varphi}\lambda^{\alpha}, e^{i\varphi}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}) \quad \Rightarrow \quad p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} \to p^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} .$$
 (1.51)

This invariance is related to the $SO(2) \simeq U(1)$ little-group symmetry which leaves the momentum invariant in the Lorentz frame in which it is given by $p^{\mu} = (p^0, 0, 0, p^0)$ with particle energy p^0 . The associated little-group transformation rotates particles as a function of their helicity h as

$$\langle p, h | \to e^{2i\varphi h} \langle p, h |$$
 . (1.52)

Thus the fundamental fields of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory transform as

$$\begin{aligned} \langle g_{+}| \to e^{2i\varphi} \langle g_{+}| \ , & \langle g_{-}| \to e^{-2i\varphi} \langle g_{-}| \ , \\ \langle \psi| \to e^{i\varphi} \langle \psi| \ , & \langle \bar{\psi}| \to e^{-i\varphi} \langle \bar{\psi}| \ , \\ \langle \phi| \to \langle \phi| \ , & (1.53) \end{aligned}$$

in particular the negative-helicity fermions $\bar{\psi}$ scale like λ , while positive-helicity fermions ψ scale like $\tilde{\lambda}$. Lorentz-invariant combinations of spinor-helicity variables

can be built as

$$\langle ij \rangle := \lambda_i^{\alpha} \lambda_{j\alpha}, \quad [ij] := \tilde{\lambda}_{i\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\lambda}_j^{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (1.54)$$

where spinor indices are raised and lowered with the help of the two-dimensional Levi-Civita symbol

$$\lambda_{\alpha} = \varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}\lambda^{\beta}, \quad \tilde{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \varepsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\lambda}^{\beta} . \tag{1.55}$$

They are related to Mandelstam invariants as

$$s_{ij} = (p_i + p_j)^2 = \langle ij \rangle [ji] . \qquad (1.56)$$

Parke–Taylor superamplitude. $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM amplitudes of the elementary gluon, fermion and scalar fields can be cast into a particularly compact form by combining them into amplitudes of on-shell superfields $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ given in (1.14). The MHV component amplitudes at tree-level combine to the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superfield version of the Parke–Taylor amplitude, the so-called Parke–Taylor superamplitude,

$$\mathbf{M}_{n}^{(0,\mathrm{MHV})}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\Phi}_{2},...,\boldsymbol{\Phi}_{n}) = \frac{\delta^{(8)}(\sum_{i=1}^{n}\lambda_{i}^{\alpha}\tilde{\eta}_{i}^{A})}{\langle 12\rangle\langle 23\rangle\ldots\langle n1\rangle} = \frac{\prod_{A=1}^{4}\sum_{1\leq i< j\leq n}\langle ij\rangle\,\tilde{\eta}_{i}^{A}\tilde{\eta}_{j}^{A}}{\langle 12\rangle\langle 23\rangle\ldots\langle n1\rangle} \,. \tag{1.57}$$

From this expression a component amplitude can be extracted by identifying the combination of $\tilde{\eta}_i$'s corresponding to the helicities h_i as in (1.14).

Originally the expression in (1.57) was conjectured for purely gluonic MHV treelevel amplitudes by Parke and Taylor [48] from expressions up to n = 5 obtained essentially by direct Feynman diagram calculations. Only a year later it was proven for arbitrary numbers of external legs by Berends and Giele [68] in terms of an offshell recursion. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, supersymmetry relates this purely gluonic amplitude to amplitudes with general external field content via Ward identities which result in the Parke–Taylor superamplitude (1.57). The particularly simple form of the Parke–Taylor amplitude is remarkable, especially in light of the huge number of Feynman diagrams contributing to its computation via traditional methods. In a quest to make this simplicity manifest directly in the derivation of scattering amplitudes, new approaches to such calculations were developed, with the main idea being to work with exclusively on-shell degrees of freedom at every stage of the computation. We elaborate on some of these so-called on-shell methods further in Section 2.1.

Form factors. A form factor measures the overlap of an on-shell external state and an off-shell state created by the action of a local operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ on the vacuum $|0\rangle$ as in (1.41). Form factors in position space can be transformed into momentum space via a Fourier transformation as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(1,...,n;q) = \int d^{4}x e^{-iq \cdot x} \langle 1,...,n|\mathcal{O}(x)|0\rangle$$

=
$$\int d^{4}x e^{-iq \cdot x} \langle 1,...,n|e^{ix \cdot \mathfrak{P}}\mathcal{O}(0)e^{-ix \cdot \mathfrak{P}}|0\rangle$$

=
$$(2\pi)^{4} \delta^{4} (q - \sum_{i} p_{i}) \langle 1,...,n|\mathcal{O}(0)|0\rangle , \qquad (1.58)$$

where we use the momentum operator \mathfrak{P}_{μ} to translate the operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ to the origin.

Similar to the colour decomposition (1.42) of scattering amplitudes, we can strip off the colour-dependence of form factors by defining colour-ordered partial form factors. For form factors of length-L single-trace operators \mathcal{O} in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory this decomposition is achieved via

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}^{(0)}(\{p_i, a_i\}; q) = g_{\rm YM}^{n-L} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_n/\mathbb{Z}_n} F_{\mathcal{O}}^{(0)}(p_{\sigma(1)}, p_{\sigma(2)}, ..., p_{\sigma(n)}; q) \operatorname{Tr}(a_{\sigma(1)}a_{\sigma(2)}...a_{\sigma(n)})$$
(1.59)

at tree-level. For multi-trace operators there exists a similar decomposition where the sum over permutations splits into a sum over all possible partitions of colour indices over the different traces and sums over non-cyclic permutations for each individual trace.

An important class of form factors is formed by those for which the field content in the external state corresponds to the field content in the local operator. These socalled minimal form factors have a non-vanishing contribution even in the free-theory limit and will take on a particularly important role in this thesis. The minimal form factors of the fundamental fields are

$$\langle g_{-}(p)|F^{\alpha\beta}|0\rangle = \lambda^{\alpha}\lambda^{\beta} , \qquad \langle g_{+}(p)|\bar{F}^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}|0\rangle = \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}} , \langle \bar{\psi}^{A}(p)|\psi^{\alpha}_{B}|0\rangle = \delta^{A}_{B}\lambda^{\alpha} , \qquad \langle \psi_{A}(p)|\bar{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}B}|0\rangle = \delta^{B}_{A}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} , \langle \phi_{AB}(p)|\phi_{CD}|0\rangle = \varepsilon_{ABCD} .$$

$$(1.60)$$

1.2 Deformations

 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory has many exceptional features, including exact conformal invariance, a maximal amount of supersymmetry, planar integrability, and duality with a gravitational theory. This makes this theory stand out from all other four-dimensional quantum field theories and an ideal testing ground for new approaches to computations and conceptional explorations in more generic theories. Nevertheless, this amount of symmetry also makes $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory highly unphysical, and this motivates the study of its deformations and, in particular, of how concepts developed in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory carry over to less-symmetric theories. One natural starting point in this quest are exactly marginal deformations which we will discuss in Section 1.2.1. We will mainly focus our attention on the β -deformation, and discuss this theory, its dilatation operator and scattering amplitudes in Section 1.2.2.

1.2.1 Leigh–Strassler deformations

 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory is a representative of a larger family of supersymmetric CFTs in four dimensions that were classified by Leigh and Strassler in [26]. They can be obtained from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory by deforming its superpotential in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace formulation. In this formulation the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ elementary fields discussed in Section 1.1.1 are arranged into one vector superfield V, and three chiral superfields ϕ_1, ϕ_2, ϕ_3 . The corresponding superspace Lagrangian contains the superpotential

$$W_{\mathcal{N}=4} = g_{\rm YM} \operatorname{Tr}([\phi_1, \phi_2]\phi_3) .$$
 (1.61)

Leigh and Strassler [26] showed that the two-parameter deformation

$$W_{\rm LS} = \kappa \operatorname{Tr} \left(\phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3 - q \phi_2 \phi_1 \phi_3 + \frac{h}{3} (\phi_1^3 + \phi_2^3 + \phi_3^3) \right)$$
(1.62)

gives rise to a family of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric conformal field theories which remain conformal at the quantum level given a single constraint equation on the new parameters κ , q and h. This constraint can be obtained perturbatively and through two loops is given by the relation

$$2g_{\rm YM}^2 = |\kappa|^2 \left(\frac{2}{N^2} \left|q + q^{-1}\right|^2 + \left(1 - \frac{4}{N^2}\right) \left(|q|^2 + |q^{-1}|^2 + |h|^2\right)\right) , \qquad (1.63)$$

see e.g. [69]. The Leigh–Strassler superpotential (1.62) breaks the SU(4) R-symmetry of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory to the U(1) R-symmetry of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergroup. One wellstudied subclass of these Leigh–Strassler theories is the q-deformation for which h = 0, and in this case the Cartan $\mathfrak{u}(1)^3$ of SU(4) remains unbroken.

The Leigh–Strassler theories have been of continued interest in the context of possible deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory which inherit its planar integrability. For generic values of q and h in (1.62) the theory in the planar limit is non-integrable, and in fact integrability poses a strong constraint which is only satisfied at very special values [70–72]. One class of integrable models has parameters |q| = 1 and h = 0. If also $q^n = 1$, then these correspond to orbifolds of the undeformed theory. We can introduce a parameter $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ with $q = \exp(i\beta)$ and the corresponding Leigh– Strassler theory is also known as (real-) β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory. In this case the conformality condition (1.63) becomes

$$g_{\rm YM}^2 = |\kappa|^2 \left(1 - \frac{4}{N^2} \sin^2 \beta\right) ,$$
 (1.64)

and is further simplified to $g_{\text{YM}}^2 = |\kappa|^2$ in the planar limit, where this constraint receives no higher-loop corrections [27].

1.2.2 β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory

In this work our main focus will be on the real β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory. This rather simple-looking deformation has rich physics and in this thesis we explore a few of its properties.

Lagrangian. In $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace formalism the β -deformation of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM Lagrangian corresponds to a single-trace deformation of the superpotential (1.62). However, when written in terms of the component fields, this results in both single-trace and double-trace deformations of the Lagrangian [47,73]. Furthermore, all interaction terms originating from the superpotential appear with deformed coupling κ . The Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}^{\beta} = \operatorname{Tr} \left(-\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - (\mathcal{D}^{\mu} \phi^{i}) (\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \phi_{i}) + i \bar{\psi}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu} \psi_{i\alpha} + i \bar{\psi}^{4}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu} \psi_{4\alpha} \right. \\ \left. - 2g_{\rm YM} \psi^{\alpha}_{4} [\bar{\phi}^{i}, \psi_{i\alpha}] - 2g_{\rm YM} \bar{\psi}^{4}_{\dot{\alpha}} [\phi_{i}, \bar{\psi}^{i\dot{\alpha}}] - \kappa \varepsilon^{ijk} \psi^{\alpha}_{i} [\phi_{j}, \psi_{k\alpha}]_{\beta} - \kappa^{*} \varepsilon_{ijk} \bar{\psi}^{i}_{\dot{\alpha}} [\bar{\phi}^{j}, \bar{\psi}^{k\dot{\alpha}}]_{\beta} \right. \\ \left. - \frac{g^{2}_{\rm YM}}{2} [\phi_{i}, \bar{\phi}^{i}] [\phi_{j}, \bar{\phi}^{j}] + |\kappa|^{2} [\phi_{i}, \phi_{j}]_{\beta} [\bar{\phi}^{i}, \bar{\phi}^{j}]_{\beta} \right) \\ \left. - \frac{|\kappa|^{2}}{N} \operatorname{Tr} \left([\phi_{i}, \phi_{j}]_{\beta} \right) \operatorname{Tr} \left([\bar{\phi}^{i}, \bar{\phi}^{j}]_{\beta} \right) , \qquad (1.65)$$

where i = 1, ..., 3 and the scalars are defined in (1.9). This expression contains deformed commutators

$$[\Phi_i, \Phi_j]_{\beta} = e^{i\beta(Q_i^1 Q_j^2 - Q_j^1 Q_i^2)} \Phi_i \Phi_j - e^{i\beta(Q_j^1 Q_i^2 - Q_i^1 Q_j^2)} \Phi_j \Phi_j \,, \qquad (1.66)$$

where the charges Q_i^1 and Q_i^2 associated to the field Φ_i are two of the $U(1)^3$ Cartan charges and their values for all elementary fields are given in Table 1.1. Note that the Lagrangian (1.65) does not only conserve the U(1) R-symmetry of general Leigh–Strassler theories corresponding to the quantum number r, but the full Cartan $U(1)^3$. The double-trace scalar term in (1.65) is important for the theory to be exactly conformal [47]. This is true even in the planar limit as, although this term occurs at subleading order in N, the corresponding interaction contributes to the leading planar anomalous dimensions of short operators. In the undeformed action (1.1) the interactions are all of commutator-type. Due to the form of colour contractions in traces, this in particular results in anomalousdimension spectra that are independent of whether we use SU(N) or U(N) as the gauge group. In the β -deformed theory the U(N) gauge group is no longer conformal at the quantum level due to the couplings of U(1) scalars. These degrees of freedom decouple at the infrared fixed point corresponding to the SU(N) theory and we will thus consider only the SU(N) gauge group.

Dilatation operator. The form of the single-trace part of the β -deformed dilatation operator is simply inherited from the undeformed theory and is found by replacing the commutators in the undeformed dilatation operator by the β -deformed commutator (1.66) defined via the R-charges of the fields. In the planar limit and for sufficiently large operators (L > 2) the anomalous dimensions are completely fixed by this single-trace part of the dilatation operator which maps to an integrable Hamiltonian discussed in Section 3.1.3. The planar dilatation operator for the deformed theory has been previously studied using both integrability methods [28] and direct field-theory computations [29].

The non-planar dilatation operator can in principle be directly computed from the deformed Lagrangian using standard Feynman diagrammatics. In this thesis we will derive it in the scalar subsector using on-shell methods based on [31, 32], cf. Section 2.3. The result in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector spanned by $X = \phi_{14}$ and $Z = \phi_{12}$ is given by

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}^{\beta} = -\frac{2\tilde{\kappa}^{2}}{N} \left(: \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}[\check{X}, \check{Z}]_{\beta}): -\frac{(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})^{2}}{N}: \operatorname{Tr}(XZ)\operatorname{Tr}(\check{X}\check{Z}): \right) , \quad (1.67)$$

where the deformed commutator is

$$[X, Z]_{\beta} = e^{i\beta}XZ - e^{-i\beta}ZX , \qquad (1.68)$$

and $\tilde{\kappa} = \kappa/g_{\rm YM}$. Note that the $U(1)^3$ symmetry of the β -deformed Lagrangian guarantees that the number of X- and Z-fields is preserved by interactions and thus this sector continues to be closed also in the deformed theory. The double-trace contribution in (1.67) is necessary to make the theory exactly conformal [47] and ensures that the operator Tr(XZ) is a protected operator

$$\mathfrak{D}_2^\beta \operatorname{Tr}(XZ) = 0 \ . \tag{1.69}$$

This has been shown perturbatively at one- and two-loop level by direct calculation in [74,75]. While the double-trace contribution is relevant at leading order in a 1/Nexpansion when acting on short operators such as Tr(XZ), for long operators it is subleading due to its suppression by a factor of 1/N. Colour-ordered amplitudes. The deformation of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM Lagrangian results in a deformation of the corresponding amplitudes starting already at tree-level. The most striking difference is the occurrence of multi-trace terms in the amplitudes. In particular for the four-point amplitude the colour decomposition is achieved by

$$\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(0)}(1^{a_{1}}, 2^{a_{2}}, 3^{a_{3}}, 4^{a_{4}}) = g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_{4}/\mathbb{Z}_{4}} \mathrm{M}_{4;1}^{(0)}(p_{\sigma(1)}, p_{\sigma(2)}, p_{\sigma(3)}, p_{\sigma(4)}) \operatorname{Tr}(a_{\sigma(1)}a_{\sigma(2)}a_{\sigma(3)}a_{\sigma(4)}) + g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_{4}/\mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}} \mathrm{M}_{4;2}^{(0)}(p_{\sigma(1)}, p_{\sigma(2)}|p_{\sigma(3)}, p_{\sigma(4)}) \operatorname{Tr}(a_{\sigma(1)}a_{\sigma(2)}) \operatorname{Tr}(a_{\sigma(3)}a_{\sigma(4)}) , \quad (1.70)$$

where the double-trace contribution is generated by the double-trace interaction term in the Lagrangian (1.65) and is thus suppressed by a factor of 1/N compared to the single-trace contribution. The decomposition of amplitudes with a larger number of external legs involves higher multi-trace terms, but we will mainly focus on the fourpoint amplitude in the following. Note that we pull out a factor of $g_{\rm YM}^2$ in the fourpoint partial amplitudes in analogy to the undeformed case, however some interaction vertices in the deformed theory appear with a complexified coupling κ which is related to the undeformed gauge coupling $g_{\rm YM}$ via (1.64).

Planar amplitudes. In the planar limit, the deformed amplitudes only contain single-trace colour structures like their undeformed analogues and due to (1.64) the coupling κ is essentially given by the undeformed gauge coupling: $|\kappa|^2 = g_{\rm YM}^2$. Moreover, the corresponding deformed and undeformed partial amplitudes are very closely related and, remarkably, they only differ by an overall phase factor that is entirely determined by the flavour structure of external legs and does not probe the explicit internal interaction structure [76]. This property holds for all planar amplitudes at arbitrary loop order and can be particularly simply phrased in an alternative approach to planar β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory achieved by replacing all products in the undeformed action (1.1) by a Moyal-like *-product [77]. It is defined as

$$\Phi_i \star \Phi_j = e^{i\beta(Q_i^1 Q_j^2 - Q_j^1 Q_i^2)} \Phi_i \Phi_j , \qquad (1.71)$$

with $\Phi_i \Phi_j$ being the usual product of two elementary fields Φ_i and Φ_j . Using this product, the overall factor of deformed planar amplitudes can simply be determined by

$$M_{n}^{\beta}(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2}, ..., \Phi_{n}) = M_{n}^{\mathcal{N}=4}(\Phi_{1} \star \Phi_{2} \star ... \star \Phi_{n})$$

:= $e^{i\varphi(\Phi_{1}, ..., \Phi_{n})}M_{n}^{\mathcal{N}=4}(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2}, ..., \Phi_{n})$, (1.72)

where we repeatedly use (1.71), and the phase

$$\varphi(\Phi_1, ..., \Phi_n) := \beta \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} (Q_i^1 Q_j^2 - Q_j^1 Q_i^2)$$
(1.73)

measures the sum over the Cartan charge differences of all ordered pairs of fields in the amplitude. This similarity of the planar deformed and undeformed scattering amplitudes is a direct consequence of Filk's theorem [78] which states that in a non-commutative field theory the deformed version of a planar scattering amplitude corresponds to its undeformed version times a phase factor. Note that this theorem was originally formulated for spacetime non-commutative field theories with the Moyal \star -product, but due to its similarity with (1.71) it holds here too. As the phase factor only depends on the ordering of the fields in the partial amplitude, it can also be moved into the colour part of the full amplitude.

In general, the phase factor in (1.72) is non-cyclic, e.g.

$$\varphi(\Phi_n, \Phi_1, ..., \Phi_{n-1}) - \varphi(\Phi_1, ..., \Phi_n) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (Q_n^1 Q_i^2 - Q_i^1 Q_n^2) .$$
 (1.74)

Nevertheless, since an amplitude forms a $U(1)^3$ singlet, the product of fields $\Phi_1, ..., \Phi_n$ must itself be uncharged under the corresponding Cartan Q^1 , Q^2 and r and this implies

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} Q_i^1 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} Q_i^2 = 0 \tag{1.75}$$

and thus the right-hand side in (1.74) vanishes, making the planar partial amplitudes inherit the cyclicity property of undeformed amplitudes. In contrast, for a general particle configuration the partial amplitude is not invariant under reflection. Instead, due to $\varphi(\Phi_1, \Phi_2, ..., \Phi_n) = -\varphi(\Phi_n, ..., \Phi_2, \Phi_1)$, planar partial amplitudes are related to their parity-conjugated analogues via

$$\mathbf{M}_{n}^{\beta}(\Phi_{n},...,\Phi_{2},\Phi_{1}) = e^{-2i\varphi(\Phi_{1},\Phi_{2},...,\Phi_{n})}\mathbf{M}_{n}^{\beta}(\Phi_{1},\Phi_{2},...,\Phi_{n}) .$$
(1.76)

Furthermore, the U(1)-decoupling identity is modified to

$$M_{n}^{\beta}(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2}, \Phi_{3}, ..., \Phi_{n}) + e^{2i\varphi(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2})} M_{n}^{\beta}(\Phi_{2}, \Phi_{1}, \Phi_{3}, ..., \Phi_{n}) + ... + e^{2i(\varphi(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{2}) + ... + \varphi(\Phi_{1}, \Phi_{n}))} M_{\beta,1}^{(0)}(\Phi_{2}, \Phi_{3}, ..., \Phi_{n}, \Phi_{1}) = 0 , \quad (1.77)$$

where the amplitudes pick up a factor of $e^{2i\varphi(\Phi_1,\Phi_i)}$ for every Φ_i the field Φ_1 permutes through. Using these relations the full four-point planar tree amplitudes in the β - deformed theory can be simplified to

$$\mathcal{M}_{4}^{\beta}(1^{a_{1}}, 2^{a_{2}}, 3^{a_{3}}, 4^{a_{4}}) = \mathcal{M}_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=4}(1, 2, 3, 4) \operatorname{Tr}([a_{1}, a_{2}][a_{3}, a_{4}])_{\beta} + \mathcal{M}_{4}^{\mathcal{N}=4}(1, 3, 2, 4) \operatorname{Tr}([a_{1}, a_{3}][a_{2}, a_{4}])_{\beta} .$$
(1.78)

The index β on both trace factors implies that each term in the trace is accompanied by the respective phase, e.g. $\text{Tr}(a_1a_2a_3a_4)$ gets accompanied by $e^{i\varphi(\Phi_1,\Phi_2,\Phi_3,\Phi_4)}$. Thus all β dependence is moved from the kinematic part to the colour part of the amplitude and the four-point amplitude can be written in a very similar fashion to the undeformed case in (1.46).

Non-planar amplitudes. At the non-planar level amplitudes not only receive double-trace terms, but also the single-trace partial amplitudes differ from their planar version (1.72) due to the appearance of the deformed coupling κ and, in particular, they are generally not proportional to the undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM amplitudes. Nonplanar amplitudes in the deformed theory were studied in [73] at tree-, one- and partially at two-loop order. Here we concentrate on scalar four-point amplitudes at tree-level as they will be important in the derivation of the scalar dilatation operator in Section 2.3. Their colour decomposition is achieved via (1.70). As the phase $\varphi(\Phi_i, \Phi_j)$ vanishes for $\Phi_i = \Phi_j$ as well as $\Phi_i = \bar{\Phi}_j$, and the interaction vertices that couple Φ_i and Φ_j remain unmodified in these cases, scalar amplitudes like $\mathcal{M}_4^{(0)}(\phi_1, \phi_1, \bar{\phi}^1, \bar{\phi}^1)$ simply correspond to the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM amplitudes and can be obtained from the Parke–Taylor superamplitude (1.57), i.e.

$$\mathcal{M}_{4}^{(0)}(\phi_{1}^{a_{1}},\phi_{1}^{a_{2}},\bar{\phi}^{1a_{3}},\bar{\phi}^{1a_{4}}) = -2g_{\rm YM}^{2} \left(\frac{\langle 12\rangle \langle 34\rangle}{\langle 23\rangle \langle 41\rangle} f^{a_{1}a_{2}e} f^{a_{3}a_{4}e} + \frac{\langle 13\rangle^{2} \langle 24\rangle^{2}}{\langle 12\rangle \langle 23\rangle \langle 34\rangle \langle 41\rangle} f^{a_{1}a_{3}e} f^{a_{2}a_{4}e}\right) .$$
(1.79)

If the amplitudes contain different types of scalars the partial amplitudes can get deformed, e.g.

where again $\tilde{\kappa} = \kappa/g_{\rm YM}$, and there occur double-trace partial amplitudes

$$\mathbf{M}_{4;2}^{(0)} = -\frac{|\tilde{\kappa}|^2}{N} (e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})^2 .$$
 (1.81)
They combine into a colour-dressed amplitude

$$\mathcal{M}_4(\phi_1^{a_1}, \phi_2^{a_2}, \bar{\phi}^{1a_3}, \bar{\phi}^{2a_4}) = -2g_{\rm YM}^2 \left(f_{\varphi(a_1, a_2)}^{a_1a_2e} f_{\varphi(a_3, a_4)}^{a_3a_4e} + \frac{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 13 \rangle \langle 24 \rangle} f^{a_1a_3e} f^{a_2a_4e} \right) \quad (1.82)$$

with deformed structure constants³

$$f^{abc}_{\varphi(a,b)} = |\tilde{\kappa}| \operatorname{Tr}([T^a, T^b]_{\varphi(a,b)} T^c) .$$
(1.83)

This formulation of scalar tree-amplitudes in terms of deformed structure constants will be useful for the derivation of the scalar dilatation operator in Section 2.3.

1.3 Infrared divergences

In the traditional approach to scattering amplitudes, a scattering experiment is decomposed into three regions: an initial and a final asymptotic region, where the particles are well-separated and their interactions negligible, and an interaction region, where the particles are microscopically close and interact over a finite amount of time. Based on this notion, we can compute scattering amplitudes perturbatively for example by Feynman diagram calculations where the external particle lines denote asymptotically free states. However, interactions mediated by massless particles are known to be long-ranged so that parts of the interaction survive even at macroscopic distances. Moreover, in conformal field theories like $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory the notion of localised particles, as well as asymptotic regions breaks down completely due to the absence of a length-scale. It is then necessary to introduce an infrared (IR) regulator to define amplitudes and they are generally dependent on the regularisation scheme and diverge order by order when removing the regulator. Similarly, infrared divergences appear in form factors due to the asymptotic on-shell state, and will also occur in the on-shell approach to the dilatation operator used in the next chapter. In order to obtain the dilatation operator, which is finite, they have to be subtracted and we will do so by exploiting their universal structure. In this section we discuss infrared divergences more broadly, wandering off the topic of non-planar sYM theories briefly because of the inherent interest in infrared physics. In particular we discuss an IR-finite definition of the QCD S-matrix via dressed asymptotic states in Section 1.3.1, and the relation to asymptotic symmetries is schematically discussed in Section 1.3.2.

³For complex κ and general *n*-point amplitudes, one has to define two sets of deformed structure constants, one including the coupling κ and another including its conjugate κ^* .

1.3.1 Infrared finite S-matrix and coherent states

The study of the infrared behaviour of gauge-theory scattering amplitudes has a long history and in the case of QED has essentially been understood since the work of Bloch and Nordsieck [79], though it has been refined over the years [80–83]. The standard approach involves the computation of amplitudes which are formally singular, and they in fact vanish after exponentiation of the perturbative divergences. One then focuses on inclusive quantities involving arbitrary numbers of real soft photons which cancel the IR divergences from virtual photons in loops. An alternative approach to the infrared divergence problem is to directly formulate infrared-finite S-matrix elements by choosing appropriate asymptotic states. For QED this approach, where the asymptotic states are not eigenstates of the photon number operator but rather have the form of coherent states, was, starting from the work of Chung [84], developed by a number of authors, e.g. [85–88]. Faddeev and Kulish, building on the work of Dollard for the Coulomb problem in non-relativistic quantum mechanics [89], related the structure of these coherent states to the form of the large-time Hamiltonian [90]. The corresponding understanding of non-abelian infrared dynamics is significantly less complete. Compared to QED, the natural complication that arises is that gauge bosons self-interact in a non-trivial way and in particular collinear divergences appear. The persistence of these non-trivial self-interactions at early and late times is central to the infrared behaviour of QCD.

Asymptotic Hamiltonian and soft-evolution operator. The coherent-state approach was partially extended to the much more complicated non-abelian case in $[91-101]^4$. The starting point is the choice of an appropriate asymptotic Hamiltonian describing the parton dynamics in the far future and far past. One can carry out the Faddeev-Kulish approach in the non-abelian case [99] by splitting the standard QCD interaction Hamiltonian $H^I(t)$ in the interaction representation into soft and hard parts

$$H^{I}(t) = H_{h}^{E}(t) + H_{s}^{E}(t) , \qquad (1.84)$$

which is done by introducing at each interaction vertex an energy transfer and defining the soft part of the Hamiltonian as containing only energies below the scale E. One can show that at leading order the four-gluon vertex as well as ghost contributions can be neglected, and the soft Hamiltonian is given solely by the cubic interaction

⁴See also [102] for a more recent application to perturbative gravity.

vertices between one soft gluon and two hard quarks or gluons, specifically

$$H_s^E(t) = -g_{\rm YM} \int_{\omega_q} \widetilde{dp} \int^E \widetilde{dq} \ \rho^a(\mathbf{p}) \hat{p} \cdot [a^a(\mathbf{q})e^{i\hat{p}\cdot qt} + h.c.]$$

with $\rho^a(\mathbf{p}) = \rho_f^a(\mathbf{p}) + \sum_h a_h^{\dagger b}(\mathbf{p})t^a{}_{bc}a_h^c(\mathbf{p})$ and $\widetilde{dq} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3(2\omega_q)}$. (1.85)

This expression contains the soft gluon creation/annihilation operators $a_h^{a\dagger}(\mathbf{q})/a_h^a(\mathbf{q})$, where a and h correspond to the colour and helicity of the inserted gluons with threemomentum \mathbf{q} and energy $\omega_q < E$. t^a collectively denotes the SU(N) gauge generators in the representation corresponding to the respective particle, and in this case for the gluon transforming in the adjoint representation, it is given by $t^a{}_{bc} = -\sqrt{2}if^a{}_{bc}$. We furthermore use the notation $\hat{p}^{\mu} = p^{\mu}/\omega_p$, and the density ρ contains contributions from fermionic matter ρ_f and from hard gluons with energies $\omega_p > \omega_q$, .

Finite S-matrix and coherent states. The soft Møller operator, or soft-evolution operator, is defined as the time-ordered exponential

$$\Omega_{\pm}^{E} = \mathcal{T} \exp\left[-i \int_{\mp\infty}^{0} H_{s}^{E}(\tau) d\tau\right] , \qquad (1.86)$$

where Ω^{E}_{+} is an operator acting on an incoming Fock state, while Ω^{E}_{-} acts on outgoing states. It is useful to transform to frequency space and, using (1.85), the Møller operator becomes the energy-ordered exponential

$$\Omega^{E} = \mathcal{P}_{\omega} \exp\left[\int^{E} \widetilde{dq} \ \mathcal{J}_{q} \cdot \Pi_{q}\right], \qquad (1.87)$$

where $\Pi^a_{\mu}(q) = a^a_{\mu}(q) - a^{a\dagger}_{\mu}(q)$ is the displacement operator and

$$\mathcal{J}^{a}_{q\ \mu} = g_{\rm YM} \int_{\omega_q} \widetilde{dp} \ \rho^a(\mathbf{p}) \frac{p_{\mu}}{p \cdot q} \ . \tag{1.88}$$

The exponential is interpreted as being ordered in the soft gluon energies with smaller energies to the right.

The action of Ω^E_+/Ω^E_- on incoming/outgoing Fock states of hard particles dresses these states with clouds of soft gluons and thus takes into account their long-range interactions at leading order in the IR expansion. The soft evolution operators can then be used to define an IR-finite S-matrix S^E by removing the IR singularities due to these initial- and final-state interactions

$$S^E = \Omega^E_- S \,\Omega^{E\dagger}_+ \tag{1.89}$$



Figure 1.1: Dressing of external legs in an amplitude, represented here by the clouds, which removes the IR singularities and produces an IR-finite S-matrix.

as shown schematically in Figure 1.1. Alternatively, one can move the soft-evolution operator into the definition of asymptotic states by defining

$$\|\{p_i, \alpha_i\}\rangle = \Omega^{E\dagger} |\{p_i, \alpha_i\}\rangle , \qquad (1.90)$$

where $\{p_i\}$ denotes the momenta and $\{\alpha_i\}$ collectively denotes the remaining quantum numbers of the hard particles. The state on the right-hand side is the usual Fock state $|\{p_i, \alpha_i\}\rangle = \prod_i b^{\dagger}_{\alpha_i}(p_i)|0\rangle$ with hard-particle generator b^{\dagger}_{α} generating a hard quark or gluon depending on the quantum numbers α . Then one computes IR-finite matrix elements of the traditional S-matrix between these dressed states (1.90). To leading order in the soft divergence, the dressing of external states factorises in colour space [96, 97, 99]

$$\Omega^{E\dagger}|\{p_i,\alpha_i\}\rangle = \prod_i \mathcal{U}^{p_i E}_{\alpha_i\beta_i}(\Pi)b^{\dagger}_{\beta_i}(p_i)|0\rangle , \qquad (1.91)$$

where the coherent-state operator $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i\beta_i}^{p_i E}(\Pi)$ is a functional of the soft gluons only. The coherent-state operator for a parton in the gauge-group representation with generators $t^a_{\alpha\beta}$ is defined by the energy-ordered integral

$$\mathcal{U}_{\alpha\beta}^{pE} = \mathcal{P}_{\omega} \exp\left[-g_{\rm YM} \int_{\lambda}^{E} \tilde{d}q \; \frac{p \cdot \Pi_{\omega}^{a}(q)}{p \cdot q} t^{a}\right]_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (1.92)$$

where the dressed gluon field is similarly defined by

$$\Pi^a_{\omega}(q) = \mathcal{U}^{qE}_{ab} \Pi^b(q) \tag{1.93}$$

and \mathcal{U}_{ab}^{pE} is the adjoint coherent-state operator. These non-linear equations can be

solved iteratively so that to $\mathcal{O}(g_{_{\rm YM}}^2)$ we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\alpha\beta}^{pE} = \delta_{\alpha\beta} - g_{\rm YM} \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq} \, \frac{p \cdot \Pi^{e}(q)}{p \cdot q} t_{\alpha\beta}^{e} + g_{\rm YM}^{2} \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq}_{1} \int_{\omega_{1}} \widetilde{dq}_{2} \left(\frac{p \cdot \Pi^{e_{2}}(q_{2})}{p \cdot q_{2}} t_{\alpha\gamma}^{e_{2}} \right) \left(\frac{p \cdot \Pi^{e_{1}}(q_{1})}{p \cdot q_{1}} t_{\gamma\beta}^{e_{1}} \right) - g_{\rm YM}^{2} \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq}_{1} \int_{\omega_{1}} \widetilde{dq}_{2} \left(\frac{p \cdot \Pi^{e_{2}}(q_{2})}{p \cdot q_{2}} \right) \left(\frac{q_{2} \cdot \Pi^{e_{1}}(q_{1})}{q_{2} \cdot q_{1}} \right) \cdot [t^{e_{2}}, t^{e_{1}}]_{\alpha\beta} .$$
(1.94)

This dressing factor captures the leading-order effects of soft-gluon radiation of each of the hard partons. It includes all-order effects arising from arbitrary numbers of gluons being radiated, as well as loop effects which arise from normal ordering each of the terms.

Finite one-loop S-matrix. Let us proceed with a one-loop calculation illustrating how the dressing in coherent-state operators removes IR divergences. For now considering only incoming particles, we compute the one-loop matrix elements

$$\langle\!\langle 0 \| S \| \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle\!\rangle = \langle 0 | S \prod_i \mathcal{U}_{\alpha_i \beta_i}^{p_i E} | \{p_i, \beta_i\} \rangle$$

$$= \langle 0 | S | \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle$$

$$- g_{\text{YM}} \sum_j t_j^{e_1} \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq} \langle 0 | S \frac{p_j \cdot \Pi^{e_1}(q)}{p_j \cdot q} | \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle$$

$$+ \frac{g_{\text{YM}}^2}{2} \sum_{j \neq k} t_j^{e_1} t_k^{e_2} \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq}_1 \int_{\lambda} \widetilde{dq}_2 \langle 0 | S \frac{p_j \cdot \Pi^{e_1}(q_1)}{p_j \cdot q_1} \frac{p_k \cdot \Pi^{e_2}(q_2)}{p_k \cdot q_2} | \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle$$

$$+ \text{ one-parton terms }.$$

$$(1.95)$$

 t_i denotes the SU(N) gauge generator associated to the hard particle *i* and for fields transforming in the fundamental representation it corresponds to $t^a = T^a$, whereas for fields in the adjoint it is again given by $(t^a)_{bc} = -\sqrt{2}if^a{}_{bc}$. It acts on the *i*th particle in a state $|\{p_j, \alpha_j\}\rangle$ as $t_i^a |\{p_j, \alpha_j\}\rangle := t_{\alpha_i\beta_i}^a |p_1, \alpha_1; ...; p_i, \beta_i; ...; p_n, \alpha_n\rangle$.

The first term in (1.95) is the usual IR-divergent S-matrix element which arises from diagrams such as Figure 1.2 (i). To one-loop order and leading IR accuracy in dimensional regularisation with parameter $\hat{\epsilon} = (d-4)/2$, it is known to be of the form [103]

$$\mathcal{M}_n = \left[1 + \frac{g_{\rm YM}^2}{16\pi^2\hat{\epsilon}^2} \sum_{j\neq k} t_j^e t_k^e\right] \mathcal{M}_n^{(0)} . \tag{1.96}$$

The remaining terms are the compensating IR-divergent terms from the coherent state which are graphically represented in Figure 1.2 (ii) and (iii). The last term in



Figure 1.2: The IR-divergent contributions at one-loop involving two external partons.

(1.95) involves contracting two gluons from the dressing factors of two partons and the second term gives an $\mathcal{O}(g_{YM}^2)$ contribution by using the tree-level soft limit of the S-matrix. Here we focus on those diagrams which involve two external partons and neglect one-parton contributions, where the soft gluon attaches on the leg/cloud of a single external parton. These one-parton contributions are subleading in the IR divergences and so are not needed. The tree-level soft-gluon theorem is given by⁵

$$\lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \mathcal{M}_{n+1}^{(0)}(q, a, h; \{p_i, \alpha_i\}) = g_{\rm YM} J_h^{(0)a}(q) \mathcal{M}_n^{(0)}(\{p_i, \alpha_i\})$$
(1.97)

with the soft current, see e.g. [104],

$$J_h^{(0)a} = \sum_i \frac{p_i \cdot \varepsilon^h(q)}{p_i \cdot q} t_i^a , \qquad (1.98)$$

where the soft gluon of momentum q, colour a and helicity h is taken to be outgoing. If the gluon was incoming, there would be an overall minus sign and the corresponding polarisation vector would be $\bar{\varepsilon}^h$. Incoming hard momenta in the amplitude give additional terms in the soft current similar to those of outgoing momenta but with an overall minus sign. The soft factor (1.98) is "universal" in the sense that it is independent of the type of the hard particle that the soft gluon couples to and, for example, is blind to the helicity or mass of the hard particle. This universality persists to all orders in $g_{\rm YM}$, i.e. at any order k the leading soft current $J_h^{(k)a}$ will only depend on the momenta p_i of external particles and the quantum numbers of the soft gluon. At subleading order in the IR expansion the universality does not survive and the soft factor probes more of the external data. Evaluating all coherent-state contributions to (1.95) explicitly in dimensional regularisation, one finds that the singular parts of (1.96) indeed get cancelled and the S-matrix evaluated in dressed states (1.90) is IR-finite, see [1] for more details.

⁵In this expression, and similar expressions below, as the limit does not strictly exist the notation $\lim_{\omega_q \to 0}$ should be understood as referring to the leading term in an expansion in small ω_q .

1.3.2 Asymptotic symmetries and soft theorems

The observation that asymptotic conservation laws pave the way to understanding the infrared dynamics of gauge theories $[105, 106]^6$ has led to a renewed interest in the study of coherent-state operators and soft dressing more generally [108–116]. These conservation laws follow from Noether's second theorem [117] for large gauge transformations and correspond to the soft theorems of amplitudes which were already explored by Weinberg [83]. It has been demonstrated that for QED [110] and perturbative gravity [112] the coherent states relevant to the construction of an infrared finite S-matrix follow from the symmetry of asymptotic charges. The existence of an infinite-dimensional symmetry group has led to the interpretation of the QED vacuum as being degenerate and that scattering processes are accompanied by a shift in the vacua. Infrared divergences due to massless particles which result in the vanishing of S-matrix elements are thus connected with the "wrong" choice of the in- and out-vacua, and a cure can be sought in a systematic way by considering the asymptotic charges. An analogous statement can be made for perturbative gravity, using BMS supertranslation charges to find suitable asymptotic states for an infrared-finite gravity S-matrix.

Asymptotic charge and soft gluon theorem. The behaviour of Yang–Mills amplitudes as individual gluons become soft is related to soft theorems which, as was shown in [105], are associated to the Ward identities of asymptotic symmetries. The corresponding asymptotic charge Q_{ϵ} can be defined, see [1] for a detailed discussion, and involves a soft contribution Q_{ϵ}^{s} containing soft gluon creation/annihilation operators $a_{h}^{a\dagger}(\omega_{q})/a_{h}^{a}(\omega_{q})$ with vanishing energy $\omega_{q} \simeq 0$. The subscript ϵ indicates the dependence on a transformation parameter. This charge has matrix elements with the scattering amplitude S of the form

$$\langle 1, 2, ..., n | Q^s_{\epsilon} S | 0 \rangle \sim \langle 1, 2, ..., n | \lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \omega_q a^a_h(\omega_q) S | 0 \rangle$$
(1.99)

and at tree level the limit in the definition of the charge is understood as

$$\langle 1, 2, \dots, n | \lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \omega_q a_h^a(\omega_q) S | 0 \rangle = \lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \omega_q \langle 1, 2, \dots, n | a_h^a(\omega_q) S | 0 \rangle$$
(1.100)

and can be computed using the tree-level soft gluon theorem (1.97). At loop level the issue of the soft limit is more subtle: after computing the perturbative terms defining the matrix elements, one may attempt to take the soft limit at the level of the integrands before performing loop integrations, or alternatively one may keep ω_q finite and take the limit only after performing the loop integrations. It is known

 $^{^{6}}$ See [107] for a review and more complete references.

from the case of subleading IR behaviour of graviton amplitudes [118, 119], that the order has important consequences for the interpretation of quantum corrections to the Ward identities for asymptotic symmetries. When taking the soft limit after the computation of matrix elements, i.e.

$$\langle 1, 2, ..., n | Q^s_{\epsilon}(0) S | 0 \rangle := \lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \langle 1, 2, ..., n | Q^s_{\epsilon}(\omega_q) S | 0 \rangle ,$$
 (1.101)

the insertion of the soft gluon operator can be computed by the usual soft gluon theorem, which to one-loop order is given by [103, 120]

$$\lim_{\omega_q \to 0} \mathcal{M}_{n+1}^{(1)}(q, a, h; \{p_i, \alpha_i\}) = g_{\rm YM} J_h^{(0)a}(q) \mathcal{M}_n^{(1)}(\{p_i, \alpha_i\}) + g_{\rm YM}^3 J_h^{(1)a}(q) \mathcal{M}_n^{(0)}(\{p_i, \alpha_i\}) .$$
(1.102)

The first term on the right-hand side is the iterated tree result involving the tree-level soft current (1.98), while the second term is due to the one-loop soft current which is, to leading divergence in dimensional regularisation,

$$J_h^{(1)a}(q) = -\frac{C_A}{16\pi^2 \hat{\epsilon}^2} J_h^{(0)a}(q) + \mathcal{O}\left(\hat{\epsilon}^{-1}\right)$$
(1.103)

with adjoint quadratic Casimir C_A . This leading double pole is due to both collinear and soft divergences at leading logarithmic accuracy and the coherent-state approach of [97, 100] deals with both of them at this order.

Ward identities for the dressed S-matrix. The soft-evolution operator (1.86) not only allows for an IR-finite definition of S-matrix elements, but also relates the free theory, where multi-particle asymptotic states can be described by the usual Fock states, to the interacting theory, where long-range interactions lead to IR divergences and can be tamed by coherent-state dressings (1.90). It similarly relates the soft asymptotic charge Q_{ϵ}^{s} , containing contributions linear in soft gluons, to the hard, or non-linear, part Q_{ϵ}^{h} of the asymptotic charge which imply a Ward identity for the S-matrix [1]

$$\langle\!\langle \{p_f, \alpha_f\} \| [Q^s_{\epsilon}, S] \| \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle\!\rangle = -\langle \{p_f, \alpha_f\} | [Q^h_{\epsilon}, S^E] | \{p_i, \alpha_i\} \rangle .$$

$$(1.104)$$

Evaluating the expression on the left-hand side of (1.104) at tree-level and leading IR-divergence yields the tree-level hard charges for incoming and outgoing legs which are essentially given by the integrated tree-level soft current (1.98). The result of the analogous computation at one-loop order depends on the precise prescription for the order of soft limits in the definition of the charge and dressing factor which is analogous to the order of limits discussed in [118, 119]. In the first choice, corresponding to the

standard choice (motivated by its use in problems such as the computation of physical cross sections) in dimensionally-regularised soft limits, we find that the Ward identity receives no corrections at one-loop and leading IR-divergence. In the second choice we find a correction which is related to the one-loop soft current (1.102). See [1] for a more detailed discussion.

Chapter 2

Dilatation operator from on-shell methods

Recent years have seen much progress in the computation of scattering amplitudes due to the advent of on-shell methods. The basic idea behind these is to only work with physical degrees of freedom to obtain observables, and specifically amplitudes, in a given theory. Doing so, one avoids gauge redundancies and an in general large number of Feynman diagrams. The latter often times obfuscate the simplicity of the final expression and can be much less efficient and fast when compared to the new on-shell approaches. While most of these approaches were developed with the quest to compute amplitudes, they are useful for a wider range of physical observables, including form factors and the dilatation operator. We review some of these methods in Section 2.1, including an on-shell approach to the dilatation operator on which the remaining parts of this chapter will be based. This allows us to study the mixing of marginal operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory on the basis of the Parke–Taylor superamplitude in Section 2.2, and obtain the non-planar anomalous dimensions in this sector. Then we move on to derive the one-loop β -deformed dilatation operator in the scalar sector in Section 2.3, which is the key result of this chapter, and this dilatation operator will be further analysed in subsequent parts of this thesis.

2.1 Review of on-shell techniques

2.1.1 On-shell recursion for amplitudes and form factors

An important step forward in the quest for more efficient methods than the traditional Feynman diagram techniques is the CSW approach [121]. Here amplitudes are constructed by taking lower-point MHV amplitudes as vertices and linking them by scalar propagators in a so-called MHV vertex expansion. This approach contains a considerably smaller number of more compact expressions than the analogous Feynman diagram calculations, however with increasing number of external states the computation of amplitudes can still be rather involved. The most well-known on-shell approach to tree-level scattering amplitudes are the on-shell recursion relations due to Britto, Cachazo, Feng and Witten [122, 123].

The underlying idea behind on-shell recursion relations is to construct general n-point amplitudes \mathcal{M}_n from a number of lower-point amplitudes which thus serve as the basic building blocks in this approach. A relation between amplitudes with different numbers of legs can be obtained by Cauchy's theorem in the following way: One considers a general amplitude \mathcal{M}_n as a function of shifted external momenta, the shift being a complex deformation of the momenta which preserves their on-shellness and the overall momentum conservation. This deformation is parametrised by one complex parameter $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and is chosen in such a way that the original amplitude corresponds to the complexified amplitude $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_n(z)$ at z = 0, i.e.

$$\mathcal{M}_n \equiv \mathcal{M}_n(z=0)$$

$$\equiv \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \frac{\hat{\mathcal{M}}_n(z)}{z} , \qquad (2.1)$$

where in the second line we have rewritten the original amplitude as a contour integral of the complexified amplitude with the contour encircling z = 0 in the complex plane. By applying Cauchy's theorem one can deform this contour to infinity while picking up simple poles of the amplitude at complex $z = z_R$:

$$\mathcal{M}_n = -\sum_{z_R} \operatorname{Res}_{z=z_R} \left(\frac{\mathcal{M}_n(z)}{z} \right) + \mathcal{B}_n .$$
(2.2)

The boundary term \mathcal{B}_n is usually not easy to determine, but in a number of theories one can show that it vanishes for certain amplitudes and deformations, see e.g. [124– 126]. Once the vanishing of this boundary contribution is established, the original amplitude \mathcal{M}_n can be computed entirely on the basis of its poles. These poles occur whenever one of the deformed propagators \hat{P}^{μ} in $\mathcal{M}(z)$ goes on-shell, i.e. $\hat{P}_R^2 = 0$. The residue of the deformed amplitude then factorises into two lower-point on-shell amplitudes as

$$\operatorname{Res}_{z=z_R}\left(\frac{\hat{\mathcal{M}}_n(z)}{z}\right) = -\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{n_l}(z_R)\frac{1}{P_R^2}\hat{\mathcal{M}}_{n_r}(z_R) , \quad n_l + n_r = n , \qquad (2.3)$$

where $P_R^2 = \hat{P}_R^2(z=0)$. Thus, from a given set of usually three- and four-point amplitudes, higher-point tree-level amplitudes can be recursively computed at complex factorisation channels.



Figure 2.1: On-shell recursion relations for colour-ordered amplitudes.

BCFW recursion. The BCFW recursion is a specific version of the on-shell recursions where only two external momenta p_i and p_j get deformed. It is achieved by shifting the corresponding spinor-helicity variables as

$$\lambda_i \to \hat{\lambda}_i(z) = \lambda_i - z\lambda_j , \qquad \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_i \to \hat{\tilde{\lambda}}_i(z) = \tilde{\lambda}_i ,$$

$$\lambda_j \to \hat{\lambda}_j(z) = \lambda_j , \qquad \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_j \to \hat{\tilde{\lambda}}_j(z) = \tilde{\lambda}_j + z\tilde{\lambda}_i . \qquad (2.4)$$

This shift is known as the BCFW-shift or, to be explicit about the shifted legs, is also called $[j,i\rangle$ -shift. Importantly, the corresponding shifted momenta $\hat{p}_i^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \hat{\lambda}_i^{\dot{\alpha}}\hat{\lambda}_i^{\alpha}$ and $\hat{p}_j^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \hat{\lambda}_j^{\dot{\alpha}}\hat{\lambda}_j^{\alpha}$ remain on-shell, i.e. $\hat{p}_i^2 = \hat{p}_j^2 = 0$, and do not modify the overall momentum conservation due to $p_i^{\mu} + p_j^{\mu} = \hat{p}_i^{\mu} + \hat{p}_j^{\mu}$. Assuming a vanishing boundary contribution under a $[1, n\rangle$ -shift, the colour-ordered component of an amplitude \mathcal{M}_n with outgoing external states $\langle 1, 2, ..., n |$ can be obtained by BCFW recursion via the relation [122, 123]

$$\langle 1, 2, ..., n | \mathcal{M} | 0 \rangle = \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} \sum_{h} \left. \frac{\langle \hat{1}, 2, ..., i | \mathcal{M} | \hat{P}_{1i}^{h} \rangle \langle \hat{P}_{1i}^{h}, i+1, ..., n-1, \hat{n} | \mathcal{M} | 0 \rangle}{P_{1i}^{2}} \right|_{z=z_{1i}} .$$

$$(2.5)$$

Here the first sum is over all planar partitions of external momenta to the two lowerpoint amplitudes, and the second sum is over all possible helicities h of the intermediate state with momentum $\hat{P}_{1i} := \hat{p}_1 + p_2 + ... + p_i$. An illustration of this relation can be found in Figure 2.1.

Whether or not a specific amplitude \mathcal{M}_n in a given theory can be constructed from a shift (2.4) depends on the scaling of $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_n(z)$ at the boundary, i.e. for $z \to \infty$. In [124] the BCFW shift for $z \to \infty$ was interpreted as a limit in which the two shifted lines become hard and scatter against a soft background of the remaining unshifted external states. This led to a proof that general tree-amplitudes in pure gauge, as well as in pure gravity theories are constructible by a BCFW shift, i.e. the boundary terms vanish. Furthermore, it was proven that for general tree-level amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, one can always find a valid BCFW shift and thus they are on-shell constructible [127].

Recursion relations beyond BCFW. The BCFW shift is the simplest shift to recursively construct amplitudes. Other shifts involve the deformation of more legs, and examples are the Risager shift [128] with three shifted legs, and the all-line shift [129]. Although generally shifting a higher number of legs makes the construction of amplitudes more complicated, these shifts are interesting because they can lead to an improved scaling of the deformed amplitude $\hat{\mathcal{M}}_n(z)$ at large z and thus to the on-shell constructibility of the corresponding amplitude. In particular, all tree amplitudes with n > 4 external particles in four-dimensional renormalisable theories have been shown to be on-shell constructible via all-line holomorphic or anti-holomorphic shifts [125]. In [126] the on-shell constructibility was further explored by a study of the simplest recursion relations (i.e. those with the smallest number of shifted legs) for constructing the amplitudes in a given theory. A constraint on the minimum number of shifted legs for a given amplitude was obtained and in general renormalisable field theories all amplitudes can be constructed from shifts involving at most five lines. For the Leigh-Strassler deformations that we are interested in in this thesis, the criteria of [126] even allow for the three-line shift constructibility of all amplitudes with n > 4 due to the presence of the U(1) R-symmetry.

BCFW recursion for form factors. Form factors in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory inherit many of the structures and techniques of their purely on-shell analogues, the scattering amplitudes, and specifically the BCFW recursion was shown to be applicable to the construction of tree-level form factors [130]. Assuming a vanishing boundary term for a $[1, n\rangle$ -shift, i.e. the deformed form factor goes as $\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathcal{O}}(z) \to 0$ for $z \to \infty$, the colourordered component of a form factor $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ is given by the sum of its various factorisation channels as

$$\langle 1, 2, ..., n | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle = \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} \sum_{h} \left[\frac{\langle \hat{1}, 2, ..., i | \mathcal{M} | \hat{P}_{1i}^{h} \rangle \langle \hat{P}_{1i}^{h}, i+1, ..., n-1, \hat{n} | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle}{P_{1i}^{2}} \right|_{z=z_{1i}} + \frac{\langle \hat{1}, 2, ..., i | \mathcal{O} | - \hat{P}_{i+1,n}^{h} \rangle \langle -\hat{P}_{i+1,n}^{h}, i+1, ..., n-1, \hat{n} | \mathcal{M} | 0 \rangle}{P_{i+1,n}^{2}} \bigg|_{z=z_{i+1,n}} \right].$$
(2.6)

Note that in this case the momenta running in the poles, \hat{P}_{1i} and $-\hat{P}_{i+1,n}$, do not satisfy $\hat{P}_{1i}^2 = \hat{P}_{i+1,n}^2$ due to the modified momentum conservation that relates the offshell momentum q of the local operator $\mathcal{O}(q)$ to the sum of external on-shell momenta as $\sum_i p_i = q$. The relation (2.6) is represented in Figure 2.2.

In [131] the (super-)BCFW recursion for form factors was used to obtain the MHV



Figure 2.2: On-shell recursion relations for colour-ordered form factors.

form factor of the on-shell Lagrangian (1.17) and found to be

$$\langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{L}(0) | 0 \rangle = \frac{\delta^{(8)}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i^{\alpha} \tilde{\eta}_i^A)}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \dots \langle n1 \rangle} , \qquad (2.7)$$

which corresponds to the Parke–Taylor amplitude (1.57) up to the modified momentumconserving δ -function.

2.1.2 Dilatation operator meets scattering amplitudes

We now move on to the discussion of an on-shell method that allows one to extract the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} of a conformal field theory. This method was developed in [32] by Zwiebel, and then reformulated in terms of form factors and proven in [31] by Caron-Huot and Wilhelm.

Review of proof. Since the relation between the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} and scattering amplitudes takes on a crucial role in this part of the thesis, we begin this section with a review of the corresponding proof of [31]. We start with the renormalisation group equation for a form factor $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(1, ..., n; q)$

$$\left[\mu\partial_{\mu} + \beta(g_{\rm YM}^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial g_{\rm YM}^2} + \gamma_{\mathcal{O}} - \gamma_{\rm IR}\right]\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(1,...,n;q) = 0.$$
(2.8)

The first term measures the explicit dependence of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ on the renormalisation scale μ . It appears in dimensionless ratios p_i^2/μ^2 in $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ such that we may replace it with the derivative with respect to the external momenta as

$$\mu \partial_{\mu} \simeq -\sum_{i} p_{i} \partial_{p_{i}} . \tag{2.9}$$

The second term in the bracket measures the dependence of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ on the renormalisation scale from a running coupling constant g_{YM} . In conformal field theories with $\beta(g_{\text{YM}}^2) \equiv 0$ we may drop this term, while in general QFTs this term is subleading in the perturbative expansion in g_{YM}^2 . The anomalous dimension $\gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ measures the μ -dependence of the renormalisation factor of \mathcal{O} . Note that there does not occur a similar term for the external states since their wave-function renormalisation factor is stripped off from the form factor by LSZ-reduction. However, potential IR divergences may not be captured in this and thus there occurs a term γ_{IR} which measures the dependence on the scale that regularises these divergences.

Let us further investigate the first term in (2.8). Via (2.9) it generates shifts in momenta, i.e. it acts as the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} in momentum-space on momentum-dependent functions and, in particular, acts on the external momenta of a form factors as

$$e^{i\alpha\mathfrak{D}_p}\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(p_1,...,p_n;q) = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}(e^{i\alpha}p_1,...,e^{i\alpha}p_n;e^{i\alpha}q) , \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{R} .$$

$$(2.10)$$

Here we put the label p on \mathfrak{D} to emphasize that this operator only generates dilatations of the momenta occurring explicitly in $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$, but does not generate dilatations of the renormalisation of the operator \mathcal{O} or the running coupling $g_{\rm YM}$. Furthermore, we make the momentum-labels of the external particles explicit, but any other labels are left implicit. In (2.10) we also assume that we may analytically continue the function $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ to the complex p_i plane. We can assume that the rotation of momenta goes smoothly until the angle $\alpha = \pi$ is reached where the momenta reverse their signs and the kinematic invariants $(p_i + p_j + ... + p_k)^2$ return to their original values. Note that $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ has a small imaginary contribution that regularises singularities for real p_i via Feynman's prescription. Thus by a rotation of $\alpha = \pi$, $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$ does not return to its original value but we end up on the other side of the cut, i.e. the complex conjugate of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}} = e^{-i\pi\mathfrak{D}_p}\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}^* \ . \tag{2.11}$$

Another way of relating a form factor to its complex conjugate is by using its interpretation as the correction to the S-matrix S in a deformed theory with Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L} + g\mathcal{O}$. Then the S-matrix becomes $S \to S + g\delta S$ with $\delta S = i \int d^4 x \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}$. Using unitarity of the original S-matrix $S \cdot S^{\dagger} = 1$, where in the product we sum over all possible intermediate states, and moreover demanding unitarity for the deformed S-matrix, yields $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}} = S \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{O}}^* S$ where we again sum over all intermediate states. Multiplying this relation into an initial vacuum state gives Together with (2.11) this implies

$$e^{-i\pi\mathfrak{D}_p}\mathcal{F}^*_{\mathcal{O}} = S\mathcal{F}^*_{\mathcal{O}} \ . \tag{2.13}$$

In the perturbative regime we may expand the relations (2.8) and (2.13). After stripping off a momentum conserving δ -function setting the form-factor off-shell momentum to $q = p_1 + ... + p_n$ via (1.58), for the former one obtains at $\mathcal{O}(g_{YM}^2)$

$$\left[-\mathfrak{D}_{p}^{(1)} + \gamma_{\mathcal{O}}^{(1)} - \gamma_{\mathrm{IR}}^{(1)}\right] \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{O}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = 0 , \qquad (2.14)$$

and for the latter

$$\mathfrak{D}_{p}^{(1)}\langle 1,...,n|\mathcal{O}(0)|0\rangle^{*(0)} = -\frac{1}{\pi}\langle 1,...,n|\mathcal{M}\otimes\mathcal{O}(0)|0\rangle^{*(0)} , \qquad (2.15)$$

where we used $S = 1 + i\mathcal{M}$ and \otimes denotes a convolution corresponding to a oneloop unitarity cut which we will discuss in more detail further below. Note that the expansion may also include an expansion of \mathcal{O} in $g_{\rm YM}$ and at leading order only the leading terms of \mathcal{O} contribute. In the following we will often use these relations for minimal tree-level form factors which are real and thus we may drop the complex conjugation to obtain [31], see also [32],

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{O}}^{(1)} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{O}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} + \gamma_{\mathrm{IR}}^{(1)} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{O}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} .$$
(2.16)

Note that the anomalous dimension $\gamma_{\mathcal{O}}$ is only defined for operators \mathcal{O} that are eigenstates of the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D} . For general operators the relation (2.16) generalises to

$$(\gamma^{(1)})_{A}^{B} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{O}_{B}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{A}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} + \gamma^{(1)}_{\text{\tiny IR}} \langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{O}_{A}(0) | 0 \rangle^{(0)} .$$
(2.17)

Here $(\gamma^{(1)})_A^B$ is the component of the mixing matrix that determines the mixing from the operator \mathcal{O}_A to operator \mathcal{O}_B and the anomalous dimensions can be obtained by diagonalising this matrix. In the following we leave the dependence of operators \mathcal{O} in form factors on the position implicit.

Length-preserving convolution. We begin with the study of the mixing between operators \mathcal{O}_A and \mathcal{O}_B that are of the same length L. In order to extract $(\gamma^{(1)})_A^B$ from (2.17), one can choose external states $\langle 1, 2, ..., n |$ with n = L such that all form factors in this relation are minimal. In this case the convolution term $\langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}_A(0) | 0 \rangle$ only contains length-preserving cuts at leading order in the coupling, i.e. the number



Figure 2.3: Length-preserving contribution to the one-loop unitarity cut of the form factor $\langle 1, 2, ..., n | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle^{(1)}$.

of particles in the intermediate state corresponds to the number of particles in the external state, cf. Figure $2.3.^1$ It is defined as

$$\langle 1, ..., n | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} \sum_{i',j'} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} \langle i, j | \mathcal{M} | i', j' \rangle^{(0)} \cdot \langle 1, ..., i', ..., j', ..., n | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}$$
 (2.18)

Here we sum over all possible intermediate states i', j', e.g. in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory the sum runs over the set $\{g_{\pm}, \phi_{AB}, \psi_A, \bar{\psi}^A\}$. Furthermore, we integrate over all on-shell internal momenta p'_i, p'_j with $p'_i + p'_j = p_i + p_j$ which can be parametrised by [32]

$$\begin{pmatrix} \lambda'_i \\ \lambda'_j \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\vartheta & -\sin\vartheta e^{i\varphi} \\ \sin\vartheta e^{-i\varphi} & \cos\vartheta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_i \\ \lambda_j \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.19)

in terms of two angles ϑ and φ . This parametrisation implies the spinor brackets

$$\langle i'j' \rangle = \langle ij \rangle , \qquad \langle ij' \rangle = \langle ij \rangle \cos \vartheta , \langle i'i \rangle = \langle ij \rangle \sin \vartheta e^{i\varphi} , \qquad \langle j'j \rangle = \langle ij \rangle \sin \vartheta e^{-i\varphi} , \qquad (2.20)$$

which will be useful throughout this chapter. The summation over all on-shell momenta p'_i, p'_j in this parametrisation corresponds to integrating over Ω with

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{2\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} \mathrm{d}\vartheta \ 2\sin\vartheta\cos\vartheta \ . \tag{2.21}$$

Figure 2.3 contains an illustration of one of the terms in the sum on the right-hand side of (2.18).

¹If the operators \mathcal{O}_A and \mathcal{O}_B have different lengths L_A and L_B , then choosing an external state $\langle 1, 2, ..., n |$ with $n = L_B$ results in a minimal form factor on the left-hand side of (2.17), but the convolution term on the right-hand side is a unitarity cut of a non-minimal form factor. In this case also length-changing cuts appear, where the number of intermediate particles does not correspond to the number of external particles. We discuss the case $L_B > L_A$ in Section 2.2.

Crossing convention. In Chapter 1 we have given explicit expressions for amplitudes in pure and β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and worked in the convention of all particles outgoing. To evaluate the amplitude in the convolution (2.18) using these expressions, we need to cross the incoming intermediate particles running in the cut over to the outgoing state and here we summarise our crossing conventions. By crossing symmetry of scattering amplitudes, we can relate amplitudes with crossed legs and in particular for $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering the amplitudes

 $\mathcal{M}(\Phi_1(p_1), \Phi_2(p_2) | \Phi_1'(p_1'), \Phi_2'(p_2')) := \langle \Phi_1(p_1), \Phi_2(p_2) | \mathcal{M} | \Phi_1'(p_1'), \Phi_2'(p_2') \rangle$



and

 $\mathcal{M}(\Phi_1(p_1), \Phi_2(p_2, \bar{\Phi}'_2(-p'_2), \bar{\Phi}'_1(-p'_1)) := \langle \Phi_1(p_1), \Phi_2(p_1), \bar{\Phi}'_2(-p'_2), \bar{\Phi}'_1(-p'_1) | \mathcal{M} | 0 \rangle$



are related. Here Φ_i denotes an arbitrary elementary field, e.g. in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory $\Phi \in \{\gamma_{\pm}, \phi_{AB}, \psi_A, \bar{\psi}^A\}$. In crossing the two legs we keep their relative ordering and crossing a particle conjugates its helicity and inverses its momentum. In the case of fermions one has to be careful about the sign convention for the external spinors which introduces signs in the relation between crossed amplitudes. Take for example the process $X + \bar{\psi}(p) \to Y$, where X and Y denote the remaining incoming and outgoing external particles, with amplitude

$$\mathcal{M}(Y|X,\bar{\psi}(p)) = \mathcal{M}(Y|X,p) \cdot u_{-}(p) = \mathcal{M}(Y|X,p) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \tilde{\lambda}(p) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.22)

and the process $X \to Y + \psi(k)$ with amplitude

$$\mathcal{M}(Y,\psi(k)|X) = \mathcal{M}(Y,k|X) \cdot v_{+}(k) = \mathcal{M}(Y,k|X) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \tilde{\lambda}(k) \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.23)

For k = -p the stripped amplitudes $\mathcal{M}(Y|X, p)$ and $\mathcal{M}(Y, k|X)$ are the same and due to $\tilde{\lambda}(k) = \tilde{\lambda}(-p) = \tilde{\lambda}(p)$, cf. (1.49), amplitudes with a crossed outgoing fermion ψ are related as

$$\mathcal{M}(Y|X,\bar{\psi}(p)) = \mathcal{M}(Y,\psi(-p)|X) .$$
(2.24)

In the case of an incoming fermion crossing to an outgoing anti-fermion one replaces $\bar{v}^+(p)$ by $\bar{u}^-(-p)$, or $\lambda(p)$ by $\lambda(-p)$ which via (1.49) introduces a sign in the relation of the amplitudes. In total crossing symmetry for component amplitudes is thus

$$\mathcal{M}(Y|X,\Phi(p)) = (-1)^{n_{\psi}} \mathcal{M}(Y,\bar{\Phi}(-p)|X)$$
(2.25)

with $n_{\psi} = 1$ for $\Phi = \psi$ and $n_{\psi} = 0$ otherwise. For superfields Φ , crossing is simply achieved by

$$(\lambda(p), \tilde{\lambda}(p), \tilde{\eta}(p)) \to (-\lambda(p), \tilde{\lambda}(p), \tilde{\eta}(p))$$
(2.26)

and all the subtle minus-signs from fermion-crossings are simply dealt with by the Grassmann-odd parameters $\tilde{\eta}$.

Infrared contribution. The form of the infrared contribution in (2.17) can be obtained by studying this relation for a protected operator. The resulting expression is universal in the sense that it does not depend on the explicit operators \mathcal{O}_A and \mathcal{O}_B . We begin by studying (2.17) for the energy-momentum tensor $T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ which has vanishing anomalous dimension in any theory, repeating the discussion in [31]. Choosing two gluons of opposite helicity as external particles yields

$$\gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\langle g_-^{a_1}(p_1), g_+^{a_2}(p_2) | \mathcal{M} \otimes T^{\alpha\beta, \dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}}{\langle g_-^{a_1}(p_1), g_+^{a_2}(p_2) | T^{\alpha\beta, \dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}} .$$
(2.27)

The minimal form factor of $T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ can be fixed from its mass dimension, little group scaling and colour structure as

$$\left\langle g_{-}^{a_1}(p_1), g_{+}^{a_2}(p_2) | T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} | 0 \right\rangle^{(0)} = 2\delta^{a_1a_2}\lambda_1^{\alpha}\lambda_1^{\beta}\tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\alpha}}\tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\beta}} , \qquad (2.28)$$

where we also use [132]

$$\langle p|T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}|p\rangle = 2p^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}p^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \tag{2.29}$$

to determine the overall factor.

In pure Yang–Mills theory the convolution term in (2.27) can be computed via the Parke–Taylor amplitude, which in the parametrisation (2.19) for the two contributions to the convolution is given by

$$\langle g_{-}^{a_1}(p_1), g_{+}^{a_2}(p_2) | \mathcal{M} | g_{+}^{a'_1}(p'_1), g_{-}^{a'_2}(p'_2) \rangle^{(0)} \, \delta^{a'_1 a'_2} = 2g_{\rm YM}^2 N \delta^{a_1 a_2} \frac{\sin^2 \vartheta}{\cos^2 \vartheta} e^{4i\varphi} , \langle g_{-}^{a_1}(p_1), g_{+}^{a_2}(p_2) | \mathcal{M} | g_{-}^{a'_1}(p'_1), g_{+}^{a'_2}(p'_2) \rangle^{(0)} \, \delta^{a'_1 a'_2} = 2g_{\rm YM}^2 N \delta^{a_1 a_2} \frac{\cos^2 \vartheta}{\sin^2 \vartheta} .$$
 (2.30)

After using (2.28) and performing the φ -integration in the cut, one finds

$$\gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} = \frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{4\pi^2} \int_0^{\pi/2} \frac{\mathrm{d}\vartheta}{\cos\vartheta\sin\vartheta} (\cos^8\vartheta + \sin^8\vartheta) \tag{2.31}$$

which is divergent at the boundaries of the integral. Instead of introducing a regularisation scheme, in the following we will first combine both the infrared and convolution contribution of relation (2.17) at the integrand level before performing the remaining ϑ -integration. This yields infrared-finite results for the mixing matrix $(\gamma^{(1)})_A^B$.

In a gauge theory with scalar and fermionic matter, the sum over intermediate states in the convolution term receives additional contributions from their coupling to the energy-momentum tensor. The relevant minimal form factors again follow from the mass dimension, little group scaling and colour structure, as well as the conservation of $T^{\mu\nu}$ via $(p_1 + p_2)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = 0$ and its tracelessness. One finds

$$\langle \phi_{AB}^{a_1}(p_1), \phi_{CD}^{a_2}(p_2) | T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = \frac{1}{3} \delta^{a_1 a_2} \varepsilon_{ABCD} \left(p_1^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_1^{\beta\dot{\beta}} + p_2^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_2^{\beta\dot{\beta}} - p_1^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_2^{\beta\dot{\beta}} - p_2^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_1^{\beta\dot{\beta}} + -p_1^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_2^{\beta\dot{\alpha}} - p_2^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} p_1^{\beta\dot{\beta}} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^{a_1 a_2} \left(\gamma_1^{\alpha} \gamma_1^{\beta} \tilde{\gamma}_1^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\beta} + \gamma_1^{\alpha} \gamma_1^{\beta} \tilde{\gamma}_1^{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} + -\lambda_1^{\alpha} \gamma_2^{\beta} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\beta}} - \lambda_1^{\beta} \gamma_2^{\alpha} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\beta}} \right).$$

$$\langle \bar{\psi}_A^{a_1}(p_1), \psi^{A,a_2}(p_2) | T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \delta^{a_1 a_2} \left(\lambda_1^{\alpha} \lambda_1^{\beta} \tilde{\lambda}_1^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\beta}} + \lambda_1^{\alpha} \lambda_1^{\beta} \tilde{\lambda}_1^{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} + -\lambda_1^{\alpha} \lambda_2^{\beta} \tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\lambda}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\gamma}_2^{\dot{\alpha}} \right).$$

$$(2.32)$$

In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory the amplitudes occurring in the convolution can be extracted from the superamplitude (1.57) and are given by

$$\langle g_{-}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), g_{+}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}) | \mathcal{M} | \phi_{AB}^{a_{1}'}(p_{1}'), \phi_{CD}^{a_{2}'}(p_{2}') \rangle^{(0)} \delta^{a_{1}'a_{2}'} = 2g_{YM}^{2} N \delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \varepsilon_{ABCD} e^{2i\varphi} ,$$

$$\langle g_{-}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), g_{+}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}) | \mathcal{M} | \bar{\psi}^{A,a_{1}'}(p_{1}'), \psi_{A}^{a_{2}'}(p_{2}') \rangle^{(0)} \delta^{a_{1}'a_{2}'} = 2g_{YM}^{2} N \delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \frac{\cos\vartheta}{\sin\vartheta} e^{i\varphi} ,$$

$$\langle g_{-}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), g_{+}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}) | \mathcal{M} | \psi_{A}^{a_{1}'}(p_{1}'), \bar{\psi}^{A,a_{2}'}(p_{2}') \rangle^{(0)} \delta^{a_{1}'a_{2}'} = 2g_{YM}^{2} N \delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \frac{\cos\vartheta}{\cos\vartheta} e^{3i\varphi} .$$

$$(2.33)$$

Here we used the crossing conventions (2.25). For three scalars (and three anti-scalars) and four fermions (and four anti-fermions) in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory these contributions add up to

$$\gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} = \frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{4\pi^2} \int_0^{\pi/2} \frac{\mathrm{d}\vartheta}{\cos\vartheta\sin\vartheta} , \qquad (2.34)$$

where it is important to include a minus sign for fermion propagators in the sum of different contributions to the convolution. This generalises to arbitrary external states as

$$\gamma_{\text{IR}}^{(1)} \langle \{p_i, a_i\} | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = -\frac{g_{\text{YM}}^2}{8\pi^2} \mathcal{I}_{\text{IR}} \sum_{j < k} t_j^a t_k^a \langle \{p_i, a_i\} | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}$$
(2.35)

with divergent integral

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} = \int_0^{\pi/2} \frac{d\vartheta}{\cos\vartheta\sin\vartheta} \ . \tag{2.36}$$

This infrared structure corresponds to the one-loop infrared divergence of amplitudes, which in dimensional regularisation is given in (1.96), and we use the notation of Section 1.3, in particular $(t^a)_{bc} = -\sqrt{2}if^a{}_{bc}$ for fields in the adjoint. The general form of (2.35) for n > 2 in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory is less conveniently obtained from (2.17) and $\mathcal{O} = T^{\alpha\beta,\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ since for a higher number n of external states the form factors are non-minimal. Instead one can use another protected operator in this theory which is the half-BPS highest-weight state

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_{34}^n) , \qquad (2.37)$$

and an external state $\langle \phi_{12}^{a_1}, ..., \phi_{12}^{a_n} |$ of length n. For this operator there is only one intermediate state giving a non-vanishing contribution to the convolution of (2.17) and the relevant amplitude is $\mathcal{M}(\phi_{12}^{a_i}, \phi_{12}^{a_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_j})$. This amplitude is divergent in the limit of $\vartheta \to 0$ and $\vartheta \to \pi/2$, specifically

$$\mathcal{M}(\phi_{12}^{a_i}, \phi_{12}^{a_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_i})^{(0)}\Big|_{\vartheta \to 0} = g_{\rm YM}^2 \frac{f^{a_i a'_i a} f^{a_j a'_j a}}{2\vartheta^2} + \mathcal{O}(\vartheta^0) ,$$

$$\mathcal{M}(\phi_{12}^{a_i}, \phi_{12}^{a_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_j}, \bar{\phi}_{12}^{a'_i})^{(0)}\Big|_{\vartheta \to \pi/2} = g_{\rm YM}^2 \frac{f^{a_i a'_j a} f^{a_j a'_i a}}{2(\pi/2 - \vartheta)^2} + \mathcal{O}((\vartheta - \pi/2)^0) .$$
(2.38)

The colour structure of these divergences corresponds to those induced by (2.35) and the proportionality factor is fixed by demanding that $\text{Tr}(\phi_{34}^n)$ is protected. We will use the structure of the infrared contributions (2.31) and (2.35) to cancel IR divergences in the convolution term in (2.17) already at the integrand level.

2.2 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory from on-shell methods

We now move on to a discussion of the mixing of dimension-4 operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory using the on-shell approach of (2.17). We start by reviewing the computation of the β -function in pure Yang–Mills theory to set up the notation. In the following chapters we will be interested in the computation of non-planar anomalous dimensions, and as a warm-up exercise we begin with a study of the mixing of SU(4)-invariant marginal operators and extract their one-loop anomalous dimensions directly from (2.17). In this sector we will find the known $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM on-shell Lagrangian (1.17), as well as descendants of the Konishi operator.

 β -function in pure Yang–Mills. As a first exercise we use (2.17) to extract the β -function of pure YM theory following [31]. It starts by realising that the β -function is closely related to the anomalous dimension of the Lagrangian $\gamma_{\mathcal{L}}$ [31,133,134]

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{L}} = g_{_{\rm YM}}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial g_{_{\rm YM}}^2} \left(\frac{\beta(g_{_{\rm YM}}^2)}{g_{_{\rm YM}}^2} \right).$$
(2.39)

In pure Yang–Mills theory the Lagrangian is simply given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm YM} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(-\frac{1}{4}F_{\alpha\beta}F^{\alpha\beta}\right) \,, \qquad (2.40)$$

where we used (1.18) to express it entirely in terms of the chiral part $F^{\alpha\beta}$ of the field strength. In a theory with only gluons the operator $\mathcal{L}_{\rm YM}$ is the only on-shell Lorentzand gauge-invariant operator with classical dimension 4 and thus the one-loop mixing in (2.17) is trivial and for minimal form factors reduces to

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{L}}^{(1)} \langle 1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2} | \mathcal{L}_{\rm YM} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \langle 1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2} | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{L}_{\rm YM} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} + \gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} \langle 1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2} | \mathcal{L}_{\rm YM} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} .$$
(2.41)

The only non-vanishing contribution to this relation at leading order in the coupling can be obtained from a purely gluonic external state, specifically $\langle g_-, g_-|$ and with (1.60) the tree-level minimal form factor of \mathcal{L}_{YM} is

$$\langle g_{-}^{a_1}(p_1), g_{-}^{a_2}(p_2) | \mathcal{L}_{\text{YM}} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = -\frac{1}{2} \delta^{a_1 a_2} \langle 12 \rangle^2 .$$
 (2.42)

The convolution term in (2.41) is only non-zero if the intermediate state consists of two negative-helicity gluons, cf. (2.18). The relevant MHV amplitude in the parametrisation (2.19) including the colour-delta function from the form factor evaluates to

$$\mathcal{M}^{(0)}(g_{-}^{a_1}(p_1), g_{-}^{a_2}(p_2), g_{+}^{a_{2'}}(-p_2'), g_{+}^{a_{1'}}(-p_1'))^{(0)}\delta^{a_{1'}a_{2'}} = 2g_{\rm YM}^2 N \frac{\delta^{a_1a_2}}{\cos^2\vartheta\sin^2\vartheta} .$$
(2.43)

Thus the anomalous dimension of the Yang–Mills Lagrangian is

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{L}}^{(1)} = -\frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{4\pi^2} \mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + \gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} = -\frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{8\pi^2} \frac{11}{3} , \qquad (2.44)$$

where in the second step we use (2.31) and combine the two terms at the level of the integrand before performing the ϑ -integration. With (2.39) this implies

$$\beta(g_{\rm YM}^2) = -\frac{g_{\rm YM}^4}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{11N}{3} + \mathcal{O}(g_{\rm YM}^6)$$
(2.45)

in pure Yang–Mills theory as expected.

One-loop mixing of SU(4)**-invariant marginal operators.** Now we move on to the study of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and the mixing problem of all chiral on-shell SU(4)-invariant dimension-4 operators at one-loop order. They are given by the basis

$$G := \operatorname{Tr}(F_{\alpha\beta}F^{\alpha\beta}) ,$$

$$F := \operatorname{Tr}(\psi_{A}^{\alpha}[\phi^{AB},\psi_{B\alpha}]) ,$$

$$S_{1} := \operatorname{Tr}([\phi^{AB},\phi^{CD}][\phi_{AB},\phi_{CD}]) , \qquad S_{2} := \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{AB}\phi^{CD}\phi_{AB}\phi_{CD}) ,$$

$$S_{3} := \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{AB}\phi^{CD}) \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_{AB}\phi_{CD}) , \qquad S_{4} := \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{AB}\phi_{AB}) \operatorname{Tr}(\phi^{CD}\phi_{CD}) . \qquad (2.46)$$

The corresponding tree-level minimal form factors are, using (1.60),

$$\begin{split} \langle g_{-}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), g_{-}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} &= 2\delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \langle 12 \rangle^{2} , \\ \langle \bar{\psi}^{A,a_{1}}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}^{B,a_{2}}(p_{2}), \phi^{CD,a_{3}} | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} &= -2\sqrt{2}i f^{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}} \varepsilon^{ABCD} \langle 12 \rangle , \\ \langle \phi_{AB}^{a_{1}}, \phi_{CD}^{a_{2}}, \phi_{EF}^{a_{3}}, \phi_{GH}^{a_{4}} | \mathbf{S}_{1} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} &= 2^{5} \left[\varepsilon_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{EFGH} (-f^{a_{1}a_{2}e} f^{a_{2}a_{4}e} - f^{a_{1}a_{4}e} f^{a_{2}a_{3}e}) \right. \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} (-f^{a_{1}a_{2}e} f^{a_{3}a_{4}e} + f^{a_{1}a_{4}e} f^{a_{2}a_{4}e}) \right] , \\ \langle \phi_{AB}^{a_{1}}, \phi_{CD}^{a_{2}}, \phi_{EF}^{a_{3}}, \phi_{GH}^{a_{4}} | \mathbf{S}_{2} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} &= 2^{4} \left[\varepsilon_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{EFGH} \operatorname{Tr}(a_{1}a_{3}a_{2}a_{4} + a_{1}a_{4}a_{2}a_{3}) \right. \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} \operatorname{Tr}(a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4} + a_{1}a_{4}a_{3}a_{2}) \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} \operatorname{Tr}(a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4} + a_{1}a_{4}a_{3}a_{2}) \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} \operatorname{Tr}(a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4} + a_{1}a_{4}a_{3}a_{2}) \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} \left[\delta^{a_{1}a_{3}} \delta^{a_{2}a_{4}} + \delta^{a_{1}a_{4}} \delta^{a_{2}a_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABEF} \varepsilon_{CDGH} \left[\delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \delta^{a_{3}a_{4}} + \delta^{a_{1}a_{4}} \delta^{a_{2}a_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABGH} \varepsilon_{CDEF} \left[\delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \delta^{a_{3}a_{4}} + \delta^{a_{1}a_{4}} \delta^{a_{2}a_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ABGH} \varepsilon_{CDEF} \left\{ \delta^{a_{1}a_{2}} \delta^{a_{3}a_{4}} + \delta^{a_{1}a_{3}} \delta^{a_{2}a_{4}} \right\} \right] , \end{split}$$

At one-loop order only operators of the same length mix with each other and thus the operators G, F and $\vec{S} := \{S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4\}$ decouple. We compute the remaining mixing

via (2.17) and the superamplitude (1.57) in the superfield formalism for general MHV external states and find

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm G}^{\rm G} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot (-2 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR}) ,$$

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm F}^{\rm F} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot (-3 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 6) ,$$

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm S}^{\rm S} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} -4 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 11 & -10 & -20/N & -10/N \\ 1 & -4 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 2 & -12/N & 2/N \\ 1 & -4 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 2 & -12/N & 2/N \\ -5/N & 0 & -4 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} & 2 \\ -6/N & 0 & 0 & -4 \,\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 12 \end{pmatrix} , \quad (2.48)$$

where $\Delta \gamma = \gamma - \gamma_{\text{IR}}$. Using (2.35) we can compute the infrared contribution γ_{IR} and it removes the infrared divergent integrals \mathcal{I}_{IR} in (2.48). Note that in the planar limit, the single- and double-trace scalar operators decouple. We can diagonalise this operator mixing and find the following one-loop anomalous dimensions and eigenoperators O in this sector:

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{1}^{(1)} &= 0 & O_{1} = G , \\ \gamma_{2}^{(1)} &= \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^{2}} \cdot 6 & O_{2} = F , \\ \gamma_{3}^{(1)} &= \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^{2}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} \left(13 + \sqrt{41} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \right) & O_{3} = S_{1} - \frac{1}{2} \left(9 - \sqrt{41} \right) S_{2} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-1}) , \\ \gamma_{4}^{(1)} &= \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^{2}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} \left(13 - \sqrt{41} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \right) & O_{4} = S_{1} - \frac{1}{2} \left(9 + \sqrt{41} \right) S_{2} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-1}) , \\ \gamma_{5}^{(1)} &= \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^{2}} \cdot \left(12 + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \right) & O_{5} = S_{4} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-1}) , \\ \gamma_{6}^{(1)} &= \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^{2}} \cdot \left(0 + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \right) & O_{6} = -6S_{3} + S_{4} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-1}) . \end{split}$$
(2.49)

For the first two eigenstates we give the exact one-loop anomalous dimensions and operator dependence, while for the remaining states we only give the leading terms in a 1/N expansion corresponding to the planar eigenstates and -values. Higher orders can be easily obtained from the diagonalisation of (2.48).

Note that the operator O_1 with vanishing one-loop anomalous dimension is the leading-coupling contribution to the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM Lagrangian and we will find the higher-order contributions in the next paragraph. Similarly, operator O_2 is the leadingorder part of an operator from the Konishi multiplet, and in particular a descendant of the $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ Konishi operator $\mathcal{K} = \text{Tr}(\phi_I \bar{\phi}_I)$. This multiplet contains the simplest operators whose scaling dimensions are not protected from quantum corrections and it has thus been of great interest in the study of the spectrum of anomalous dimensions



Figure 2.4: Length-increasing contributions to the mixing of a length-two operator \mathcal{O}_A to a length-four operator.

and correlation functions in supersymmetric gauge theories. Moreover, the operator O_5 in the planar limit just corresponds to \mathcal{K}^2 and its planar anomalous dimension is twice that of the Konishi multiplet.

Upper off-diagonal mixing. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory dilatation operator has length-changing effects starting at $\mathcal{O}(g_{YM}^3)$. They were studied in the planar limit where they give rise to fluctuations in the lengths of the corresponding "dynamic" spin chains [135, 136]. We will study such effects here as they are relevant to the mixing in the sector spanned by the operators (2.46) and obtain them from (2.17) by focussing on this relation for operators \mathcal{O}_A and \mathcal{O}_B of different lengths. In this work, we only discuss the length-increasing cases, i.e. the mixing of G to F and \vec{S} , as well as of F to \vec{S} . This will allow us to extract the on-shell $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM Lagrangian as an eigenoperator of the mixing problem with vanishing anomalous dimension.

In the case of a length-two operator \mathcal{O}_A mixing into a length-four operator \mathcal{O}_B , the convolution $\langle 1, 2, 3, 4 | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{O}_A | 0 \rangle^{(0)}$ obtains contributions from non-minimal form factors and length-changing amplitudes which are illustrated in Figure 2.4. While the intermediate momenta p'_1 and p'_2 in the cut of Figure 2.4 (iii) can be parametrised as in the length-preserving case, cf. (2.19), we need to find new parametrisations for the two other configurations. We begin with case (i) where the intermediate momenta satisfy $p'_1 + p'_2 = p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4$ and parametrise them in terms of two on-shell momenta defined as

$$p_a = \frac{s_{1234}}{s_{12} + s_{13} + s_{14}} p_1 , \qquad p_b = p_2 + p_3 + p_4 - \frac{s_{234}}{s_{12} + s_{13} + s_{14}} p_1 \qquad (2.50)$$

with spinor-helicity variables

$$\lambda_a = \lambda_1 \sqrt{\frac{s_{1234}}{s_{12} + s_{13} + s_{14}}} , \quad \lambda_b = ([12]\lambda_2 + [13]\lambda_3 + [14]\lambda_4) \frac{1}{\sqrt{s_{12} + s_{13} + s_{14}}} . \quad (2.51)$$

The dependence of the intermediate momenta p'_1 and p'_2 on the new momenta p_a and p_b is then given by (2.19) in terms of the two angles ϑ and φ . For $p_4 \to 0$ these formulas give a parametrisation for the case (ii) of Figure 2.4 and reproduce the $2 \rightarrow 3$ parametrisation discussed in [31].

We begin the study of length-increasing cuts in the sector spanned by (2.46) with a discussion of the cut from the operator G to F which we obtain from

$$(\Delta \gamma)_{G}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle = -\frac{1}{\pi} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathrm{G} | 0 \rangle$$

$$(2.52)$$

The external state again consists of arbitrary component fields $\Phi_i \in \{g_{\pm}, \phi_{AB}, \psi_A, \bar{\psi}^A\}$. At leading order in the coupling, the left-hand side of this relation has contributions from a minimal form factor of F and a non-minimal form factor of G

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta\gamma)_{G}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle \big|_{\mathcal{O}(g_{YM}^{3})} \\ &= (\Delta\gamma^{(1)})_{G}^{G} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | G | 0 \rangle^{(0.5)} \\ &+ (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{G}^{F} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | F | 0 \rangle^{(0)} , \qquad (2.53) \end{aligned}$$

where $\langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle^{(0.5)}$ denotes the tree-level non-minimal form factor of G which comes with one power of the coupling $g_{\rm YM}$. At leading order on the right-hand side of (2.52), we have contributions from cuts with minimal and non-minimal form factors of G:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle |_{\mathcal{O}(g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{3})} \\ &= \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}) | (\mathcal{M}_{12}^{2 \leftarrow 2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{13}^{2 \leftarrow 2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{23}^{2 \leftarrow 2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{123}^{3 \leftarrow 2} \otimes \mathbf{G}) | 0 \rangle^{(1.5)} . \end{aligned}$$

The first three contributions stem from the convolution of the non-minimal form factor $\langle \Phi_1, \Phi_2, \Phi_3 | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle$ with a 2 \rightarrow 2 scattering matrix. The subscripts on $\mathcal{M}^{2 \leftarrow 2}$ indicate those external particles of the convolution that attach to the scattering amplitude. The last contribution corresponds to the convolution of the minimal form factor of G and the five-point MHV superamplitude (1.57). The three-point non-minimal form factors of G can be found in the Appendix A. By computing the mixing for arbitrary MHV external states we find

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm G}^{\rm G} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot (-3\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR}) , \qquad (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm G}^{\rm F} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot 6g_{\rm YM} . \qquad (2.55)$$

After subtracting the infrared divergence, the first term of (2.55) reproduces the one-loop anomalous dimension found in the length-preserving cuts, cf. (2.48). The anomalous dimension $(\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm G}^{\rm F}$ governs the mixing from the operator G to F at $\mathcal{O}(g_{\rm YM}^3)$.

For the mixing of F to operators \vec{S} we compute

$$(\Delta\gamma)_{\rm F}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle$$

= $-\frac{1}{\pi} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{M} \otimes {\rm F} | 0 \rangle .$ (2.56)

At leading order on the left-hand side, we have contributions from minimal form factors of \vec{S} and a non-minimal form factor of F

$$(\Delta\gamma)_{\rm F}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle \big|_{\mathcal{O}(g_{\rm YM}^3)} = (\Delta\gamma^{(1)})_{\rm F}^{\rm F} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | {\rm F} | 0 \rangle^{(0.5)} + + (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm F}^{\rm S} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | {\rm S} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} .$$
 (2.57)

At leading order on the right-hand side, we have contributions from cuts including minimal and non-minimal form factors of F:

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}), \Phi_{4}^{a_{4}}(p_{4}) | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathrm{F} | 0 \rangle |_{\mathcal{O}(g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{3})} \\ &= \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}), \Phi_{4}^{a_{4}}(p_{4}) | (\mathcal{M}_{12}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{13}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{23}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} \\ &+ \mathcal{M}_{14}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{24}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{34}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} \\ &+ \mathcal{M}_{123}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{124}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{134}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F} + \mathcal{M}_{234}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathrm{F}) | 0 \rangle^{(1.5)} . \end{split}$$
(2.58)

Studying these expressions for general MHV external states and with the non-minimal form factors given in Appendix A, we find

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm F}^{\rm F} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} (-4\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} + 6) , \quad (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm F}^{\rm S_1} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \left(-\frac{g_{\rm YM}}{2}\right) , \quad (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm F}^{\rm S_2} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot g_{\rm YM} , \\ (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm F}^{\rm S_3} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{2g_{\rm YM}}{N} , \qquad (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm F}^{\rm S_4} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{g_{\rm YM}}{N} .$$

$$(2.59)$$

After subtracting the infrared divergence, the first expression in (2.59) reproduces result from the length-preserving cuts in (2.48), and the remaining terms govern the mixing from F to \vec{S} .

Finally, for the mixing of G to length-four operators we look at

$$(\Delta \gamma)_{\rm G}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle = -\frac{1}{\pi} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{M} \otimes {\rm G} | 0 \rangle \quad .$$
(2.60)

The leading order contribution of this expression is $\mathcal{O}(g_{_{YM}}^4)$ and at this order the lefthand side contains minimal form factors of \vec{S} and non-minimal form factors of G and F, specifically

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta\gamma)_{\rm G}^{\mathcal{O}} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | \mathcal{O} | 0 \rangle \big|_{\mathcal{O}(g_{\rm YM}^4)} \\ &= (\gamma^{(1)})_{\rm G}^{\rm G} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | {\rm G} | 0 \rangle^{(1)} \\ &+ (\Delta\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm G}^{\rm F} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | {\rm F} | 0 \rangle^{(0.5)} \\ &+ (\gamma^{(2)})_{\rm G}^{\rm S} \langle \Phi_1^{a_1}(p_1), \Phi_2^{a_2}(p_2), \Phi_3^{a_3}(p_3), \Phi_4^{a_4}(p_4) | {\rm S} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} . \end{aligned}$$
(2.61)

At leading order on the right-hand side, we have contributions from cuts with minimal and non-minimal form factors of G:

$$\begin{split} \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}), \Phi_{4}^{a_{4}}(p_{4}) | \mathcal{M} \otimes \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle |_{\mathcal{O}(g_{YM}^{4})} = \\ &= \langle \Phi_{1}^{a_{1}}(p_{1}), \Phi_{2}^{a_{2}}(p_{2}), \Phi_{3}^{a_{3}}(p_{3}), \Phi_{4}^{a_{4}}(p_{4}) | (\mathcal{M}_{12}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{13}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{23}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \\ &+ \mathcal{M}_{14}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{24}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{34}^{2\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \\ &+ \mathcal{M}_{123}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{124}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{134}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \mathcal{M}_{234}^{3\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G} + \\ &+ \mathcal{M}_{1234}^{4\leftarrow2} \otimes \mathbf{G}) | 0 \rangle , \end{split}$$

$$(2.62)$$

which contains an MHV six-point amplitude. The non-minimal form factors can again be found in Appendix A and the mixing can be computed and we find

$$(\Delta \gamma^{(1)})_{\rm G}^{\rm G} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot (-4\mathcal{I}_{\rm IR}) , \quad (\gamma^{(1.5)})_{\rm G}^{\rm F} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot 6g_{\rm YM} , \quad (\gamma^{(2)})_{\rm G}^{\rm S_1} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{3g_{\rm YM}^2}{16} , \\ (\gamma^{(2)})_{\rm G}^{\rm S_2} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{3g_{\rm YM}^2}{8} , \qquad (\gamma^{(2)})_{\rm G}^{\rm S_3} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{3g_{\rm YM}^2}{4N} , \quad (\gamma^{(2)})_{\rm G}^{\rm S_4} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \cdot \frac{3g_{\rm YM}^2}{8N} . \quad (2.63)$$

The first two expressions reproduce previous results in (2.48) and (2.55), and the remaining terms specify the mixing of G to \vec{S} .

Gathering together all obtained results, we find the length-preserving and -increasing part of the mixing matrix

$$\gamma^{(1)} = \frac{\lambda}{8\pi^2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 6g_{\rm YM} & 3g_{\rm YM}^2/16 & 3g_{\rm YM}^2/8 & 3g_{\rm YM}^2/4N & 3g_{\rm YM}^2/8N \\ \hline 6 & -g_{\rm YM}/2 & g_{\rm YM} & 2g_{\rm YM}/N & g_{\rm YM}/N \\ \hline 11 & -10 & -20/N & -10/N \\ & 11 & 2 & -12/N & 2/N \\ & -5/N & 0 & 0 & 2 \\ & -6/N & 0 & 0 & 12 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.64)

which allows us to obtain the full one-loop eigenstate corresponding to a vanishing anomalous dimension

$$\gamma_1^{(1)} = 0$$
 $O_1 = G - g_{YM}F - \frac{g_{YM}^2}{2^4}S_1$, (2.65)

which is precisely the on-shell Lagrangian (1.17). From this we obtain the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM β -function via (2.39) and find that it vanishes at one-loop order as expected. The operator O₁ is the only length-four SU(4)-invariant operator with vanishing anomalous dimension, which is consistent with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory being the unique fourdimensional CFT with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. The remaining entries in (2.64) can be extracted from length-decreasing terms in the dilatation operator.

2.3 Scalar β -deformed dilatation operator

We now move on to the calculation of the one-loop dilatation operator of the scalar subsector of β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory including its non-planar corrections. In order to set up the notation we start with the known undeformed case in Section 2.3.1 and then move on to the β -deformed case in Section 2.3.2.

2.3.1 Undeformed dilatation operator

We derive the undeformed dilatation operator from the on-shell approach of [31, 32], focusing on the scalar subsector of the theory. We extract it from (2.17) by studying local operators \mathcal{O}_A composed of scalar fields only, i.e.

$$\mathcal{O}_A \sim \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_{I_1}\phi_{I_2}\dots)\dots\operatorname{Tr}(\dots\phi_{I_n})$$
 (2.66)

The index I can take values 1, 2, ..., 6 corresponding to the set of six scalars $\{\phi_{14}, \phi_{24}, \phi_{34}, \phi_{23}, \phi_{31}, \phi_{12}\}$.

One-loop closedness. We begin by re-deriving that purely scalar operators (2.66) only mix among themselves at one-loop order, i.e. that the scalar sector is closed. This can be seen from the convolution term of (2.17) which determines the mixing between operators in this on-shell approach. At one-loop order only length-preserving mixing occurs and thus we study this relation for minimal form factors. For the (i, j)th component of the sum in the convolution term (2.18) to be non-vanishing, the external fields of the minimal form factor must be scalars, i.e. all the fields $1^{a_1}, 2^{a_2}, ..., n^{a_n}$ excluding i^{a_i} and j^{a_j} , as well as the intermediate states $i'a'_i$ and $j'a'_j$. This reduces the sum over intermediate states in the convolution to only include two scalar fields $\phi_{I'_i}^{a'_i}(p'_i)$ and $\phi_{I'_j}^{a'_j}(p'_j)$. The mixing of \mathcal{O}_A is then governed via (2.18) by the one-loop amplitude

$$\langle i^{a_i}(p_i), j^{a_j}(p_j) | \mathcal{M} | \phi^{a'_i}_{I'_i}(p'_i), \phi^{a'_j}_{I'_j}(p'_j) \rangle^{(2)}$$
 (2.67)

The sum over intermediate scalars now includes three different cases:



Figure 2.5: Non-vanishing contributions to one-loop mixing of the purely scalar operator \mathcal{O}_A for (i) case 1, (ii) case 2, and (iii) case 3.

- 1. the two scalars are of the same type, e.g. $\phi_{I'_i} = \phi_{I'_j} = \phi_{14}$,
- 2. the two scalars span an $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ scalar sector, e.g. $\phi_{I'_i} = \phi_{14}$ and $\phi_{I'_i} = \phi_{24}$,
- 3. the two scalars form a singlet, e.g. $\phi_{I'_i} = \phi_{14}$ and $\phi_{I'_i} = \phi_{23}$.

In the first case, the amplitude (2.67) is only non-vanishing for external particles i, jbeing identical to the scalars in the intermediate state, e.g. $\langle \phi_{14}^{c_i}, \phi_{14}^{c_j} | \mathcal{M}^{(0)} | \phi_{14}^{a_i}, \phi_{14}^{a_j} \rangle$ and we illustrate such a convolution term in Figure 2.5 (i). For an $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ intermediate state there exist purely scalar amplitudes, cf. Figure 2.5 (ii), and mixed amplitudes with both scalars and fermions, cf. Figure 2.6 (i). Components of the one-loop MHV superamplitude (1.57) of this latter type are proportional to $e^{\pm i\varphi}$ by the parametrisation (2.19) and, since the minimal form factor in the convolution only depends on the φ -independent total sum of momenta, these terms vanish in the integral (2.21) of the convolution. Finally, if the sum over intermediate scalar states runs over a singlet state, we may have an amplitude (2.67) where the external state $|i, j\rangle$ corresponds to a scalar, fermionic or gluonic singlet state, cf. Figure 2.5 (iii) and 2.6 (ii,iii). Amplitudes of the form $\langle \psi, \bar{\psi} | \mathcal{M}^{(0)} | \phi, \bar{\phi} \rangle$ are again proportional to $e^{\pm i\varphi}$ and amplitudes of the form $\langle g_+, g_- | \mathcal{M} | \phi, \bar{\phi} \rangle$ are proportional to $e^{\pm 2i\varphi}$, and thus these cases all vanish in the integral of the convolution. This implies that (2.17) is non-trivial only for purely scalar external states. For a non-vanishing tree-level minimal form factor on the left-hand side of this equation, the fields in the external state must correspond to the fields in \mathcal{O}_B and thus \mathcal{O}_B is purely scalar. This proves that there only occurs mixing in the scalar subsector at one-loop level.

Convolution term. In the following we make the mixing between scalar operators explicit. The one-loop scalar four-point amplitude can be extracted from the MHV



Figure 2.6: Vanishing contributions to one-loop mixing of the purely scalar operator \mathcal{O}_A for (i) case 2, and (ii,iii) case 3.

superamplitude (1.57) and with the crossing convention (1.49) it is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi_{I_i}^{a_i}(p_i), \phi_{I_j}^{a_j}(p_j) | \mathcal{M} | \phi_{I'_i}^{a'_i}(p'_i), \phi_{I'_j}^{a'_j}(p'_j) \rangle^{(0)} \\ &= -2g_{\rm YM}^2 \left(\frac{f^{a_i a_j e} f^{a'_j a'_i e}}{\sin^2 \vartheta} - \frac{f^{a_i a'_j e} f^{a_j a'_i e}}{\cos^2 \vartheta \sin^2 \vartheta} \right) \\ &\times \left(\cos^2 \vartheta \ \delta_{I_i I'_i} \delta_{I_j I'_j} + \sin^2 \vartheta \ \delta_{I_i I'_j} \delta_{I_j I'_i} - \sin^2 \vartheta \cos^2 \vartheta \ \delta_{I_i \overline{I_j}} \delta_{I'_i \overline{I'_j}} \right) , \qquad (2.68) \end{aligned}$$

with $\phi_{\bar{I}} := \overline{\phi_{I}}$. Inserted into the convolution (2.18), we can perform the sum over intermediate scalars and the integration over Ω . Rearranging terms using the Jacobi identity and furthermore using

$$: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}][\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}} \phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}} = -4f^{a_{i}a_{j}e}f^{a_{i}'a_{j}'e}\phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}'}\phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}'}, \\ : \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{I}][\phi_{J}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}}\phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}} = -4f^{a_{i}a_{i}'e}f^{a_{j}a_{j}'e}\phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}'}\phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}'}, \\ : \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}][\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}] : \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}}\phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}} = -4f^{a_{i}a_{i}'e}f^{a_{j}a_{j}'e}\delta_{I_{i}\bar{I}_{j}}\sum_{I}\phi_{I}^{a_{i}'}\phi_{\bar{I}}^{a_{j}'}, \quad (2.69)$$

the convolution terms can be cast into the form of an operator acting on the external states of a form factor. This yields

$$(\gamma^{(1)})_{A}^{B} \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{B} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} = \left[-\frac{g_{YM}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left(: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}][\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : +\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}][\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}] : -\mathcal{I}_{IR} : \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{I}][\phi_{J}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : \right) + \gamma_{IR}^{(1)} \right] \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{A} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} . \quad (2.70)$$

IR divergence. What is left is to determine the form of γ_{IR} . Using (2.69) and translating its colour structure into an operator structure via (2.69) yields

$$\gamma_{\rm IR}^{(1)} = -\frac{g_{\rm YM}^2}{16\pi^2} \mathcal{I}_{\rm IR} : \text{Tr}[\phi_I, \check{\phi}^I][\phi_J, \check{\phi}^J] : .$$
(2.71)

Dilatation operator in scalar sector. Inserting the result (2.71) into (2.70) we find that the IR divergence exactly cancels the divergent part of the convolution term and thus we obtain

$$(\gamma^{(1)})^{B}_{A} \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{B} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}$$

$$= -\frac{g^{2}_{YM}}{16\pi^{2}} \left(: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}][\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : + \frac{1}{2} : \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}][\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}] : \right) \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{A} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} .$$

$$(2.72)$$

In order to convert this mixing relation of form factors into a mixing relation of local operators, we note that at tree level the field content of the external state must match the field content of the local operator of a minimal form factor. Furthermore, we may map on the trace-structure of the local operator by multiplying the external state by the appropriate colour-trace structure. Thus we can extract the one-loop mixing matrix for purely scalar operators which is generated by the dilatation operator

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2} = -\frac{g_{\rm YM}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left(: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}][\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : +\frac{1}{2} : \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}][\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}] : \right) , \qquad (2.73)$$

which is the known one-loop $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ dilatation operator of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory [6].

2.3.2 Deformed dilatation operator

We now turn to the β -deformed theory and derive the scalar dilatation operator. The deformation enters its computation via the form factor on-shell approach by deforming the four-point single-trace amplitudes and introducing double-trace terms. The mixed amplitudes contributing to the diagrams in Figure 2.6 only pick up a non-kinematic phase factor in the deformed theory and thus the scalar sector remains closed at one-loop order.

 $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector. In the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ sector the deformed amplitude is given in terms of the deformed structure constants (1.83) by

$$\begin{split} \langle \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}}(p_{i}), \phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}}(p_{j}) | \mathcal{M} | \phi_{I_{i}'}^{a_{i}'}(p_{i}'), \phi_{I_{j}'}^{a_{j}'}(p_{j}') \rangle^{(0)} \\ &= -2g_{\rm YM}^{2} \Biggl[\Biggl(\frac{f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j})}^{a_{i}a_{j}e} f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j})}^{a_{i}'a_{j}'e}}{\cos^{2}\vartheta} - \frac{f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{i}')}^{a_{i}a_{i}'e} f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j}')}^{a_{j}a_{j}'e}}{\sin^{2}\vartheta\cos^{2}\vartheta} \Biggr) \\ &\times \Bigl(\cos^{2}\vartheta\delta_{I_{i}I_{i}'}\delta_{I_{j}I_{j}'} - \sin^{2}\vartheta\cos^{2}\vartheta\delta_{I_{i}\bar{I}_{j}}\delta_{I_{i}'\bar{I}_{j}'}n^{I_{i}I_{i}'} \Bigr) \\ &+ \Biggl(\frac{f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j})}^{a_{i}a_{j}e} f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j})}^{a_{j}'a_{i}'e}}{\sin^{2}\vartheta} - \frac{f_{\varphi(I_{i},I_{j}')}^{a_{i}a_{j}'e} f_{\varphi(I_{j},I_{i}')}^{a_{j}a_{i}'e}}{\sin^{2}\vartheta\cos^{2}\vartheta} \Biggr) \\ &\times \Bigl(\sin^{2}\vartheta\delta_{I_{i}I_{j}'}}\delta_{I_{j}I_{i}'} - \sin^{2}\vartheta\cos^{2}\vartheta\delta_{I_{i}\bar{I}_{j}}\delta_{I_{i}'\bar{I}_{j}'}n^{I_{i}I_{j}'} \Biggr) \Biggr] , \quad (2.74) \end{split}$$

where $f_{\varphi(I_a,I_b)}^{abc}\delta_{I_aI_b} = f^{abc}$, so setting both the phase to 1 and sending $\tilde{\kappa} \to 1$. n^{IJ} is the particle-/anti-particle number and vanishes if I corresponds to a scalar index, i.e. $\phi_I \in \{\phi_{14}, \phi_{24}, \phi_{34}\}$, and J to an anti-scalar index, i.e. $\phi_J \in \{\phi_{23}, \phi_{31}, \phi_{12}\}$, and vice versa, while n^{IJ} is 1 if both indices correspond to either scalars or anti-scalars. The occurrence of such a parameter in the four-point scalar amplitude makes the breaking of the symmetry between chiral and anti-chiral scalars due to the breaking of the SU(4) R-invariance in the β -deformed theory manifest.

The deformed structure constants satisfy

$$f_{\varphi(a,b)}^{abe} f_{\varphi(c,d)}^{cde} = -\frac{1}{2} |\tilde{\kappa}|^2 \Big(\operatorname{Tr} \left([a,b]_{\varphi(a,b)} [c,d]_{\varphi(c,d)} \right) - \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{Tr}[a,b]_{\varphi(a,b)} \operatorname{Tr}[c,d]_{\varphi(c,d)} \Big) ,$$

$$(2.75)$$

where $\varphi(a, b)$ is the phase of the particles corresponding to colour indices a and b. The deformed commutators on the right-hand side can be related to operators via the deformed version of (2.69),

$$: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}]_{\varphi}[\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi} : \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}} \phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}} = 2 \operatorname{Tr}\left([a_{i}, a_{j}]_{\varphi(I_{i}, I_{j})}[a'_{i}, a'_{j}]_{\varphi(I_{i}, I_{j})}\right) \phi_{I_{i}}^{a'_{i}} \phi_{I_{j}}^{a'_{j}} ,$$

$$: \operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}[\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}]_{\varphi} : \phi_{I_{i}}^{a_{i}} \phi_{I_{j}}^{a_{j}} = 2\delta_{I_{i}\bar{I}_{j}} \sum_{I} \operatorname{Tr}\left([a_{i}, a'_{i}]_{\varphi(I_{i}, I)}[a_{j}, a'_{j}]_{\varphi(I_{i}, I)}\right) \phi_{I}^{a'_{i}} \phi_{\bar{I}}^{a'_{j}} , \quad (2.76)$$

and analogue relations for the double-trace colour structures. Inserting the amplitude (2.74) into the convolution (2.18) and using (2.76) and (2.69) yields

$$(\gamma^{(1)})_{A}^{B} \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{B} | 0 \rangle^{(0)}$$

$$= \left[-\frac{g_{\mathrm{YM}}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left(|\tilde{\kappa}|^{2} \left(: \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}]_{\varphi}[\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi} : -\frac{1}{N} : \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \phi_{J}]_{\varphi} \mathrm{Tr}[\check{\phi}^{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi} : \right) \right.$$

$$\left. + \frac{|\tilde{\kappa}|^{2}}{2} \left(: \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}[\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}]_{\varphi} : -\frac{1}{N} : \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi} \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{\bar{I}}, \check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}]_{\varphi} : \right) \right.$$

$$\left. - \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{IR}} : \mathrm{Tr}[\phi_{I}, \check{\phi}^{I}][\phi_{J}, \check{\phi}^{J}] : \right) + \gamma_{\mathrm{IR}}^{(1)} \right] \langle 1^{a_{1}}, ..., n^{a_{n}} | \mathcal{O}_{A} | 0 \rangle^{(0)} . \qquad (2.77)$$

Comparing with the undeformed result (2.70), we see that all finite terms get deformed, but the IR-divergent contribution is unchanged. This latter point is in accordance with the one-loop soft divergence being universal and taking the form (2.35)also in the deformed theory. Thus we again subtract (2.71) and obtain

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}^{\varphi} = -\frac{|\kappa|^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \left(:\operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I},\phi_{J}]_{\varphi}[\check{\phi}^{I},\check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}: +\frac{1}{2}:\operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I},\check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}[\phi_{\bar{I}},\check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}]_{\varphi}: -\frac{1}{N} \left(:\operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I},\phi_{J}]_{\varphi}\operatorname{Tr}[\check{\phi}^{I},\check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}: +\frac{1}{2}:\operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{I},\check{\phi}^{J}]_{\varphi}\operatorname{Tr}[\phi_{\bar{I}},\check{\phi}^{\bar{J}}]_{\varphi}: \right) \right). \quad (2.78)$$

In addition to deformed single-trace operators inherited from the undeformed theory,

this operator contains double-trace terms which are necessary to make the theory exactly conformal [47]. It is important to note that although they are formally suppressed by 1/N, they can be relevant at leading order when acting on short operators which we discuss in the following. In Chapter 3 we compute non-planar anomalous dimensions from (2.78) perturbatively and in Chapter 4 we study statistical properties of its anomalous-dimension spectrum. Note that the calculation of \mathfrak{D}_2^{φ} did not depend on the explicit form of the phase φ and thus is valid in more general deformed theories whose four-point scalar amplitudes can be brought into the form (2.74). However, as these deformed theories are not necessarily conformal, the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D}_2^{φ} is not necessarily a symmetry generator.

L = 2 mixing. We now study the mixing of length-two operators induced by (2.78). The operators $\text{Tr}(\phi_I \phi_J)$, where $\phi_I, \phi_J \in \mathfrak{su}(2)$, remain protected in the deformed theory. In particular when $I \neq J$ the first double-trace contribution of (2.78) is necessary for a vanishing anomalous dimension. The protectedness of these operators was shown previously at one- and two-loop level by direct calculations in [74, 75].

Also the Konishi operator $\mathcal{K} = \text{Tr}(\phi_I \bar{\phi}_I)$ remains an eigenstate of the one-loop dilatation operator in the β -deformed theory $(\varphi(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \varphi(\phi_2, \phi_3) = \varphi(\phi_3, \phi_1) = \beta)$ with anomalous dimension

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{K}}^{(1)} = \frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{8\pi^2} \left(3 + 2\left[|\tilde{\kappa}|^2 \left(1 - \frac{4}{N^2} \sin^2 \beta \right) - 1 \right] \right) , \qquad (2.79)$$

reproducing the results in [74,75] from direct calculation. The expression in the square bracket corresponds to the condition on the deformed coupling κ of (1.64) which makes the deformed theory exactly conformal through two loops. Setting this expression to zero one finds that the Konishi operator has undeformed anomalous dimension

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{K}}^{(1)} = \frac{3\lambda}{8\pi^2} \ . \tag{2.80}$$

The remaining two eigenstates in this length-two sector of $U(1)^3$ -uncharged operators are protected and can be chosen to be $\text{Tr}(\phi_1\bar{\phi}_1 - \phi_2\bar{\phi}_2)$ and $\text{Tr}(\phi_2\bar{\phi}_2 - \phi_3\bar{\phi}_3)$. They combine with the length-two operator in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector to the symmetric traceless operators $\mathcal{Q}_{IJ} := \text{Tr}(\phi_I\phi_J) - \frac{1}{6}\eta_{IJ}\mathcal{K}$ with vanishing eigenvalues, corresponding to the chiral primaries of the **20**' representation of SU(4).

In the more general γ_i -deformed theory, where $\gamma_1 := \varphi(\phi_1, \phi_2), \ \gamma_2 := \varphi(\phi_2, \phi_3),$ $\gamma_3 := \varphi(\phi_3, \phi_1)$ and $\gamma_1 \neq \gamma_2 \neq \gamma_3$, the operator $\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_I \phi_J)$ for $\phi_I, \phi_J \in \mathfrak{su}(2)$ remains protected. Similarly the Konishi operator stays protected in the planar theory, however it mixes with the other uncharged operators at finite N. The corresponding symmetric mixing matrix of operators $\{\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_1\bar{\phi}_1), \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_2\bar{\phi}_2), \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_3\bar{\phi}_3)\}$ is given by

$$\gamma^{(1)} = \frac{g_{\rm YM}^2 N}{8\pi^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & |\tilde{\kappa}|^2 (1 - 4\sin^2 \gamma_1/N^2) & |\tilde{\kappa}|^2 (1 - 4\sin^2 \gamma_3/N^2) \\ & 1 & |\tilde{\kappa}|^2 (1 - 4\sin^2 \gamma_2/N^2) \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.81)
Chapter 3

Perturbative non-planar anomalous dimensions

The action of the (β -deformed) $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM dilatation operator (1.36)-(1.38) and (2.78) on the space of multi-trace states gives rise to complicated mixing problems. Symmetries simplify the diagonalisation of this mixing by arranging states into closed sectors, with states belonging to different sectors not being allowed to mix. For example, only states that have the same classical scaling dimension can mix, and both the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector are closed. Despite these symmetries, with an increasing number of field insertions into states, the dimension of the mixing problem even in closed sectors increases very quickly. Thus, when going beyond short operators, its solution by direct diagonalisation quickly becomes inconceivable and a systematic analytic approach is desirable.

A step forward in this quest is the realisation that the action of the one-loop dilatation operator on a general multi-trace operator can be decomposed into a planar and non-planar piece. Take as an example the length-six single-trace operator $\text{Tr}(X^2Z^4)$ on which the one-loop dilatation operator (1.36) acts as

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}\operatorname{Tr}(X^{2}Z^{4}) = 4\left(\operatorname{Tr}(X^{2}Z^{4}) - \operatorname{Tr}(XZXZ^{3})\right) + \frac{4}{N}\left(\operatorname{Tr}(X^{2}Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) - \operatorname{Tr}(XZXZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\right) , \qquad (3.1)$$

where we repeatedly use the splitting and fusion identities (1.34). The leading term in a large-N expansion corresponds to the superposition of single-trace operators and the subleading term is a double-trace contribution. Similarly, we can decompose the action of the one-loop dilatation operator on general multi-trace operators into planar and non-planar pieces as [137]

$$\mathfrak{D}_2 = H^{(0)} + \frac{1}{N}H^- + \frac{1}{N}H^+ .$$
(3.2)

The planar piece $H^{(0)}$ leaves the number of traces in an operator unchanged, while the non-planar corrections H^{\pm} , which are suppressed by a factor of 1/N, increase or reduce the number of traces in a given operator. In order to find the eigenvalues of \mathfrak{D}_2 , one can first solve the planar problem using integrability, and then use perturbation theory to find the $1/N^k$ corrections by treating $\frac{1}{N}H^{\pm}$ as a small perturbation. We review the solution of the planar problem in Section 3.1 and then derive expressions for perturbative non-planar corrections in the undeformed theory in Section 3.2. Although this approach to non-planar dimensions is promising at first sight, it is made complicated by degeneracies in the planar spectrum and thus degenerate perturbation theory has to be employed. In order to avoid this obstacle, one can consider the β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, in which most degeneracies in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector are lifted, and we will do so in Section 3.3.

3.1 Planar theory and integrability

3.1.1 Integrable structures in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory

A seminal development in the understanding of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory was the realisation that in its planar limit there occur integrable structures, first discovered in the scalar sector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in [11]. Specifically, the one-loop mixing problem in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector can be mapped to the spectral problem of the Heisenberg spin chain. The latter was already studied long before its relevance for super Yang–Mills theories was realised, see e.g. [138, 139], and thus there were many tools at hand for its solution. We review these developments in the following, in particular as we will make use of the spin-chain notation and the results from integrability to organise the computation of non-planar corrections.

Heisenberg spin chain in $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector. In order to make the mapping between the Heisenberg spin chain and the planar $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ one-loop mixing problem explicit, we study the action of the dilatation operator \mathfrak{D}_2 given in (1.36) on the space of multi-trace operators composed of fields X and Z. In the large-N limit this action is enhanced by a factor of N when acting on adjacent fields X and Z in a trace. This action preserves the number of traces of an operator and corresponds to the leading term $H^{(0)}$ in (3.2). With the number of traces being conserved, multi-trace and singletrace operators decouple and the multi-trace mixing problem is essentially solved by the single-trace mixing problem: multi-trace eigenstates of $H^{(0)}$ are products of singletrace eigenstates and the corresponding eigenvalue is the sum of the eigenvalues of the constituent single-trace operators. On the space of single-trace operators the planar one-loop dilatation operator (1.36) acts as

$$H_{\text{xxx}} = 2\sum_{i=1}^{L} \left(\mathbb{1}_{i,i+1} - \mathbb{P}_{i,i+1}\right) .$$
(3.3)

Here $\mathbb{P}_{i,i+1} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \sigma^a \otimes \sigma^a)_{i,i+1}$ denotes the permutation operator acting on positions *i* and (i + 1) in a trace of *L* scalar fields and similarly $\mathbb{1}_{i,i+1} = (\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1})_{i,i+1}$ corresponds to the identity operator. The operator (3.3) is the famous Heisenberg Hamiltonian [140] of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ spin chains. Thus we can map the problem of finding oneloop anomalous dimensions in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector to the problem of finding the energy spectrum of the cyclic Heisenberg spin chain.

Integrability of the Heisenberg spin chain. The solution of the Heisenberg spin chain can be achieved by various approaches going under the name of "Bethe ansatz". We will discuss the coordinate Bethe ansatz in Section 3.1.2, which is the original ansatz developed by Bethe [138], and will comment on the algebraic Bethe ansatz in Appendix B, which goes back to Faddeev [139]. The solution of the Heisenberg spin chain is characterised by a remarkable simplicity, specifically the energy of multi-particle eigenstates is just a sum of single-particle energies, and multi-particle scattering factorises into two-particle scattering. This simplicity is characteristic of integrable models and hints towards the existence of hidden symmetries. Indeed, one can show that the Heisenberg spin chain has a tower of conserved local charges which can be derived from its Lax operator, see e.g. [141]. An alternative formulation of this system's integrability for an infinitely long spin chain is based on a non-local symmetry algebra called Yangian, in particular $Y[\mathfrak{su}(2)]$ for the Heisenberg spin chain, introduced by Drinfel'd [142–145].

Integrability beyond $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and one-loop order. The analogy between the oneloop dilatation operator and an integrable spin-chain Hamiltonian extends beyond the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector to the full space of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM local operators, where the complete one-loop dilatation operator was found in [10]. The corresponding Hamiltonian is that of an integrable $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ spin chain [12] and was shown to be invariant under the Yangian algebra $Y[\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)]$ [146], making the whole planar mixing problem solvable by integrability methods. At higher loop orders the planar dilatation operator is no longer of nearest-neighbour type, but remains integrable and can be solved via an asymptotic Bethe ansatz [147, 148]. It is asymptotic in the sense that it is only valid for local operators whose length is larger than the spin-chain interaction length at a given order in the perturbative g^2 -expansion, and otherwise receives wrapping corrections [149]. An efficient way for explicit computations of the spectrum of planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory at finite coupling is via the quantum spectral curve [150], see also [151].

Integrable structures do not only appear in the spectral problem of planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, but were also unveiled in the context of other observables of this theory. For example, structure constants of three-point correlators can be computed non-perturbatively via an integrable bootstrap [20], and similarly planar scattering amplitudes can be described at finite coupling via a dual description in terms of polygonal null Wilson loops and an integrable flux-tube Hamiltonian [152, 153]. Moreover, integrable structures were also uncovered in the dual gravity theory and in particular superstrings on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ are classically integrable [14]. This integrability can be used to find explicit classical string solutions, like those of spinning strings [154, 155], and more generally to describe classical solutions as solutions of algebraic curves [156–161]. A comprehensive overview of integrability in the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence is given in the review articles of [16].

3.1.2 Coordinate Bethe ansatz for the Heisenberg spin chain

Spin-chain notation. In order to solve the mixing problem of $H^{(0)}$ on the space of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ single-trace operators, it is first useful to introduce a notation which resembles the notation of spin chains: Single-trace operators with M insertions of X fields in a background of (L - M) Z's will be denoted as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\overbrace{Z\dots Z}^{n_1-1}X\overbrace{Z\dots Z}^{n_2-n_1-1}X\dots) \to |\overbrace{\uparrow\dots\uparrow}^{n_1-1}\downarrow\overbrace{\uparrow\dots\uparrow}^{n_2-n_1-1}\downarrow\dots\rangle_L \equiv |n_1, n_2, \dots, n_M\rangle_L \quad (3.4)$$

Note that we do not transfer the cyclicity property of single-trace operators to the notation $|..\rangle$ on the right-hand side, where we only impose periodicity such as $|L+1\rangle_L :=$ $|1\rangle_L$, and so the two notations are not equivalent. Nevertheless, it will be more convenient to first work with states $|\{n\}\rangle$ to solve the planar mixing problem and then impose cyclicity of eigenstates at the very end. Multi-trace operators with K traces and M insertions of X fields, where $M = \sum_{k=1}^{K} M_k$, can then be denoted by products of such states

$$\prod_{k=1}^{K} |n_1^{(k)}, \dots, n_{M_k}^{(k)}\rangle_{L_k} , \qquad (3.5)$$

which is an element of the symmetrised tensor product. It will often be convenient to use the compressed notation $|\{n\}\rangle$ and $\prod_k |\{n^{(k)}\}\rangle$ for single- and multi-trace states, respectively. In the following we compute overlaps of states and thus we define the natural dual basis $\langle \{m\} |$ with normalisation

$${}_{L_m} \langle m_1, m_2, \dots, m_{M_m} | n_1, n_2, \dots, n_{M_n} \rangle_{L_n} = \delta_{L_m, L_n} \delta_{M_m, M_n} \prod_{j=1}^{M_n} \delta_{m_j, n_j} .$$
(3.6)

In this basis of states, the action of the planar dilatation operator (3.3) is given by the well-known formula

$$H^{(0)} |n_1, n_2, \ldots \rangle_L = 2 \sum_{j=1}^M \left(2 |\ldots, n_j, \ldots \rangle_L - |\ldots, n_j - 1, \ldots \rangle_L - |\ldots, n_j + 1, \ldots \rangle_L \right) . \quad (3.7)$$

This spin-chain Hamiltonian can now be diagonalised by means of the coordinate Bethe ansatz. It organises eigenstates by their number of excitations M based on the SU(2) spin symmetry of (3.3). The lowest-energy state is degenerate with states

$$|\emptyset\rangle = |\uparrow\uparrow\dots\uparrow\rangle$$
 and $|\emptyset\rangle = |\downarrow\downarrow\dots\downarrow\rangle$ (3.8)

and vanishing energy. These states correspond to operators consisting of a single type of scalar field, $\text{Tr}(Z^L)$ and $\text{Tr}(X^L)$. They are half-BPS and due to supersymmetry their dimensions receive no quantum corrections. Choosing $|\emptyset\rangle$ as vacuum, we can build excited states as linear combinations of basis vectors (3.4) with fixed L and M as

$$|\{p\}\rangle = \sum_{\{n\}} \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} |\{n\}\rangle$$
(3.9)

in terms of a wavefunction $\psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}}$ depending on the quantum numbers of the particular state. The states are characterised by the momenta $\{p\} = \{p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_M\}$ of the Mexcitations (or "magnons") and the sum in (3.9) is over the positions of excitations ranging over the nested values $1 \le n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_M \le L$. Using (3.6) the scalar product of two such states $|\{p\}\rangle$ and $|\{q\}\rangle$ is given by

$$\langle \{q\} | \{p\} \rangle = \sum_{\{n\}} \left(\psi_{\{n\}}^{\{q\}} \right)^* \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} .$$
(3.10)

Bethe ansatz. The states (3.9) are eigenstates of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian (3.7) if the wavefunctions satisfy

$$\psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} \equiv \psi_{n_1,\dots,n_M}^{p_1,\dots,p_M} = \frac{1}{\prod_{j < k} \sqrt{S(p_j, p_k)}} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}_M} e^{i \sum_{j=1}^M p_{\sigma(j)} n_j} \prod_{\substack{j > k \\ \sigma(j) < \sigma(k)}} S(p_{\sigma(j)}, p_{\sigma(k)}) , \quad (3.11)$$

which is a sum over all permutations σ of the M excitations, with permutation group S_M . This expression furthermore contains the two-magnon S-matrix

$$S(p_j, p_k) = -\frac{e^{ip_j + ip_k} + 1 - 2e^{ip_k}}{e^{ip_j + ip_k} + 1 - 2e^{ip_j}} , \qquad (3.12)$$

and we have made a particular choice for the overall, non-physical, phase of the wavefunction which is convenient for subsequent purposes. For the states (3.11) to satisfy periodic boundary conditions, the momenta must satisfy the Bethe equations, i.e. for each $j = 1, \ldots, M$

$$e^{i\phi_j} = 1$$
, where $e^{i\phi_j} \equiv e^{ip_j L} \prod_{k \neq j}^M S(p_j, p_k)$, (3.13)

which quantises the momenta $\{p\}$ and implies that the wavefunctions satisfy the condition

$$\psi_{n_1,n_2,\dots,n_M}^{\{p\}} = \psi_{n_2,\dots,n_M,n_1+L}^{\{p\}} .$$
(3.14)

Each eigenstate corresponds to a solution of the algebraic equations (3.13) with pairwise distinct momenta and the energy eigenvalue is given as a sum over individual magnon energies

$$E^{(0)}(\{p\}) = \sum_{j=1}^{M} \varepsilon(p_j) , \quad \varepsilon(p_j) = 4(1 - \cos p_j) .$$
 (3.15)

The cyclicity of the trace for gauge-theory operators becomes the condition that the spin chain is invariant under the shift $n_j \rightarrow n_j + 1$ and so we consider only states which satisfy the condition

$$\prod_{j=1}^{M} e^{ip_j} = 1 . (3.16)$$

Further useful notations. It is convenient to introduce rapidity variables u_j as

$$u_j = \frac{1}{2} \cot \frac{p_j}{2}$$
 or $e^{ip_j} = \frac{u_j + i/2}{u_j - i/2}$ (3.17)

for each excitation, and then the S-matrix (3.12) and the individual magnon energies (3.15) are given by

$$S(u_j, u_k) = \frac{u_j - u_k - i}{u_j - u_k + i} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \varepsilon(u_j) = \frac{2}{u_j^2 + \frac{1}{4}} , \qquad (3.18)$$

and the periodicity (3.13) and cyclicity constraint (3.16) become

$$\left(\frac{u_j + \frac{i}{2}}{u_j - \frac{i}{2}}\right)^L \prod_{k \neq j}^M \frac{u_j - u_k - i}{u_j - u_k + i} = 1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \prod_{j=1}^M \frac{u_j + \frac{i}{2}}{u_j - \frac{i}{2}} = 1 , \qquad (3.19)$$

respectively. The solutions $\{u\}$ to the first relation in (3.19) are called "Bethe roots". It will also be useful to define the quantity

$$h(u_j, u_k) = \frac{u_j - u_k}{u_j - u_k + i} , \qquad (3.20)$$

so that the S-matrix is given as

$$S(u_j, u_k) = \frac{h(u_j, u_k)}{h(u_k, u_j)} , \qquad (3.21)$$

and a normalisation factor for states with momenta $\{p\}$ corresponding to rapidities $\{u\}$ as

$$\mathcal{N}(p(u)) = \frac{\prod_{i < j} h(u_i, u_j)}{\prod_{j < k} \sqrt{S(u_j, u_k)}}$$
(3.22)

and generalisations such as $\mathcal{N}(p,q) = \mathcal{N}(p)\mathcal{N}(q)$.

Finally, similar to [162], we will use the following short-hand notation for products

$$f^{\{a\}} = \prod_{i} f(a_i) , \qquad f^{\{a\}}_{<} = \prod_{i < j} f(a_i, a_j) , \qquad h^{\{a\}\{b\}} = \prod_{i, j} h(a_i, b_j)$$
(3.23)

and

$$\{z\}_{\hat{a}} = \{z_1, \dots, \hat{z}_a, \dots, z_n\} = \{z_1, \dots, z_{a-1}, z_{a+1}, \dots, z_n\}$$
(3.24)

for lists with a missing element. Using this notation a Bethe state can be written as

$$|\{p\}\rangle = \mathcal{N}(p) \sum_{\{n\}} \sum_{\sigma \in S_M} \frac{1}{h_{<}^{\{p_{\sigma}\}}} e^{ip_{\sigma} \cdot n} |\{n\}\rangle$$
(3.25)

and its conjugate as

$$\langle \{p\}| = \mathcal{N}(p^*) \sum_{\{n\}} \sum_{\sigma \in S_M} \frac{1}{h_{>}^{\{p^*_{\sigma}\}}} e^{-ip^*_{\sigma} \cdot n} \langle \{n\}|$$
(3.26)

where the functions $h^{\{p\}}_{<}$ etc. should be understood as being defined in terms of the set of rapidities $\{u\}$ corresponding to the momenta $\{p(u)\}$.

Singular Bethe states. The Bethe equations (3.19) allow for solutions

$$\left\{u_1 = \frac{i}{2}, u_2 = -\frac{i}{2}, u_3, \dots, u_M\right\}, \qquad (3.27)$$

which is apparent when casting (3.19) into the pole-free form

$$\left(u_j + \frac{i}{2}\right)^L \prod_{k \neq j}^M (u_j - u_k - i) = \left(u_j - \frac{i}{2}\right)^L \prod_{k \neq j}^M (u_j - u_k + i) .$$
(3.28)

The associated states are called "singular" as their wavefunctions (3.11) and energies (3.18) diverge. One can regularise both quantities by introducing a regulator ϵ in the rapidities $u_{1,2}$ as

$$u_1 = \frac{i}{2} + \epsilon + c \cdot \epsilon^L , \qquad \qquad u_2 = -\frac{i}{2} + \epsilon , \qquad (3.29)$$

where c can be systematically found by demanding that the corresponding Bethe state is an eigenstate of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian [163]¹. Alternatively, one can regularise the Bethe equations by the introduction of a twist [165] which is equivalent to the deformation parameter β we introduce below.

Primary and descendant states. The Bethe states (3.9), with wavefunctions (3.11) and characterised by the Bethe roots, do not span the full space of eigenstates. Instead they are the highest-weight (or "primary") vectors as can be shown via the algebraic Bethe ansatz [139, 166]. The remaining eigenstates ("descendants") of a multiplet can be obtained from the highest-weight state by repeatedly acting with the spin-lowering operator J_{-} . This effectively adds magnons with infinite rapidity $u = \infty$, i.e. vanishing momentum $p = 0 \mod 2\pi$, to a given set of Bethe roots. The Bethe states and their descendants have been shown to span the complete space of 2^{L} eigenstates of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian (3.3) [164].

Degeneracies in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ **spectrum.** The plethora of degeneracies in the spinchain energy spectrum translate into degeneracies in the planar spectrum of eigenoperators to the dilatation operator (1.36). For example, the M = 1 cyclic eigenstates are degenerate with the vacuum $|\emptyset\rangle$. Moreover, all descendants are degenerate with their corresponding highest-weight state. A further source of degeneracies is the invariance of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian (3.3) under parity transformations \mathcal{P} which reverse the ordering of spins inside spin chains, e.g.

$$\mathcal{P}\left|\uparrow\downarrow\downarrow\uparrow\downarrow\right\rangle = \left|\uparrow\downarrow\uparrow\downarrow\downarrow\right\rangle \ , \tag{3.30}$$

¹Note that not all combinations of L and M allow for singular solutions, for details see [163, 164].

and this gives rise to degenerate parity pairs.

Interestingly, the energies following from the Bethe equations also demonstrate a particular degeneracy relevant to the mixing problem between multi-trace operators, see e.g. [9,13,25]. For M = 2 this can be easily illustrated as one can in fact solve the Bethe equations in the cyclic case (for which $e^{i(p_1+p_2)} = 1$) for any length L. In terms of the momenta such solutions are given by

$$p_1 = -p_2 = \frac{2\pi n}{L-1} , \qquad (3.31)$$

with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $0 < n < \frac{L-1}{2}$. Thus states with different lengths L_a , L_b , and mode numbers n_a , n_b , but equal ratios

$$\frac{n_a}{L_a - 1} = \frac{n_b}{L_b - 1} \tag{3.32}$$

have equal energies. Therefore, in the planar limit, the single-trace state corresponding to the spin-chain state

$$\left|\left\{\frac{2\pi m}{L-1}, -\frac{2\pi m}{L-1}\right\}\right\rangle_L \tag{3.33}$$

is degenerate with the double-trace state corresponding to the product of two spin chains

$$\left|\left\{\frac{2\pi\tilde{m}}{L-L_{1}-1}, -\frac{2\pi\tilde{m}}{L-L_{1}-1}\right\}\right\rangle_{L-L_{1}}\left|\emptyset\right\rangle_{L_{1}}$$

$$(3.34)$$

for $\frac{\tilde{m}}{L-L_1-1} = \frac{m}{L-1}$. While it is less straightforward to show, analogous degeneracies generally also occur for higher excitation numbers and we discuss an example with L = 8, M = 3 below.

 $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector. Similar to the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ case, in the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector the one-loop dilatation operator (1.38) reduces to an integrable nearest-neighbour Hamiltonian in the planar limit that corresponds to a non-compact version of the XXX Heisenberg Hamiltonian [139]. The corresponding Bethe equations are similar to the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ case in (3.19) and given by

$$\left(\frac{u_j + \frac{i}{2}}{u_j - \frac{i}{2}}\right)^L \prod_{k \neq j}^M \frac{u_j - u_k + i}{u_j - u_k - i} = 1 .$$
(3.35)

²Note that $p_1 = -p_2 = 0$ does not correspond to an eigenstate of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian, as it is neither a highest-weight state (which have distinct Bethe roots), nor a descendant of a Bethe state.

3.1.3 Deformed planar theory

 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory is contained in a larger class of supersymmetric four-dimensional CFTs which may be reached by marginal deformations, cf. Section 1.2. One example is the β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory where planar integrability is preserved at one-loop order [70,71]. We discuss this integrable model in the closed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector in the following.

Deformed spin chain. The action of the planar piece of the dilatation operator (2.78) on $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ single-trace operators of length L > 2 is quite similar to the undeformed action (3.7), and is given by

$$H_{\beta}^{(0)} |n_1, n_2, \ldots \rangle_L = 2 \sum_{j=1}^M \left(2 |\ldots, n_j, \ldots \rangle - e^{2i\beta} |\ldots, n_j - 1, \ldots \rangle - e^{-2i\beta} |\ldots, n_j + 1, \ldots \rangle \right) . \quad (3.36)$$

It can be related to an integrable deformation of the Heisenberg Hamiltonian [70,71]

$$H_{\rm XXX}^{\beta} = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \left[\mathbb{1}_{i,i+1} - \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z - 2e^{2i\beta} \sigma_i^- \sigma_{i+1}^+ - 2e^{-2i\beta} \sigma_i^+ \sigma_{i+1}^- \right] , \qquad (3.37)$$

so that the planar spectrum can still be solved using integrability.

The SU(2) symmetry of the undeformed spin chain (3.3) is broken to a U(1) by the β -deformation, which corresponds to a conserved total spin. Thus the number of excitations $M = L - \sum_i \sigma_i^z$ is still a good quantum number and we can arrange eigenstates into sectors with fixed M. The lowest-energy states are the same as in the undeformed theory, i.e. (3.8), and we again choose $|\emptyset\rangle$ (M = 0) as the vacuum state. The one-excitation eigenstate is given by the undeformed Bethe state, but its energy becomes

$$E_{\beta}^{(0)}(p) = \varepsilon_{\beta}(p) = 4(1 - \cos(p + 2\beta)) , \qquad (3.38)$$

which is no longer degenerate with the vacuum energy for the cyclic case p = 0. For a higher number of excitations, the eigenstates are given by the Bethe ansatz (3.25) but with deformed S-matrix

$$S_{\beta}(p_j, p_k) = -\frac{e^{i(p_j + p_k)}e^{2i\beta} + e^{-2i\beta} - 2e^{ip_k}}{e^{i(p_j + p_k)}e^{2i\beta} + e^{-2i\beta} - 2e^{ip_j}}.$$
(3.39)

The Bethe equations are the same as in the undeformed theory (3.13) but with the S-matrix replaced with S_{β} and the trace cyclicity condition (3.16) is unchanged.

The dependence of the S-matrix on the deformation parameter can be removed by

defining the shifted momenta

$$\tilde{p}_j = p_j + 2\beta \tag{3.40}$$

so that

$$S_{\beta}(p_j, p_k) = -\frac{e^{i(\tilde{p}_j + \tilde{p}_k)} + 1 - 2e^{i\tilde{p}_k}}{e^{i(\tilde{p}_j + \tilde{p}_k)} + 1 - 2e^{i\tilde{p}_k}} .$$
(3.41)

Thus, if we introduce the rapidity as

$$u = \frac{1}{2}\cot\frac{\tilde{p}}{2} , \qquad (3.42)$$

both the β -deformed S-matrix S_{β} and the corresponding function h_{β} can be defined as in the undeformed case, i.e. via (3.18) and (3.20). Note however that this parametrisation makes the parameter β manifest in the Bethe equations and cyclicity condition as

$$\left(\frac{u_j + \frac{i}{2}}{u_j - \frac{i}{2}}\right)^L \prod_{k \neq j}^M \frac{u_j - u_k - i}{u_j - u_k + i} = e^{2iL\beta} \quad \text{and} \quad \prod_{j=1}^M \frac{u_j + \frac{i}{2}}{u_j - \frac{i}{2}} = e^{2iM\beta} .$$
(3.43)

Fate of multi-trace degeneracies. One consequence of the deformation is that the degeneracy occurring in the undeformed theory between M = 2 single-trace (3.33) and double-trace operators (3.34) is lifted. This can be seen from the solution of the two-magnon Bethe equations, which is to first non-vanishing order in the deformation parameter given by

$$p(m,L) = \frac{2\pi n}{L-1} - \frac{2\beta^2}{L-1} \cot\left(\frac{n\pi}{L-1}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^4) , \quad n \in \mathbb{Z} .$$
 (3.44)

For generic real values of β there will be no integers \tilde{m} and L_1 such that $p(\tilde{m}, L - L_1) = p(m, L)$ and hence the degeneracy between double- and single-trace operators is lifted. While we do not have a similar proof for states with more excitations, direct diagonalisation of the dilatation matrix for short operators shows that the degeneracy between single- and double-trace states is lifted in all cases of operators which were unprotected in the undeformed theory.

3.2 Perturbation theory in the undeformed theory

Mapping the problem of computing anomalous dimensions to that of computing integrable spin-chain energies proved to be an important step in solving the planar spectral problem. In this section we will make use of the planar results from inte-



Figure 3.1: The action of the non-planar dilatation operator on single-trace states (i) can be viewed as a simultaneous splitting of the spin-chain and an application of the planar Hamiltonian density, $H_j^{(0)}$, on pairs of non-adjacent spins. The action on double-trace operators (ii) is given by applying $H_j^{(0)}$ to pairs of spins, one drawn from each spin chain, while joining the two chains together.

grability to obtain one-loop non-planar corrections E(N) to the scaling dimension perturbatively, i.e.

$$\Delta(g,N) = L + g^2 E(N) + \mathcal{O}(g^4) , \quad \text{with} \quad E(N) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{N^k} E^{(k)} . \tag{3.45}$$

Doing so, we focus on operators in the scalar $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector. Since the subleading action H^{\pm} of the dilatation operator is length-changing, there is no $\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$ correction to planar anomalous dimensions of general single-trace operators, but instead nonplanar corrections start at $\mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$. For a given Bethe state $|\{p\}\rangle$ with planar energy $E^{(0)}(\{p\})$ these leading contributions can be computed via Rayleigh-Schrödinger perturbation theory as

$$E^{(2)}(\{p\}) \sim \sum_{\{I\}} \frac{\langle \{p\} | H^- | \{I\} \rangle \langle \{I\} | H^+ | \{p\} \rangle}{E^{(0)}(\{p\}) - E^{(0)}(\{I\})} , \qquad (3.46)$$

up to a normalisation factor, which we make precise later. The sum in (3.46) is over intermediate double-trace states $\{I\}$. In Sections 3.2.1-3.2.3 we study the action of the non-planar dilatation operator on the planar eigenstates, schematically shown in Figure 3.1, and subsequent overlaps with other Bethe states, and give examples for non-planar corrections in Section 3.2.4. However, this procedure fails when there are degeneracies in the planar spectrum. In particular, when there is a degeneracy between a single- and a double-trace state, there can be $\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$ -corrections. We will give an explicit example of such a case in Section 3.2.4.

3.2.1 Matrix elements from ordered partitions

Matrix elements of H^- . We consider first the action of H^- on a double-trace operator corresponding to the product of a length L_q Bethe state $|\{q\}\rangle$ with Q excitations and a length L_r state $|\{r\}\rangle$ with R excitations. There are L_qL_r terms corresponding to the action of the dilatation operator on each pair of sites of the two spin chains. The terms where it acts on a Z field at the *i*-th site of one of them can be rewritten using the Bethe equations, so that they become equivalent to the action on a Z at the first site. This can be seen by gathering all the terms in the state (3.9) with a Zfield at the *i*-th site and using the cyclicity and Bethe equation to write them with the Z field at the first position:

$$\sum_{l=0}^{M} \sum_{\substack{1 \le n_1 < \ldots < n_l \le i-1 \\ i+1 \le n_{l+1} < \ldots < n_M \le L}} \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} | n_1, \ldots, n_l \rangle_{i-1} \otimes |Z\rangle \otimes |n_{l+1}, \ldots, n_M \rangle_{L-i} = \sum_{2 \le n_1 < \ldots < n_M \le L} \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} |Z\rangle \otimes |\{n\}\rangle_{L-1} .$$
(3.47)

Analogously, the action on an X field at the *i*-th site can be rewritten as the action on the same chain with the X field placed at the first site by realising that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{M} \sum_{\substack{1 \le n_1 < \dots < n_l = i \\ i = n_l < \dots < n_M \le L}} \psi_{n_1,\dots,n_l=i,\dots,n_M}^{\{p\}} |n_1,\dots,n_l = i,\dots,n_M\rangle = \sum_{\substack{1 = n_1 < \dots < n_M \le L}} \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} |\{n\}\rangle . \quad (3.48)$$

With these and similar simplifications the action of H^- on the double-trace state can be written as

$$H^{-}|\{q\}\rangle|\{r\}\rangle = 2L_{q}L_{r}\left(\sum_{\substack{1 \leq m_{1} < \ldots < m_{Q} = L_{q} \\ 2 \leq n_{1} < \ldots < n_{R} \leq L_{r}}} \psi_{\{m\}}^{\{q\}}\psi_{\{n\}}^{\{r\}}|\{m\}_{\hat{Q}}\rangle \otimes |[X,Z]\rangle \otimes |\{n+L_{q}\}\rangle + \sum_{\substack{1 \leq m_{1} < \ldots < n_{R} \leq L_{r} \\ 1 \leq m_{1} < \ldots < m_{Q} \leq L_{q} - 1 \\ 1 = n_{1} < \ldots < n_{R} \leq L_{r}}} \psi_{\{m\}}^{\{q\}}\psi_{\{n\}}^{\{r\}}|\{m\}\rangle \otimes |[Z,X]\rangle \otimes |\{n+L_{q}\}_{\hat{1}}\rangle + \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\}\right),$$

$$(3.49)$$

where the terms on the right-hand side all correspond to single-trace operators.

The overlap with a dual state $\langle \{p\} |$, of length $L_p = L_q + L_r$ and with P = Q + R

excitations, can then be computed

$$\langle \{p\} | H^{-} | \{q\} \rangle | \{r\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{q}L_{r} \mathcal{N}(p^{*},q,r) \sum_{\rho,\sigma,\tau} \frac{1}{h_{>}^{\{p_{\rho}^{*}\}} h_{<}^{\{q_{\sigma}\}} h_{<}^{\{r_{\tau}\}}}$$

$$\times \left(\delta_{Q \neq 0} (e^{ip_{\rho(Q)}^{*}} - 1) e^{iL_{q}q_{\sigma(Q)}} e^{-i(L_{q}+1)(p_{\rho}^{*})_{Q}^{Q+R}} P_{L_{q}} \left(\{q_{\sigma} - p_{\rho}^{*}\}_{1}^{Q-1} \right) P_{L_{r}} \left(r_{\tau} - \{p_{\rho}^{*}\}_{Q+1}^{Q+R} \right)$$

$$+ \delta_{Q \neq 0} (1 - e^{ip_{\rho(R+1)}^{*}}) e^{-i(L_{r}+1)(p_{\rho}^{*})_{R+1}^{Q+R}} P_{L_{q}} \left(\{q_{\sigma}\}_{2}^{Q} - \{p_{\rho}^{*}\}_{R+2}^{R+Q} \right) P_{L_{r}} \left(r_{\tau} - \{p_{\rho}^{*}\}_{1}^{R} \right)$$

$$+ \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\} \right),$$

$$(3.50)$$

where we define the sets $\{t_{\lambda}\}_{a}^{b} := \{t_{\lambda(a)}, \ldots, t_{\lambda(b)}\}$ and denote products of exponentials over such sets using the notation $e^{iL(t_{\lambda})_{a}^{b}} := \prod_{i=a}^{b} e^{iLt_{\lambda(i)}}$. The factors of $P_{L}(z)$ in (3.50) correspond to the geometric sums of exponentials in the wavefunctions which can be rewritten as sums over ordered partitions

$$P_L(z) := \sum_{1 \le n_1 < \dots < n_{|z|} \le L-1} e^{iz \cdot n} = \sum_{l=0}^{|z|} \prod_{k=1}^l \frac{1}{e^{-i\sum_{j=k}^l z_j} - 1} \prod_{k=l+1}^{|z|} \frac{e^{iz_k L}}{e^{i\sum_{j=l+1}^k z_j} - 1} .$$
(3.51)

Matrix elements of H^+ . Using these notations we can write a similar expression for overlaps of H^+ as sums over ordered partitions:

$$\langle \{r\} | \langle \{q\} | H^{+} | \{p\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{p} \mathcal{N}_{+}(p, q^{*}, r^{*}) \sum_{\rho, \sigma, \tau} \frac{1}{h_{<}^{\{p_{\rho}\}} h_{>}^{\{q_{\sigma}^{*}\}} h_{>}^{\{r_{\tau}^{*}\}}}$$

$$\times \left(\delta_{Q \neq 0} (e^{iq_{\sigma(Q)}^{*}} - 1) e^{-iL_{q}q_{\sigma(Q)}^{*}} e^{i(L_{q}-1)\{p_{\rho}\}_{Q}^{Q+R}} P_{L_{q}-1} \left(\{p_{\rho} - q_{\sigma}^{*}\}_{1}^{Q-1} \right) P_{L_{r}+1} \left(\{p_{\rho}\}_{Q+1}^{Q+R} - r_{\tau}^{*} \right) \right)$$

$$+ \delta_{Q \neq 0} (1 - e^{iq_{\sigma(1)}^{*}}) e^{i(L_{r}+1)(p_{\rho})_{R+1}^{R+Q}} P_{L_{q}-1} \left(\{p_{\rho}\}_{R+2}^{R+Q} - \{q_{\sigma}^{*}\}_{2}^{Q} \right) P_{L_{r}+1} \left(\{p_{\rho}\}_{1}^{R} - r_{\tau}^{*} \right)$$

$$+ \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\} \right).$$

$$(3.52)$$

The normalisation in this case is defined slightly differently with $\mathcal{N}_{+} = \mathcal{N}/S$, where S is a symmetry factor that equals 2 when the states in the double trace are equal and 1 otherwise.

Carrying out the geometric sums via (3.51) makes these formulas useful for analysing states of arbitrary lengths. However, while these expressions are reasonably compact, they involve sums over permutations for each of the sets of external momenta and so they quickly become impractical as the number of excitations grows. The same growth is known from the computation of spin-chain scalar products in the coordinate Bethe ansatz and by making use of known results in this framework we can find further simplifications.

3.2.2 Matrix elements from spin-chain scalar products

The scalar product of two Bethe states

$$\langle \{l\} | \{k\} \rangle_L = \sum_{1 \le n_1 < \dots < n_{|k|} \le L} \psi^{\{l\}}_{\{n\}} \psi^{\{k\}}_{\{n\}} = \mathcal{N}(k, l^*) \sum_{\rho, \sigma} \frac{P_{L+1}(k_\rho - l^*_{\sigma})}{h^{\{l_\sigma\}}_{>} h^{\{k_\rho\}}_{<}}$$
(3.53)

involves double sums over permutations and so is generally complicated to evaluate. Fortunately, there are well-known formulas for such scalar products which were developed in the algebraic Bethe ansatz approach to integrable spin chains (see Appendix B for a brief review). In the case where both sets of momenta $\{k\}$ and $\{l\}$ do not satisfy the Bethe equations (i.e. they are off-shell), the scalar product can be written as a sum over partitions of the sets of momenta into subsets of equal cardinality [167], cf. (B.14). Similar simplifications can be used to rewrite the expressions (3.50) and (3.52). Each term in the formulas for the overlaps non-trivially involves one momentum of an excitation from the single-trace operator, which we label p_j , and one excitation momentum from the double-trace operator, i.e. from either $\{q\}$ or $\{r\}$, which we label as q_i or r_i . The remaining momenta are simply contracted using a rescaled spin-chain scalar product

$$(\{l\}|\{k\})_L := \frac{\langle\{l\}|\{k\}\rangle_L}{\mathcal{N}(k, l^*)} . \tag{3.54}$$

We can thus write the overlaps (3.50) and (3.52) in terms of the off-shell scalar products by splitting the single-trace excitation momenta into three subsets, $\{p\} = s \cup t \cup \{p_j\}$, with the cardinality of s equal to that of $\{q\}_{\hat{i}}$ (or $\{r\}_{\hat{i}}$) and the cardinality of t equal to that of $\{r\}$ (resp. $\{q\}$). In terms of off-shell scalar products, the overlap of H^- can then be written as a sum over all such splittings

$$\langle \{p\} | H^{-} | \{q\} \rangle | \{r\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{q}L_{r} \mathcal{N}(p^{*}, q, r) \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ s \cup t = \{p\}_{\hat{j}}}} \frac{e^{ip_{j}^{*}} - 1}{h^{q_{i}q_{\hat{i}}}} [s_{\bigcirc}^{L_{q}+1*} - t_{\bigcirc}^{L_{r}+1*}] (s|\{q\}_{\hat{i}})_{L_{q}-1} (t|\{r\})_{L_{r}-1}$$

$$+ \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\}$$

$$(3.55)$$

and that of H^+ as

$$\langle \{r\} | \langle \{q\} | H^{+} | \{p\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{p} \mathcal{N}_{+}(p, q^{*}, r^{*}) \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ s \cup t = \{p\}_{\hat{j}}}} \frac{e^{iq_{i}^{*}} - 1}{h^{q_{i}^{*}q_{i}^{*}}} [s_{j \circlearrowright}^{L_{q}-1} - t_{j \circlearrowright}^{L_{r}+1}] (\{q\}_{\hat{i}} | s)_{L_{q}-2} (\{r\} | t)_{L_{r}}$$

$$+ \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\} .$$

$$(3.56)$$

In addition to the scalar products of Bethe states these expressions involve factors of the form $(e^{ip} - 1)$, which are essentially the same as arise in the planar dilatation operator, and ordering factors for which we introduced the notation

$$s_{j\,\bigcirc}^{L} = \frac{e^{-iLs}}{h^{p_{j}t}h^{sp_{j}}h^{st}} , \quad t_{j\,\bigcirc}^{L} = \frac{e^{-iLt}}{h^{p_{j}s}h^{tp_{j}}h^{ts}} .$$
(3.57)

These terms account for the phase acquired by the p_j magnon as it is shifted around the chain before being contracted with a magnon from the double-trace operator. For each configuration there are two different ways to carry out this reordering and the overlap is a superposition of both.

Spin-chain scalar products have previously appeared in the context of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in the computation of structure constants. In the all-order hexagon approach [20], structure constants are written as sums over partitions of the magnon excitations and it was noted that this formulation is related to the scalar-product formula of Korepin [167]. It is therefore convenient to use a tree-level version of the hexagon formulation of scalar products

$$(\{l(v)\}|\{k(u)\}) = (-1)^{M} \prod_{j=1}^{M} (u_{j} + i/2)(v_{j}^{*} - i/2) \sum_{\substack{\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{k\}\\\beta \cup \bar{\beta} = \{l^{*}\}}} \frac{e^{iL(\bar{\alpha} - \bar{\beta})}G(\alpha, \beta)G(\bar{\beta}, \bar{\alpha})}{h^{\alpha \bar{\alpha}}h^{\bar{\beta}\beta}} ,$$
(3.58)

where

$$G(\alpha(u), \beta(v^*)) = \frac{\det\left[\frac{i}{(u_j - v_k^*)(u_j - v_k^* + i)}\right] \prod_{j,k} (u_j - v_k^* + i)}{\prod_{j < k} (u_k - u_j)(v_j^* - v_k^*)} , \qquad (3.59)$$

in order to rewrite the overlaps (3.55) and (3.56).

3.2.3 A hexagon-like formulation

Hexagons in structure constants. In the previous section we obtained the nonplanar dilatation operator matrix elements as sums over partitions of the rapidities, in a way that is reminiscent of the hexagon formulation of three-point correlation functions [20]. In that context, the partitions of the rapidities arise naturally in the large-volume regime where the correlation function is broken down to its simplest building blocks, the hexagon form factors. Crucially, these form factors satisfy a set of axioms which, together with the diagonal symmetries and some educated guesswork, can be used to obtain an all-loop description of structure constants. A particular feature of the hexagon is its conical defect which is associated with the existence of three asymptotic regions and corresponds to a monodromy composed by three crossing operations. In the context of non-planar overlaps between a single-trace and a double-trace operator, a similar role seems to be played by the three distinct traces. In this section we investigate the properties of the objects arising from the action of H^+ and H^- and find that they satisfy some of the form factor axioms appearing in the context of correlation functions.

The sum over determinants occurring in our rewriting of off-shell scalar products (3.58) can be found in a straightforward way from the hexagonalisation of three-point functions [20]. To be precise, we consider the three-point function of two unprotected operators in the SU(2) sector, one with X excitations and the other with \bar{X} , and one rotated half-BPS operator. The X and \bar{X} fields must be Wick contracted at tree level in order to produce a non-vanishing contribution. If there are l Wick contractions between the excited operators, then the structure constant is

$$C_{\{p\}|\{q\}}^{\bar{X}|X} \propto \sum_{\substack{\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{p\}\\\beta \cup \bar{\beta} = \{q\}}} \omega_l(\alpha, \bar{\alpha}) \omega_{L_q - l}(\beta, \bar{\beta}) \mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta) \mathcal{H}(\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha}) , \qquad (3.60)$$

with the splitting factor defined as

$$\omega_l(\alpha, \bar{\alpha}) = e^{i\bar{\alpha}l} \prod_{\substack{u_i \in \bar{\alpha}, u_j \in \alpha \\ i < j}} S(u_i, u_j) .$$
(3.61)

The hexagon function \mathcal{H} in this particular configuration is simply related to our determinant expression (3.59) by

$$\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta) = h_{<}^{\alpha} h_{<}^{\beta} G(\alpha, \beta) .$$
(3.62)

The hexagon description of three-point functions allows the evaluation of general configurations where all three operators are excited. If we now let two of the operators have \bar{X} excitations, while the other is composed of X fields, then the structure constant becomes

$$C_{\{p\}|\{q\}|\{r\}}^{\bar{X}|X|\bar{X}} \propto \sum_{\substack{\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{p\}\\ \beta \cup \bar{\beta} = \{q\}\\ \gamma \cup \bar{\gamma} = \{r\}}} \omega_{l_{pq}}(\alpha, \bar{\alpha}) \omega_{l_{qr}}(\beta, \bar{\beta}) \omega_{l_{pr}}(\gamma, \bar{\gamma}) \mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) \mathcal{H}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha}) , \qquad (3.63)$$

where l_{ij} denotes the number of Wick contractions between operators *i* and *j* at tree level and the sum over partitions is further restricted by the fact that $\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)$ is non-vanishing only when the cardinality of β matches that of $\alpha \cup \gamma$. It is interesting to note that while (3.63) is given as a sum over partitions of three sets of rapidities, a naive tree-level evaluation would give rise to geometric sums naturally yielding a sum over five partitions

$$C_{\{p\}|\{q\}|\{r\}}^{\bar{X}|\bar{X}} \propto \sum_{\substack{\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{p\} \\ \gamma \cup \bar{\gamma} = \{r\} \\ \beta \cup \bar{\beta} = s}} \sum_{\substack{\delta \cup \bar{\delta} = s \\ \delta \cup \bar{\delta} = t}} \frac{e^{i(\bar{\alpha} - \bar{\beta})l_{12}} e^{i(\bar{\gamma} - \bar{\delta})l_{23}} e^{isl_{12}}}{h^{\alpha \bar{\alpha}} h^{\gamma \bar{\gamma}} h^{\bar{\delta}\delta} h^{\bar{\beta}\beta} h^{ts}} G(\alpha, \beta) G(\bar{\beta}, \bar{\alpha}) G(\gamma, \delta) G(\bar{\delta}, \bar{\gamma}) .$$

$$(3.64)$$

The equivalence of these descriptions follows from the tree-level relation

$$\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}\sum_{\mu\cup\nu=\beta}\frac{G(\alpha,\mu)G(\nu,\gamma)}{h^{\mu\nu}} .$$
(3.65)

Note that, computationally speaking, (3.63) is not necessarily a more efficient version of (3.64) as the objects $\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)$ do not have a known compact determinant description. Nevertheless, there is a conceptual advantage due to the fact that hexagon functions can be bootstrapped: their known analytical properties allow for an integrabilitybased framework to directly compute them at any coupling, thus circumventing the perturbative evaluation of three-point functions by methods such as Feynman diagrams. Specifically, the hexagon functions obey the Watson equation

$$\mathcal{H}(\dots|\dots,\beta_i,\beta_{i+1},\dots|\dots) = S(\beta_i,\beta_{i+1})\mathcal{H}(\dots|\dots,\beta_{i+1},\beta_i\dots|\dots) , \qquad (3.66)$$

which holds similarly for an exchange of excitations in the other edges, and they also satisfy the decoupling conditions

$$-i \operatorname{Res}_{\alpha_{|\alpha|}=\beta_{1}} \left[\mathcal{H}(\dots,\alpha_{|\alpha|}|\beta_{1},\dots|\dots) \right] = \mathcal{H}(\dots,\alpha_{|\alpha|-1}|\beta_{2},\dots|\dots) ,$$

$$-i \operatorname{Res}_{\beta_{|\beta|}=\gamma_{1}} \left[\mathcal{H}(\dots|\dots,\beta_{|\beta|}|\gamma_{1},\dots) \right] = \mathcal{H}(\dots,|\dots,\beta_{|\beta|-1}|\gamma_{2},\dots) .$$
(3.67)

Together with the diagonal symmetries of three-point functions, these form-factor axioms allow the determination of the hexagon functions at any value of the coupling [20].

Hexagons in non-planar overlaps. With this in mind, we can attempt a similar rewriting of the dilatation-operator overlaps. It is useful to work with normalised spin-chain states where we divide by the norms of on-shell Bethe states $||\{p\}|| := \sqrt{\langle \{p\}|\{p\}\rangle}$. These can be conveniently calculated using the Gaudin formula (B.16)

which for the coordinate Bethe-ansatz normalisation is

$$\|\{p(u)\}\|^2 = (-1)^M \prod_j (u_j + i/2)(u_j - i/2) \det \partial_u \phi(u)$$
(3.68)

with ϕ defined in (3.13). This can be combined with the normalisation factors of the overlaps to define a new normalisation factor

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(p(u), q(v), r(w)) = \frac{\mathcal{N}(p, q, r)}{h_{<}^{\{p\}} h_{<}^{\{q\}} h_{<}^{\{r\}} \sqrt{\det \partial_u \phi(u) \det \partial_v \phi(v) \det \partial_w \phi(w)}} , \qquad (3.69)$$

where we used the fact that solutions of the Bethe equations are invariant under complex conjugation, e.g. $\{u^*\} = \{u\}$ [168], and the cyclicity condition to simplify the expressions³. The overlap with normalised external states can then be written as

$$V^{-}(q,r;p) = 2L_{q}L_{r}\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(p,q,r)\sum_{\substack{\alpha\cup\bar{\alpha}=\{q\}\\\beta\cup\bar{\beta}=\{p\}\\\gamma\cup\bar{\gamma}=\{r\}}}\omega_{L_{q}}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha})\omega_{L_{r}}(\beta,\bar{\beta})\omega_{0}(\gamma,\bar{\gamma}) \times \left[\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)\left(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{-}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha})+\mathcal{H}_{2}^{-}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha})\right)+\left(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{-}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)+\mathcal{H}_{2}^{-}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)\right)\mathcal{H}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha})\right],$$

$$(3.70)$$

where \mathcal{H} is the same as in (3.65), and we define the new functions \mathcal{H}_i^- as

$$\mathcal{H}_{1}^{-}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}\sum_{\substack{i,j\\\mu\cup\nu=\beta_{j}}}\frac{(e^{i\beta_{j}}-1)(e^{-i\beta_{j}}-1)(e^{i\alpha_{i}}-1)G(\alpha_{i},\mu)G(\nu,\gamma)}{e^{i(\mu+\gamma-\alpha_{i}-\nu)}h^{\alpha_{i}\alpha_{i}}h^{\mu\beta_{j}}h^{\beta_{j}\nu}h^{\mu\nu}},$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{-}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}\sum_{\substack{i,j\\\mu\cup\nu=\beta_{j}}}\frac{(e^{i\beta_{j}}-1)(e^{-i\beta_{j}}-1)(e^{-i\gamma_{i}}-1)G(\alpha,\mu)G(\nu,\gamma_{i})}{e^{i(\mu+\gamma_{i}-\alpha-\nu)}h^{\gamma_{i}\gamma_{i}}h^{\mu\beta_{j}}h^{\beta_{j}\nu}h^{\mu\nu}}}.$$
 (3.71)

We remind the reader that $\mu_{\hat{k}}$ denotes the set of rapidities μ without μ_k , following the notation introduced in (3.24), while the short-hand notations for products are defined in (3.23). This decomposition of the overlap in (3.70) seems to fit the splitting of Figure 3.1 (ii) particularly well. By cutting the pair of pants depicted in that figure, one would naively expect the side facing away to be represented by the original hexagon \mathcal{H} of (3.65), while the side facing forward should lead to a new structure containing the action of the commutator from the dilatation operator. Similarly, the

³There is a potential ambiguity in our simplifications arising from square roots of S-matrices in \mathcal{N} . In principle, there exist combinations of rapidities such that products of S-matrices cross the square-root branch cut resulting in additional minus signs in the normalisation. Nevertheless, the same ambiguity seems to appear in the Gaudin norm and so these signs cancel. Moreover, the signs appear symmetrically in the overlaps of H^- and H^+ and thus certainly cancel in the calculation of energies.

overlap V^+ can be rewritten as

$$V^{+}(p;q,r) = 2L_{p}\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_{+}(p,q,r)\sum_{\substack{\alpha\cup\bar{\alpha}=\{q\}\\\beta\cup\bar{\beta}=\{p\}\\\gamma\cup\bar{\gamma}=\{r\}}}\omega_{L_{q}}(\alpha,\bar{\alpha})\omega_{L_{r}}(\beta,\bar{\beta})\omega_{0}(\gamma,\bar{\gamma}) \times \left[\mathcal{H}_{0}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)\left(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{+}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha}) + \mathcal{H}_{2}^{+}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha})\right) + \left(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) + \mathcal{H}_{2}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma)\right)\mathcal{H}_{0}^{+}(\bar{\gamma}|\bar{\beta}|\bar{\alpha})\right], \quad (3.72)$$

where the normalisation is now $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_{+} = \widetilde{\mathcal{N}}/S$, with S a symmetry factor that equals 2 when the states in the double-trace are the same, and 1 otherwise, and we have further defined the functions \mathcal{H}_{i}^{+}

$$\mathcal{H}_{0}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}\sum_{\mu\cup\nu=\beta}e^{i(\alpha-\mu)}\frac{G(\alpha,\mu)G(\nu,\gamma)}{h^{\mu\nu}}, \\
\mathcal{H}_{1}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}e^{i(\alpha+\gamma-\beta)}\sum_{\substack{i,j\\\mu\cup\nu=\beta_{\hat{j}}}}\frac{(e^{i\alpha_{i}}-1)(e^{-i\alpha_{i}}-1)(e^{-i\beta_{j}}-1)G(\alpha_{\hat{i}},\mu)G(\nu,\gamma)}{e^{i(\mu-\alpha_{\hat{i}})}h^{\alpha_{i}\alpha_{\hat{i}}}h^{\mu\beta_{j}}h^{\beta_{j}\nu}h^{\mu\nu}}, \\
\mathcal{H}_{2}^{+}(\alpha|\beta|\gamma) = h_{<}^{\alpha}h_{<}^{\beta}h_{<}^{\gamma}\sum_{\substack{i,j\\\mu\cup\nu=\beta_{\hat{j}}}}\frac{(e^{i\gamma_{i}}-1)(e^{-i\gamma_{i}}-1)(e^{i\beta_{j}}-1)G(\alpha,\mu)G(\nu,\gamma_{\hat{i}})}{e^{i(\gamma_{\hat{i}}-\nu)}h^{\gamma_{\hat{i}}\gamma_{i}}h^{\mu\beta_{j}}h^{\beta_{j}\nu}h^{\mu\nu}}.$$
(3.73)

Unfortunately, in this case we are not able to write any of the new objects in terms of the original hexagon function \mathcal{H} , since the partitions of the rapidities β into μ and ν appear with a distinct structure. The decomposition is however very similar to that of V^- , and seems to match once again the intuition derived from Figure 3.1 (i), with the cutting producing a product between a simpler structure with a more complex ones. Although these formulas appear quite involved, once the rapidities are known they can be straightforwardly evaluated by using a suitable computer program such as Mathematica.

While the expressions (3.70) and (3.72) are a post hoc massaging of the expressions in (3.55) and (3.56), when written in this form they clearly resemble the formulas for structure constants. Importantly, the new objects \mathcal{H}_i^+ and \mathcal{H}_i^- also obey the Watson equations (3.66) and decoupling conditions (3.67), which follows from the analogous properties of the object $\mathcal{H}(\alpha|\beta)$ defined in (3.62). This is non-trivial as it occurs only for certain functions of the rapidities in the summands of (3.71) and (3.73) and hints towards the possibility that non-planar dilatation-operator overlaps can be written in terms of hexagon-like objects and potentially bootstrapped, even at higher orders in perturbation theory. Alternatively, and given that the configuration of traces corresponds to an extremal setup, it might also be natural to consider a decomposition



Figure 3.2: Both V^+ and V^- can be seen as a pair of pants where the asymptotic regions correspond to the three distinct traces involved in the overlap. We have found that each of them can be decomposed into hexagon-like objects satisfying the Watson and decoupling conditions. By glueing them together one can reconstruct the torus, thus finding the non-planar corrections to two-point functions.

into octagon form factors [169, 170]. One can massage the expressions in (3.70) and (3.72) such that they are of the form

$$V^{\pm} \propto \sum_{\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{p\}} \omega_{L_r}(\alpha, \bar{\alpha}) \ \mathcal{O}(\{q\} | \alpha | \{r\} | \bar{\alpha}) \ , \tag{3.74}$$

and while there is no benefit in such a rewriting at tree-level, the octagon might be better suited for a higher-loop bootstrap.

The matrix elements V^{\pm} are relevant for non-planar corrections of the one-loop anomalous dimensions according to (3.46). This expression contains a sum over intermediate double-trace operators, which has a natural representation of cutting a torus into two pairs of pants. The fact that the overlaps themselves have a decomposition into hexagon-like objects therefore seems to indicate a possible tessellation of the torus as depicted in Figure 3.2. The decomposition of each pair of pants into octagons would arise from cutting only along the seams that are adjacent to the single-trace operator, while keeping the zero-length bridges between the components of the double-trace operator intact.

There is an implicit notion of crossing that comes with the decoupling condition. It is natural to imagine that, once such an operation is defined, the excitations can be moved around, so that we relate the hexagon-like objects to a single function where all rapidities are on the same edge. It is upon crossing of the excitations in (3.67) to the same edge that a particle-antiparticle pair $\bar{X}(u^{2\gamma})X(u)$ can form in a manifest way and decouple from the corresponding form factor. Such a formulation of \mathcal{H}_i^+ and $\mathcal{H}_i^$ with all excitations on the same edge would also be the ideal setup for implementing a bootstrap of those objects. Unfortunately, crossing operations do not commute with the perturbative expansion, and since our one-loop analysis gives access only to the more complicated form of these objects, we were not able to further explore the possibility of such a bootstrap programme.

3.2.4 Anomalous dimensions from overlaps

The main goal in calculating the above overlaps is to perturbatively compute the leading non-planar correction to operator anomalous dimensions using first-order Rayleigh–Schrödinger perturbation theory. We denote the planar energies as $E^{(0)}$ and their non-planar corrections at order N^{-k} as $E^{(k)}$. Given a single-trace operator characterised by momenta $\{p(u)\}$, satisfying the Bethe equations, and by its planar energy $E^{(0)}(\{p\})$, the non-planar correction is, cf. (3.46),

$$E^{(2)}(\{p\}) = \sum_{\{I\}} \frac{V^{-}(p;I)V^{+}(I;p)}{E^{(0)}(\{p\}) - E^{(0)}(\{I\})} .$$
(3.75)

The sum over I is taken over all intermediate double-trace states

$$|I\rangle = |\{q\}\rangle_{L_q} |\{r\}\rangle_{L_r} \tag{3.76}$$

where we must sum over all lengths $1 < L_q < L_p - 1$ and for each length sum also over all solutions $\{q\}, \{r\}$ of the Bethe equations corresponding to operators of lengths L_q and L_r and planar energy $E^{(0)}(\{I\}) = E^{(0)}(\{q\}) + E^{(0)}(\{r\})$.

A length-six example. As a simple example let us consider the unprotected operators of length six in the [2, 2, 2] SO(6) representation. There are two single-trace operators with planar energies and rapidities given by

$$E_{(6,2a)}^{(0)} = 2(5+\sqrt{5}) , \qquad u_{(6,2a),1} = -u_{(6,2a),2} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1-\frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}} ,$$
$$E_{(6,2b)}^{(0)} = 2(5-\sqrt{5}) , \qquad u_{(6,2b),1} = -u_{(6,2b),2} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{1+\frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}} , \qquad (3.77)$$

both of which mix with the double-trace operator with

$$E_{(4,2)}^{(0)} = 12$$
, $u_{(4,2),1} = -u_{(4,2),2} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}$. (3.78)

The overlaps can be simply found from the general formulas (3.70) and (3.72)

$$V^{-}(u_{(6,2a)}; u_{(4,2)}, \emptyset) = \frac{4}{3}(5 + 3\sqrt{5}) , \qquad V^{-}(u_{(6,2b)}; u_{(4,2)}, \emptyset) = \frac{4}{3}(5 - 3\sqrt{5}) ,$$

$$V^{+}(u_{(4,2)}, \emptyset; u_{(6,2a)}) = V^{+}(u_{(4,2)}, \emptyset; u_{(6,2b)}) = 6\sqrt{2} .$$
(3.79)

The resulting non-planar corrections are

$$E_{(6,2a)}^{(2)} = 8(5+2\sqrt{5})$$
 and $E_{(6,2b)}^{(2)} = 8(5-2\sqrt{5})$. (3.80)

These results are in agreement with those found by direct calculation [171], and also follow from directly diagonalising the dilatation operator [13].

Solution for M = 2 and BMN limit. If there are only two magnons in a cyclic spin chain, one can solve the Bethe equations via (3.31). Given such a complete set of solutions, it is possible to numerically carry out the sum over intermediate states so that one can quite efficiently compute the corrections to energies even for long states, e.g. n = 1 for L = 100, 250, 400, which to six digits gives

$$E_{L=\{100,250,400\}}^{(2)} = L^2\{0.758732, 0.770021, 0.772582\}.$$
 (3.81)

From this and similar numerical examples it can be seen that the corrections to the energies of long operators scale as L^2/N^2 . This is essentially the well-known BMN limit [172] where one considers operators with large R-charge J. The non-planar corrections to two-magnon states in the BMN limit were computed in [6, 25], see also [9, 173], and shown to be

$$\Delta_n = L + g' \left[16\pi n^2 + g_2^2 \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{35}{8\pi^2 n^2} \right) \right] \,. \tag{3.82}$$

It is straightforward to check that our general expressions reproduce this result by substituting the large-L solution for the two-magnon rapidities,

$$u_{n,1} = -u_{n,2} = \frac{L-1}{2\pi n} + \mathcal{O}(L^{-1}) , \qquad (3.83)$$

into (3.70) and (3.72) and taking the large-L limit. Doing so, we must consider the overlaps with all double-trace operators consisting of a vacuum state of length (1-r)L and a two-magnon state with rapidities $u_{m,1} = -u_{m,2} = \frac{rL-1}{2\pi m}$. Following [9] we then expand in L, sum over $m = 0, \ldots, \infty$ and approximate the sum over intermediate lengths by an integral over r from 0 to 1. At leading order in J = L-2 this reproduces (3.82), while at subleading order we find the same result but with J replaced with L-1 = J+1 which is the natural parameter from the perspective of the Bethe equations.

Example for a degenerate parity pair. It is naturally interesting to consider higher numbers of excitations. For example at L = 7 with three excitations, i.e. for states in the [3, 1, 3] representation, we have two single-trace operators with planar dimensions $E_{(7,3a/b)}^{(0)} = 10$. Due to the degeneracy of the states, a naive application of relation (3.75) will fail as it is not clear which linear combination of the Bethe states to use as planar eigenstates. We may use the fact that the two degenerate states are distinguished by their transformation under the parity operation (3.30) [13], which

commutes with the complete non-planar dilatation operator. Thus the non-planar eigenoperators must have definite parity, and consequently so do their planar limits. The rapidities for the two L = 7 and M = 3 Bethe solutions $u_{(7,3a)}$ and $u_{(7,3b)}$ can be easily found using the method (and Mathematica programme) of [174]. They can be seen to transform into each other under parity, which acts on finite rapidities by $u_i \rightarrow -u_i$, while rapidities at infinity are left invariant. The two parity eigenstates can then be formed from the corresponding Bethe eigenstates as

$$|\pm\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|u_{(7,3a)}\rangle \pm |u_{(7,3b)}\rangle) .$$
 (3.84)

Having identified the proper planar linear combinations, we can proceed by computing the mixing with double-trace operators. We choose as our basis of double-trace operators

$$|u_{(5,3)}\rangle_{5}|\emptyset\rangle_{2}$$
, $|u_{(5,2)}\rangle_{5}|\infty\rangle_{2}$, $|u_{(4,2)}\rangle_{4}|\infty\rangle_{3}$, (3.85)

where we have labelled the Bethe states by the magnon rapidities rather than the momenta, and $u_{(5,3)} = \{\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, \infty\}$, and $u_{(5,2)} = \{\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\}$. The first two operators both have positive parity and the linear combination

$$\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} |u_{(5,3)}\rangle_5 |\emptyset\rangle_2 - \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}} |u_{(5,2)}\rangle_5 |\infty\rangle_2$$
(3.86)

is a non-protected operator in the [3, 1, 3] representation. The other linear combination is a descendant of a two-excitation double-trace operator from [2, 3, 2]. The nonvanishing overlaps following from (3.70) and (3.72) are

$$V^{-}(u_{(7,3a)}; u_{(5,3)}, \emptyset) = V^{-}(u_{(7,3b)}; u_{(5,3)}, \emptyset) = +2\sqrt{\frac{14}{3}} ,$$

$$V^{-}(u_{(7,3a)}; u_{(5,2)}, \infty) = V^{-}(u_{(7,3b)}; u_{(5,2)}, \infty) = -2\sqrt{\frac{7}{3}} ,$$

$$V^{+}(u_{(5,3)}, \emptyset; u_{(7,3a)}) = V^{+}(u_{(5,3)}, \emptyset; u_{(7,3b)}) = +40\sqrt{\frac{2}{21}} ,$$

$$V^{+}(u_{(5,2)}, \infty; u_{(7,3a)}) = V^{+}(u_{(5,2)}, \infty; u_{(7,3b)}) = -40\sqrt{\frac{1}{21}} .$$
(3.87)

The overlaps involving $|u_{(4,2)}\rangle_4 |\infty\rangle_3$ are all zero as this operator is a descendant and thus cannot mix with the primary states $|\pm\rangle$. Now we apply (3.75) and find that the non-planar corrections arise from the mixing of the positive-parity eigenstate $|+\rangle$ with the double-trace state (3.86) (which has planar energy $E^{(0)} = 8$) and are given by

$$E_{(7,3+)}^{(2)} = 80 , \quad E_{(7,3-)}^{(2)} = 0 , \qquad (3.88)$$

in agreement with [13, 175].

Example for a degeneracy between single- and double-trace states. The occurrence of degenerate parity pairs in the planar limit is quite general and so to use non-degenerate perturbation theory we must work within sectors of definite parity. Unfortunately, there are further degeneracies which are relevant to the mixing problem between multi-trace operators, of which we have given an example for M = 2 in (3.33) and (3.34). As another example we consider L = 8, M = 3 for which the Bethe equations have three solutions. Two of these, whose rapidities we denote $u_{(8,3a)}$ and $u_{(8,3b)}$, form a degenerate parity pair with energy $E_{(8,3a/b)}^{(0)} = 8$, while the third is a singular solution with energy $E_{(8,3s)}^{(0)} = 12$. There is a positive-parity double-trace state

$$\sqrt{\frac{3}{4}} |u_{(5,3)}\rangle_5 |\emptyset\rangle_3 - \sqrt{\frac{1}{4}} |u_{(5,2)}\rangle_5 |\infty\rangle_3 \tag{3.89}$$

which is degenerate with the parity pair and which mixes with the positive-parity single-trace state. The mixing matrix can be computed from the overlaps and is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 8 & -\frac{4\sqrt{15}}{N} \\ -\frac{32}{\sqrt{15N}} & 8 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.90)

from which we can compute the leading corrections to the energies $E^{(1)} = \pm 8\sqrt{2}$. We can now proceed to use the corresponding eigenstates to find the subleading $1/N^2$ corrections. As we proceed to longer lengths and more impurities, the diagonalisation of the mixing matrix will rapidly become more difficult.

Deforming the theory. One way to remove above degeneracies and thus avoid this problem is to deform the theory. In principle, if we can completely solve the deformed problem, one can hope to remove the deformation parameter at the end to obtain the undeformed result. However, as this requires resumming the 1/N-corrections before removing the deformation, we will only make preliminary steps in this direction.

Another reason for considering the deformed theory is related to the occurrence of singular solutions (3.27) of the Bethe equations. Already at L = 6 and M = 3 there is a solution $\{u_1 = i/2, u_2 = -i/2, u_3 = 0\}$ for which the Bethe wavefunction is singular and a naive application of the above formulas leads to unphysical infinities. It is possible to regularise the Bethe equations by the introduction of a twist, see [165] for a useful discussion and further references, and this twist is equivalent to the deformation parameter of the β -deformed theory. We can use the solutions of the twisted Bethe equations and the overlaps of the deformed theory to compute non-planar energies which reproduce the undeformed results in the limit of vanishing deformation.

3.3 Perturbation theory in the β -deformed theory

We now move on to an analogous discussion of perturbative non-planar anomalous dimensions in β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, which we introduced in Section 1.2 and where due to the deformation of the coupling constant we do perturbation theory in the deformed 't Hooft coupling

$$\lambda_{\kappa} = |\kappa|^2 N . \tag{3.91}$$

The β -deformation modifies the action of both the planar piece and the lengthchanging pieces in the dilatation operator (2.78), but it also introduces new terms. To identify the precise decomposition of \mathfrak{D}_2^{β} , we first use the fusion and splitting formulas (1.34) to find the action on single-trace states

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}^{\beta}\operatorname{Tr}(XAZB) = \frac{2}{N} \left(e^{-i\beta} \operatorname{Tr}(A) \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}B) - e^{i\beta} \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}A) \operatorname{Tr}(B) \right) + \frac{2(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})}{N^{2}} \left(\operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}\{A, B\}) + \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}) \operatorname{Tr}(A) \operatorname{Tr}(B) \right) - \frac{4(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})}{N^{3}} \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}) \operatorname{Tr}(AB) .$$
(3.92)

Here the double-trace part of \mathfrak{D}_2^{β} contributes the triple-trace term at order $1/N^2$. Similarly, for the action on double-trace states we find

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}^{\beta}\operatorname{Tr}(XA)\operatorname{Tr}(ZB) = \frac{2}{N} \Big(e^{-i\beta}\operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}BA) - e^{i\beta}\operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}AB) \Big) \\ + \frac{2(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})}{N^{2}} \Big(\operatorname{Tr}(A) \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}B) + \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}A) \operatorname{Tr}(B) \\ + \operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}) \operatorname{Tr}(AB) \Big) \\ - \frac{4(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})}{N^{3}}\operatorname{Tr}([X, Z]_{\beta}) \operatorname{Tr}(A) \operatorname{Tr}(B) .$$
(3.93)

These relations suggest that the deformed one-loop dilatation operator can be decomposed into planar and non-planar pieces similar to the undeformed case (3.2) with additional subleading contributions as

$$\mathfrak{D}_{2}^{\beta} = H_{\beta}^{(0)} + \frac{1}{N}H_{\beta}^{-} + \frac{1}{N}H_{\beta}^{+} + \frac{1}{N^{2}}H_{\beta}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{N^{3}}H_{\beta}^{(3)} .$$
(3.94)

As for the undeformed case $H_{\beta}^{(0)}$ leaves the number of traces in an operator unchanged, while H_{β}^{\pm} increases/reduces the number of traces. $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$ and $H_{\beta}^{(3)}$ are subleading terms which only occur in the deformed theory. $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$ has a contribution which leaves the number of traces unchanged such that we have an additional term in the leading anomalous dimension correction

$$E_{\beta}^{(2)}(\{p\}) = \sum_{\{I\}} \frac{V_{\beta}^{-}(p;I)V_{\beta}^{+}(I;p)}{E_{\beta}^{(0)}(\{p\}) - E_{\beta}^{(0)}(\{I\})} + V_{\beta}^{(2)}(\{p\}) .$$
(3.95)

3.3.1 Matrix elements

The action of the non-planar dilatation operator on Bethe states and the corresponding overlaps can be computed by essentially the same methods as for the undeformed theory, the only difference being that there is an additional diagonal contribution $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$. We first compute the off-diagonal pieces H_{β}^{\pm} and then move on to the new diagonal term.

Off-diagonal overlaps. We write the overlaps of H_{β}^{\pm} using the same notation⁴ as in Section 3.2. For H_{β}^{-} the overlaps are almost identical to (3.55) and given by

$$\langle \{p\} | H_{\beta}^{-} | \{q\} \rangle | \{r\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{q}L_{r} \mathcal{N}(p^{*}, q, r) \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ s \cup t = \{p\}_{\hat{j}}}} \frac{e^{ip_{j}^{*}}e^{2i\beta} - 1}{h^{q_{i}q_{\hat{i}}}} \left[e^{-2i\beta} s_{j \circlearrowright}^{L_{q+1}*} - t_{j \circlearrowright}^{L_{r}+1*} \right] (s|\{q\}_{\hat{i}})_{L_{q}-1}(t|\{r\})_{L_{r}-1}$$

$$+ \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\} .$$

$$(3.96)$$

The function h in this formula has exactly the same form (3.20) as in the undeformed theory when written in terms of the on-shell rapidities, and similarly for the S-matrices which are implicit in the scalar products. The on-shell rapidities themselves however depend on the deformation parameter through the Bethe equations.

The overlaps of H_{β}^+ now involve additional contributions whenever one of the traces has length two and are given by

$$\langle \{r\} | \langle \{q\} | H_{\beta}^{+} | \{p\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{p} \mathcal{N}_{+}(p, q^{*}, r^{*}) \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ s \cup t = \{p\}_{\hat{j}}}} \frac{1}{h^{q_{i}^{*} q_{i}^{*}}} \Big[(e^{iq_{i}^{*}} e^{2i\beta} - 1)(e^{-2i\beta} s_{j \odot}^{L_{q}-1} - t_{j \odot}^{L_{r}+1}) \\ - 4\delta_{Q,1} \delta_{L_{q},2} \sin^{2} \beta (e^{iq_{i}^{*}} s_{j \odot}^{L_{q}-1} + t_{j \odot}^{L_{r}+1}) \Big] (\{q\}_{\hat{i}} | s)_{L_{q}-2} (\{r\} | t)_{L_{r}} \\ + \{\text{terms with } q \rightleftharpoons r\} .$$

$$(3.97)$$

As in the undeformed theory, dividing by the norms of the external states we can define the normalised overlaps V_{β}^{\pm} .

⁴Note that also in the deformed case the solutions of the deformed Bethe equations are invariant under complex conjugation which can be used to simplify the expressions.

Diagonal overlaps. The contribution $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$ in (3.94), which does not occur in the undeformed theory, contains both length-preserving and -changing parts. Here we are only interested in the former, since the computation of non-planar corrections at $\mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$ to the anomalous dimensions requires solely the diagonal overlap $\langle \{p\}|H_{\beta}^{(2)}|\{p\}\rangle$. Using (3.47) one finds for the action of $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$ on a Bethe state (3.9)

$$H_{\beta}^{(2)} |\{p\}\rangle = 2L_{p}(e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta}) \sum_{x=2}^{L_{p}} \sum_{l=1}^{P} \sum_{\substack{2 \le n_{1} < \ldots < n_{l-1} < n_{l} = x \\ x < n_{l+1} < \ldots < n_{P} \le L_{p}}} \psi_{\{n\}}^{\{p\}} \\ \times \left(|[X, Z]_{\beta}\rangle \otimes |n_{1} + 1, \ldots, n_{l-1} + 1\rangle_{x-2} \otimes |n_{l+1}, \ldots, n_{P}\rangle_{L_{p}-x} + |n_{1} - 1, \ldots, n_{l-1} - 1\rangle_{x-2} \otimes |[X, Z]_{\beta}\rangle \otimes |n_{l+1}, \ldots, n_{P}\rangle_{L_{p}-x} - 2\delta_{L_{p},2} |[X, Z]_{\beta}\rangle \right) \\ + \{ \text{double-trace terms} \} , \qquad (3.98)$$

where the $\delta_{L_{p,2}}$ -term arises from the enhanced contribution of the last double-trace term in (3.92). The diagonal overlap can then be written in terms of ordered partitions (3.51) as

$$\langle \{p\} | H_{\beta}^{(2)} | \{p\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{p} \delta_{L_{p} \neq 2} \mathcal{N}(p^{*}, p) (e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta}) \sum_{\rho, \sigma} \frac{e^{i\beta} e^{ip_{\rho(1)}^{*}} - e^{-i\beta}}{h_{>}^{\{p_{\rho}\}} h_{<}^{\{p_{\sigma}\}}}$$

$$\times \sum_{x=2}^{L_{p}} \sum_{l=1}^{P} \left(e^{i(x-1)p_{\sigma(1)}} \prod_{k=2}^{l} S_{\beta} \left(p_{\sigma(1)}, p_{\sigma(k)} \right) + 1 \right) e^{i(x-1)(p_{\sigma})_{l+1}^{P}} e^{-i(x-2)(p_{\rho}^{*})_{l+1}^{P}}$$

$$\times P_{x-1} \left(\{ p_{\sigma} - p_{\rho}^{*} \}_{2}^{l} \right) P_{L_{p}-x+1} \left(\{ p_{\sigma} - p_{\rho}^{*} \}_{l+1}^{P} \right) .$$

$$(3.99)$$

Note that $P_L(z)$ vanishes for $|z| \ge L$, cf. (3.51). In terms of scalar products of normalised Bethe states (3.53), the overlap can be written as

$$\langle \{p\} | H_{\beta}^{(2)} | \{p\} \rangle$$

$$= 2L_{p} \delta_{L_{p} \neq 2} \mathcal{N}(p^{*}, p) (e^{i\beta} - e^{-i\beta})$$

$$\times \sum_{\substack{k,l=1\\\kappa \cup \bar{\kappa} = \{p\}_{\bar{k}}\\\lambda \cup \bar{\lambda} = \{p^{*}\}_{\bar{l}}}^{P} \sum_{x=2}^{L_{p}} \frac{e^{i\beta} e^{ip_{l}^{*}} - e^{-i\beta}}{h^{p_{k}\bar{\kappa}} h^{\kappa\bar{\kappa}}} \left(\frac{e^{-i(x-1)\kappa}}{h^{\kappa p_{k}}} + \frac{e^{i(x-1)\bar{\kappa}}}{h^{p_{k}\kappa}} \right) \frac{e^{-i(x-2)\bar{\lambda}}}{h^{p_{l}^{*}p_{l}^{*}} h^{\bar{\lambda}\lambda}} (\lambda | \kappa)_{x-2} (\bar{\lambda} | \bar{\kappa})_{L_{p}-x} ,$$

$$(3.100)$$

where κ and λ are of the same cardinality, which must be smaller than x-1. Finally, we can divide by the square of the norm of the external state, $||p||^2$, to define normalised overlaps $V_{\beta}^{(2)}(\{p\})$ which can be then used to compute the energy corrections of single-trace states.

3.3.2 Anomalous dimensions

As the deformation lifts many of the degeneracies present in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, we can use the overlaps in the deformed theory to compute the corrections to energies for a wide range of states via (3.95). The additional input to such a calculation are the solutions to the deformed Bethe equations. Solving the deformed Bethe equations is generally a non-trivial task, however for short lengths it can be done either for specific numerical values of β , or by starting with the undeformed result and perturbatively solving for $\beta \ll 1$. The latter is particularly useful when we wish to use the deformation as a regulator of singular solutions of the undeformed Bethe equations. One must be careful with the order of limits as the one-loop anomalous dimensions are functions of both β and N. We may choose to first expand in large N and then small β , $E(\beta \gg N^{-1})$, by computing the energy as in (3.95) at finite β and then sending β to zero. Alternatively, we can expand first in small β and then large N, $E(\beta \ll N^{-1})$, by computing the relevant overlaps at small β and then computing the energies from the resulting expressions and (3.95). In general these two expansions will not commute.

Singular L = 6 example. For example, let us consider the L = 6, M = 3 singletrace operator described in the planar undeformed theory by the roots $\{u_1 = i/2, u_2 = -i/2, u_3 = 0\}$ and planar energy $E^{(0)} = 12$. This solution is singular as it has rapidities separated by *i*. In the undeformed theory it has a vanishing $E^{(2)}$ contribution which is due to the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ symmetry ensuring that there is no other operator with which it can mix. In the deformed theory, where the mixing problem of this operator is non-trivial, we find from direct diagonalisation that through $\mathcal{O}(N^{-4})$ (and keeping only the leading terms in the β -expansion) we have

$$E(\beta \gg N^{-1}) = (12 - 72\beta^2 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^4)) + \frac{1}{N^2} \left(-\frac{2304}{23} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^2) \right) + \frac{1}{N^4} \left(\frac{400896}{12167\beta^2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^0) \right). \quad (3.101)$$

In this expression we can see that the leading non-planar term does not reduce to the vanishing undeformed answer at $\mathcal{O}(N^{-2})$ in the $\beta \to 0$ limit, and in fact the $1/N^4$ term is singular. There will be additional singular terms at subsequent powers in the 1/N expansion. Resumming these is necessary to recover a smooth $\beta \to 0$ limit.

As the singular wavefunction in the deformed theory is perfectly regular, we can use (3.96), (3.97) and (3.100) to compute the overlaps between states relevant for the corresponding mixing problem, then take the $\beta \to 0$ limit and use the resulting expressions to perturbatively compute the undeformed non-planar correction for $\beta \ll N^{-1}$. In order to do so, we first regularise the wavefunction by solving the Bethe equations for the deformed rapidities to $\mathcal{O}(\beta^6)$, where the first non-vanishing correction occurs⁵, specifically

$$u_1^{\beta} - u_2^{\beta} = i + 24576i\beta^6 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^8) . \qquad (3.102)$$

The corresponding state mixes with the double-trace operator $|u_{(4,2)}\rangle_4\,|u_{(2,1)}\rangle_2$ of planar energy

$$E_{(4,2)}^{(0)} = 12 - \frac{32}{3}\beta^2 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^4)$$
(3.103)

with normalised overlaps

$$V_{\beta}^{+} = -48\sqrt{2}\beta$$
, $V_{\beta}^{-} = -64\sqrt{2}\beta$ (3.104)

to leading order in the β -expansion. The deformation is particularly important when calculating the norm of the singular state, which diverges in the $\beta \to 0$ limit. However, the overlaps themselves are smoothly vanishing in this limit and so, consistent with the symmetries, there is no mixing in the undeformed theory. If we instead use the overlaps (3.104) in the perturbative formula (3.75) we find a cancellation between the powers of β in the overlaps and the energy differences. As the diagonal contribution is of order $\mathcal{O}(\beta^2)$ it gives no leading contribution, and we find

$$E^{(2)}(\beta \gg N^{-1}) = -\frac{2304}{23} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^2)$$
(3.105)

in agreement with the result from direct diagonalisation.

Singular L = 8 **example.** Let us now turn to the L = 8, M = 3 singular Bethe state $|u_{(8,3s)}\rangle$ with planar energy $E_{(8,3s)}^{(0)} = 12$. This state is not protected by symmetry in the undeformed theory. Instead it mixes with the double-trace operator $|u_{(6,3s)}\rangle_6 |\emptyset\rangle_2$ made up of the length-6 singular state and length-2 vacuum. From direct diagonalisation one can find the corrected spectrum

$$E_{\pm} = 12 \pm \frac{12}{N} , \qquad (3.106)$$

where we see that due to the degeneracy the correction is $\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$. Due to the singular nature of the Bethe solution we cannot directly use the overlap formulas of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory to reproduce this result. Nevertheless, we can again compute the overlaps, and thus mixing matrix, using the regularised singular states in the deformed theory

⁵For general length-L singular states, one has to find deformed rapidities to $\mathcal{O}(\beta^L)$ to resolve the singularity.

and find that they are non-vanishing in the $\beta \to 0$ limit

$$V_{\beta}^{+} = 4\sqrt{6} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{2}) , \qquad V_{\beta}^{-} = 6\sqrt{6} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{2})$$
 (3.107)

and give the correct 1/N corrections (3.106) for $\beta \ll N^{-1}$.

Alternatively, in the deformed theory as the degeneracy between the two states is lifted, with the planar energy of the single-trace state becoming $E_{(8,3s)}^{(0)} = 12 - 36\beta^2 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^4)$, we can use the same overlaps in non-degenerate perturbation theory in the small β -limit with $\beta \gg N^{-1}$ to find the $1/N^2$ corrections in the deformed theory. The contribution of the overlaps between the two regularised singular states to $E_{(8,3s)}^{(2)}$ is $+4/\beta^2$, i.e. it is singular in the limit $\beta \to 0$. There are additional overlaps with other double-trace states, however they are subleading as is the diagonal contribution which is $\mathcal{O}(\beta^4)$. Thus for $\beta \gg N^{-1}$ the non-planar corrections start at order N^{-2} but are singular in the $\beta \to 0$ limit. This demonstrates that, in general, the two limits $\beta \to 0$ and $N^{-1} \to 0$ do not commute.

3.3.3 BMN limit

In the following we focus on two-excitation single-trace solutions and their non-planar corrections in the BMN limit [172] of large *R*-charge, $J = L - 2 \rightarrow \infty$, in the deformed theory, where the deformation parameter scales as

$$\beta = \pi b/L \tag{3.108}$$

with b fixed. Perturbation theory can be rewritten in terms of the effective loop- and genus-counting parameters

$$g' = \frac{|\kappa|^2 N}{16\pi^2 J^2}$$
 and $g_2 = \frac{J^2}{N}$, (3.109)

and thus the anomalous dimensions of two-impurity BMN operators can be written in terms of rescaled energies $\tilde{E}^{(k)} = J^{2-2k} E^{(k)}$ as

$$\Delta_n(g', g_2, b, J) = L + g' \left[\tilde{E}_n^{(0)}(b, J) + g_2^2 \tilde{E}_n^{(2)}(b, J) + \mathcal{O}(g_2^4) \right] + \mathcal{O}((g')^2) , \qquad (3.110)$$

labelled by the mode number n of the planar Bethe state. We compute $\tilde{E}_n^{(2)}(b, J)$ through $\mathcal{O}(J^{-1})$ in the following. We start by discussing the planar Bethe states, and then compute the leading non-planar corrections from perturbation theory via the overlap formulas (3.96), (3.97) and (3.100).



Figure 3.3: Planar energy levels for L = 25 and M = 2 in the deformed theory. Although in the BMN regime we take the limit of small β , this plot already hints at the different nature of the zero-mode solution corresponding to the lowest energy.

Planar states. The Bethe equations (3.13) in the deformed theory for two magnons with momenta $p_{1,2}$ are given by

$$2\pi n = Lp_1 - i\log(S_\beta(p_1, p_2)) , \qquad (3.111)$$

and its solutions are parametrised by the integer-valued mode number n. With the deformed S-matrix (3.39) being periodic in β with period π , the solutions are also periodic and symmetric around $\beta = \pi/2$. As an example we plot the cyclic solutions $(p_1 = -p_2 \mod 2\pi i)$ of (3.111) for L = 25 in Figure 3.3. All but one of the energy levels become degenerate for $\beta = \pi/4$ and this point splits the spectrum into two regions $\beta \in [0, \pi/4)$ and $\beta \in (\pi/4, \pi/2]$, where the energy levels correspond to different sets of mode numbers $\{n\}$. In the first region, n takes integer values from the range $[0, \lfloor L/2 \rfloor - 1]$ and solutions with positive n correspond to deformations of primary operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, while the zero mode (with lowest energy in this interval) becomes a descendant in the undeformed theory. In the second region, n takes values in the range $[1, \lfloor L/2 \rfloor]$, with the lowest-energy state now corresponding to $n = \lfloor L/2 \rfloor$.

In the BMN limit the deformation parameter scales as (3.108) and thus we effectively concentrate on a regime of small deformations with mode number $n \in$ [0, |L/2| - 1]. We can solve the Bethe equations in this limit perturbatively, and find that the rapidity for a strictly positive mode number n_+ is given by

$$u_{n_{+}} = \frac{L}{2(n_{+}+b)\pi} \left(1 - \frac{n_{+}-b}{n_{+}L} - \frac{(n_{+}+b)\left(3b(n_{+}-b) + (n_{+}+b)n_{+}^{3}\pi^{2}\right)}{3n_{+}^{3}L^{2}} + \dots \right) .$$
(3.112)

Momentum conservation requires the second excitation to have rapidity u_{-n_+} . Meanwhile, the zero-mode solutions have a distinct expression where the expansion parameter now becomes the square root of the length

$$u_0^{\pm} = \frac{L}{2b\pi} \left(1 \pm \frac{i}{L^{1/2}} - \frac{1}{L} \pm \frac{i(b^2\pi^2 - 3)}{6L^{3/2}} - \frac{2b^2\pi^2}{3L^2} + \dots \right) .$$
(3.113)

The planar energies in the BMN limit can then be computed through (3.38), yielding

$$E_{n_{+}}^{(0)} = \frac{16(n_{+}^{2} + b^{2})\pi^{2}}{L^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{2(n_{+}^{2} - b^{2})}{(n_{+}^{2} + b^{2})L} + \frac{3(3n_{+}^{4} - 2b^{2}n_{+}^{2} - b^{4}) - (n^{4} + 6b^{2}n_{+}^{2} + b^{4})n_{+}^{2}\pi^{2}}{3(n_{+}^{2} + b^{2})n_{+}^{2}L^{2}} + \dots \right) ,$$

$$E_{0}^{(0)} = \frac{16b^{2}\pi^{2}}{L^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{L} - \frac{(3 + 2b^{2}\pi^{2})}{3L^{2}} + \dots \right) .$$
(3.114)

Note that despite the unusual expansion of the zero-mode rapidities u_0^{\pm} , the expansion of the corresponding energy is free of any square roots of L. Finally, while at the leading order the rapidities u_0^{\pm} seem to be only a particular case $n_+ = 0$ of $u_{\pm n_+}$, the expression for the norm differs already at this order by a factor of two. Labelling the Bethe states associated to the rapidities (3.112) and (3.113) by the mode number nas $|n\rangle$, their Gaudin norms $N_n = || |n\rangle ||^2$ can be computed and are given by

$$N_{n_{+}} = L^{2} \left(1 - \frac{n_{+}^{2} + b^{2}}{n_{+}^{2}L} + \frac{2b^{2}(n_{+}^{2} - b^{2})}{n_{+}^{4}L^{2}} + \dots \right) ,$$

$$N_{0} = 2L^{2} \left(1 + \frac{b^{2}\pi^{2} - 3}{3L} + \frac{2b^{2}\pi^{2}(4b^{2}\pi^{2} - 15)}{45L^{2}} + \dots \right) .$$
(3.115)

Scaling of non-planar energy corrections. Equipped with the Bethe solutions, we can now study the non-planar corrections to the energies in the BMN limit. The strategy is to expand the dilatation operator overlaps obtained in Section 3.3.1 and plug them into (3.95) written explicitly as

$$E_n^{(2)} = \sum_I \frac{1}{N_n N_I} \frac{\langle n | H_\beta^- | I \rangle \langle I | H_\beta^+ | n \rangle}{E_n^{(0)} - E_I^{(0)}} + \frac{1}{N_n} \langle n | H_\beta^{(2)} | n \rangle .$$
(3.116)

We need to consider three contributions to this expression:

- 1. Off-diagonal matrix elements of H^{\pm}_{β} with double-trace operators where
 - (a) both excitations end up on the same trace, or
 - (b) the excitations split over the two traces.
- 2. Diagonal matrix elements of $H_{\beta}^{(2)}$.

In general the two-excitation overlaps corresponding to H_{β}^{-} and H_{β}^{+} scale at most as L and L^{2} , respectively. The sum over intermediate double-trace states I includes a sum over the splitting of the lengths (L', L - L'), which in the large-L limit can be approximated by the Euler-MacLaurin formula

$$\sum_{L'=l_1}^{l_2} f(L') \approx L \int_{l_1/L}^{l_2/L} \mathrm{d}r f(r) + \frac{f(l_1) + f(l_2)}{2} + \dots , \qquad (3.117)$$

thus leading to a further factor of L. Combined with the scaling of the planar energies (3.114) and norms (3.115), the off-diagonal contribution to the one-loop non-planar energies $E_n^{(2)}$ scales at most as L^2 . In contrast, the diagonal overlap grows linearly with L, and so its normalised contribution only starts at $\mathcal{O}(1/L)$ and is subleading. Combined with the associated colour factor $1/N^2$ of $E_n^{(2)}$, the leading contribution of (3.116) gives a contribution at $\mathcal{O}(g'g_2^2)$, cf. (3.109), in agreement with the expansion (3.110) of the scaling dimension. While in principle we can compute the off-diagonal and diagonal overlaps at any order in the BMN 1/J-expansion, the expansion of $\tilde{E}_n^{(2)}(b, J)$ at $\mathcal{O}(g'g_2^2)$ eventually breaks down due to the approximation of the summation over intermediate states by an integration (3.117). More precisely, we find that for mode numbers n > 1 the sub^k-leading BMN correction to the integrand with k > 1 has simple poles at lengths L'/L = n'/n with $n' = 1, \ldots, n - 1$. As shown in Figure 3.4 this failure of the BMN expansion is in fact expected and agrees with the numerical tests performed.

Off-diagonal elements of type (a) for states with positive mode number. We now move on to the explicit evaluation of overlaps in the BMN limit, starting with the configuration of uneven splitting in the off-diagonal case, and first consider the situation where the external state has positive mode number n_+ . The intermediate double-trace state $|I\rangle$ has one trace with two excitations, whose length we denote by L' = rL, and another trace corresponding to a vacuum state. The former is furthermore characterised by the mode number n' of the Bethe roots. While L' < L, the deformation parameter for the double-trace solution can be expanded in terms of the length L of the single-trace operator as in (3.108), so the rapidity, energy and



Figure 3.4: Non-planar correction to the energies $E_n^{(2)}$ for single-trace operators with varying length L, $L \leq 100$, computed from the dilatation-operator matrix elements at b = 1/3 for mode number (i) n = 1 and (ii) n = 2. We observe that for n = 2 the large-L limit is approached differently for even- and odd-length operators. However, fitting the two curves with polynomials in 1/L we find that the mismatch in the coefficients starts only at subsubleading order.

norm of the double-trace states are written as

$$u'_{n'}(L,b) = u_{n'}(rL,rb) , \qquad E'^{(0)}_{n'}(L,b) = E^{(0)}_{n'}(rL,rb) , \qquad N'_{n'}(L,b) = N_{n'}(rL,rb) .$$
(3.118)

In the case where the mode number of the intermediate double-trace state is a positive integer n'_+ , the overlaps in the BMN limit become

$$H_{n_{+}n'_{+}}^{-} = -\frac{32(1-r)r^{3}n_{+}^{2}\sin^{2}(\pi rn_{+})L^{2}}{n_{+}^{\prime 2} - r^{2}n_{+}^{2}} \left(1 - 2\frac{(1-r)n_{+}^{2}n_{+}^{\prime 2} + r(n_{+}^{\prime 2} - rn_{+}^{2})b^{2}}{rn_{+}^{2}(n_{+}^{\prime 2} - r^{2}n_{+}^{2})L} - \pi\cot(\pi rn_{+})\frac{(1-2r)n_{+}^{2} - (3-2r)b^{2}}{n_{+}L} + \dots\right),$$

$$H_{n'_{+}n_{+}}^{+} = \frac{32n_{+}^{\prime 2}\sin^{2}(\pi rn_{+})L}{n_{+}^{\prime 2} - r^{2}n_{+}^{2}} \left(1 - 2r\frac{(1-r)n_{+}^{2}n_{+}^{\prime 2} + r(n_{+}^{\prime 2} - rn_{+}^{2})b^{2}}{n_{+}^{\prime 2}(n_{+}^{\prime 2} - r^{2}n_{+}^{2})L} - \pi\cot(\pi rn_{+})\frac{(3-2r)n_{+}^{2} - (1-2r)b^{2}}{n_{+}L} + \dots\right). \quad (3.119)$$

On the other hand, if the intermediate double-trace operator consists of a zero-mode solution, then the H^+_β overlap is suppressed by a factor of L and we have

$$H_{n_{+}0}^{-} = 32(1-r)r\sin^{2}(\pi rn_{+})L^{2} + \dots ,$$

$$H_{0n_{+}}^{+} = \frac{32b^{2}\sin^{2}(\pi rn_{+})}{rn_{+}^{2}} + \dots .$$
(3.120)

The contribution to the non-planar energies is the combination of those two cases, which leads to

$$E_{n_{+}(a)}^{(2)} = L \int_{2/L}^{(L-2)/L} \mathrm{d}r \left(\frac{H_{n_{+}0}^{-} H_{0n_{+}}^{+}}{N_{n_{+}} N_{0}' \left(E_{n_{+}}^{(0)} - E_{0}'^{(0)} \right)} + \sum_{n_{+}'=1}^{\infty} \frac{H_{n_{+}n_{+}'}^{-} H_{n_{+}'n_{+}}^{+}}{N_{n_{+}} N_{n_{+}'}' \left(E_{n_{+}}^{(0)} - E_{n_{+}'}'^{(0)} \right)} \right) \\ = \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{35}{8\pi^{2}n^{2}} \right) L^{2} \left(1 - \frac{2n^{2} - 4b^{2}}{n^{2}L} + \dots \right) .$$
(3.121)

Note that in this particular case the subleading correction of the Euler-McLaurin formula is vanishing and only the leading integral expression of (3.117) contributes. Furthermore, the contribution of the intermediate zero mode is crucial for the simplicity of this formula, which would otherwise be plagued by more complex functions such as $\int_0^z dt \sin(t)/t$.

As explained above, the integral approximation at the subsubleading order is not well defined for $n_+ > 1$, which is manifested here by the presence of poles in the integrand. However, the expression for n = 1 appears to be well defined at any order, thus allowing us to obtain

$$E_{1(a)}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{35}{8\pi^2}\right)L^2 + \frac{(105 + 8\pi^2)(2b^2 - 1)}{12\pi^2}L + \frac{1}{24\pi^2}\left(105(1 - 12b^2 + 15b^4) - (1 + 144b^2 - 9b^4)\pi^2 - 8(3 + 4b^2 + b^4)\pi^4 - 288(1 + b^2)^2\pi^2\zeta_3\right).$$
 (3.122)

Off-diagonal elements of type (a) for states with vanishing mode number. We now move on to the case where the external state is a zero mode for the uneven splitting case (a). If the intermediate operator is a zero mode as well, then each of the overlaps is suppressed by a power of L and given by

$$H_{00}^{-} = 32\pi^{2}(1-r)(2-r)r^{2}b^{2}L \\ \times \left(1 - \frac{6(2-r+r^{2}) - \pi^{2}r(2-r)(3-r(3-2r))}{6r(2-r)L} + \dots\right) ,$$

$$H_{00}^{+} = 32\pi^{2}rb^{2}\left(1 - \frac{12 - \pi^{2}r(3-r(3-2r))}{6rL} + \dots\right) .$$
(3.123)

Notice that in this case the difference of planar energies $E_0^{(0)} - {E'}_0^{(0)}$ vanishes at leading order, therefore enhancing the contribution of the intermediate zero-mode to $E_0^{(2)}$ by a factor of L. In principle, we also need the off-diagonal overlaps with positivemode states, $H_{0n'_+}^-$ and $H_{n'_+0}^+$, but each of them starts contributing at $\mathcal{O}(L^0)$ and the difference $E_0^{(0)} - {E'}_{n'_+}^{(0)}$ is once again $\mathcal{O}(L^2)$ and so we can safely ignore the contribution of these modes at the order we wish to consider. The non-planar correction to the
energy of the zero-mode solution is then given by

$$E_{0(a)}^{(2)} = L \int_{2/L}^{(L-2)/L} \mathrm{d}r \left(\frac{H_{00}^{-} H_{00}^{+}}{N_0 N_0' \left(E_0^{(0)} - E_0'^{(0)} \right)} \right) + 8\pi^2 b^2$$
$$= \frac{20\pi^2 b^2 L}{3} \left(1 + \frac{2\pi^2 b^2 - 225}{25L} + \dots \right) , \qquad (3.124)$$

where the second term of the first line corresponds to the subleading correction in the Euler–MacLaurin formula (3.117).

Off-diagonal elements of type (b) for states with positive mode number. In order to study the second splitting configuration (b), where H_{β}^{+} leads to doubletrace operators with an excitation in each of the traces, we need to consider the singleexcitation solution in more detail. The perturbative solution of the one-magnon Bethe equations for the rapidity is

$$u_{(1)} = \frac{L}{2b\pi} \left(1 - \frac{b^2 \pi^2}{3L^2} + \dots \right) .$$
 (3.125)

Note that this expression only depends on the length L of the external single-trace operator via its relation with the scaled deformation parameter (3.108), but is independent of the length of the state it characterises. The corresponding energy of this state is

$$E_{(1)}^{(0)} = \frac{8b^2\pi^2}{L^2} \left(1 - \frac{b^2\pi^2}{3L^2} + \dots\right) , \qquad (3.126)$$

and the norm is given by the length of the operator. Importantly, the single-excitation solution of length 2, Tr(ZX), is an exception to this formula and is protected due to the contribution of the double-trace term to the planar dilatation operator.

The resulting overlaps for an external non-zero mode single-trace operator are

$$H_{n_{+}}^{-} = -32r(1-r)\sin^{2}(\pi r n_{+})L^{2} + \dots ,$$

$$H_{n_{+}}^{+} = \frac{16\pi^{2}b^{2}}{L}\left(\cos(2\pi r n_{+}) - \frac{b^{2}}{n_{+}^{2}}\right) + \dots , \qquad (3.127)$$

which will only contribute at subsubleading order as H_n^+ is suppressed by two powers of L. Thus it suffices to consider the leading integral approximation which gives

$$E_{n+(b)}^{(2)} = \frac{L}{2} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}r \frac{H_n^- H_n^+}{N_{n+}(rL)((1-r)L)(E_{n+}^{(0)} - 2E_{(1)}^{(0)})}$$
$$= \frac{4b^2}{n_+^4} \left(n_+^2 + 2b^2\right) + \dots \qquad (3.128)$$

Off-diagonal elements of type (b) for states with vanishing mode number. Meanwhile, for an external zero mode, the overlaps are

$$H_0^- = 16\pi^2 b^2 (1-r) r L \\ \times \left(1 - 2r(1-r) - \frac{12r(1-r) - (1 - 6r(1-r) + 4r^2(1-r)^2)b^2\pi^2}{6L} + \dots \right) , \\ H_0^+ = 16\pi^2 b^2 \left(1 + \frac{\pi^2 b^2}{6L} + \dots \right) ,$$
(3.129)

which are both suppressed by one power in L. We now wish to perform the sum over intermediate states as in equation (3.116). The difference of planar energies $E_0^{(0)} - 2E_{(1)}^{(0)}$ vanishes at leading order, cf. (3.114) and (3.126), and so the resulting nonplanar energy correction from these overlaps is $\mathcal{O}(L^1)$. However this reasoning does not apply when one of the traces has length 2, in which case the difference of planar energies has a non-vanishing leading-order contribution. This term separates out of the Euler-MacLaurin approximation (3.117) and is thus subsubleading. Therefore the non-planar correction to the energy in this configuration becomes

$$E_{0(b)}^{(2)} = \frac{L}{2} \int_{3/L}^{(L-3)/L} \mathrm{d}r \frac{H_0^- H_0^+}{N_0(rL)((1-r)L) \left(E_0^{(0)} - 2E_{(1)}^{(0)}\right)} - 4\pi^2 b^2$$
$$= -\frac{8\pi^2 b^2 L}{3} \left(1 - \frac{120 + 7\pi^2 b^2}{15L} + \dots\right) , \qquad (3.130)$$

where, as before, the second term of the first line corresponds to a non-vanishing subleading contribution in the Euler-McLaurin approximation.

Final results in deformed and undeformed theory. As discussed above, the diagonal contributions in (3.116) are $\mathcal{O}(L^{-1})$ and thus do not contribute to the perturbative orders we consider. Therefore, the non-planar corrections to the energy of two-excitation single-trace operators is, at $\mathcal{O}(L^0)$ in the BMN limit, given by the sum of the off-diagonal uneven splittings, (3.121) and (3.124), and symmetric splittings, (3.128) and (3.130)

$$E_{n_{+}}^{(2)} = E_{n_{+}(a)}^{(2)} + E_{n_{+}(b)}^{(2)} ,$$

$$E_{0}^{(2)} = E_{0(a)}^{(2)} + E_{0(b)}^{(2)} .$$
(3.131)

Then the scaling dimensions of two-excitation states in the BMN limit of large Rcharge J = L - 2 can be written as

$$\Delta_{n_{+}} = L + g' \left[16\pi^{2}(n_{+}^{2} + b^{2}) \left(1 - \frac{2(n_{+}^{2} + 3b^{2})}{(n_{+}^{2} + b^{2})J} + \mathcal{O}(J^{-2}) \right) + g_{2}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{35}{8\pi^{2}n_{+}^{2}} \right) \left(1 + \frac{2(n_{+}^{2} + 2b^{2})}{n_{+}^{2}J} + \mathcal{O}(J^{-2}) \right) + \mathcal{O}(g_{2}^{4}) \right] + \mathcal{O}((g')^{2}) , \quad (3.132)$$

for the non-zero modes, while for the zero mode we find

$$\Delta_{0} = L + g' \left[16\pi^{2}b^{2} \left(1 - \frac{5}{J} + \frac{51 - 2\pi^{2}b^{2}}{3J^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(J^{-3}) \right) + 4\pi^{2}b^{2}g_{2}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{J} + \frac{4\pi^{2}b^{2} - 69}{9J^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(J^{-3}) \right) + \mathcal{O}(g_{2}^{4}) \right] + \mathcal{O}((g')^{2}) .$$
(3.133)

Taking the $b \to 0$ limit of the expressions above yields the non-planar corrections to the two-excitation energies of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory. In this limit both $E_{n_+(b)}^{(2)}$ and $E_{0(b)}^{(2)}$ vanish, which is expected as single-excitation solutions correspond to descendants in the undeformed theory and thus they are not expected to contribute to the non-planar energies. In fact, all loop- and non-planar corrections in Δ_0 to the classical scaling dimension L vanish for $b \to 0$, where the zero-mode operator becomes a descendant of a chiral primary. For positive mode numbers n_+ the corrections in (3.132) reproduce the results of [6] at leading order.

Chapter 4

Statistical properties of sYM theory spectra

While we have analytic control over the spectrum of scaling dimensions in the planar limit of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory due to integrability, at finite N there are only partial results, e.g. from perturbation theory as discussed in the previous chapter. Exact results can, in most cases, only be found for short operators by directly diagonalising the corresponding mixing problem. For a given integer rank N of the gauge group, such a direct diagonalisation gives access to numerical spectra of the theory which can be analysed by statistical means. Studying generic features of numerical spectra gives insight into the underlying theory where an analytical description is not yet achieved. Such a statistical analysis of spectra was first performed by Wigner to describe the spectra of large atomic nuclei, and, as they resemble spectra of random matrices, this in turn initiated the development of random matrix theory. In Section 4.1 we briefly review random matrix theory, its connection to quantum chaos, and the statistical analysis of numerical spectra. In Section 4.2 we then study spectra of both deformed and undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and show that in the planar limit the spectral distribution is Poisson, consistent with integrability, while at finite N the distribution corresponds to that of random matrix theory.

4.1 Random matrix theory and quantum chaos

4.1.1 Review of random matrix theory

Random matrix theory for heavy nuclei. After being introduced by Wishart [176] in 1928, the study of random matrices gained impetus in the early 50's with Wigner's realisation that random matrix theory (RMT) can be used to describe statistical properties of spectra of large atomic nuclei [33]. With large nuclei being complex strongly-interacting many-body systems, analytical control over their spec-



Figure 4.1: Examples of energy spectra corresponding to the (i) uniform, (ii) GOE and (iii) uncorrelated case, normalised to the same mean level spacing.

tra was and remains a seemingly impossible endeavour. Instead of aiming at a detailed understanding of the exact location of nuclear energy levels, Wigner concentrated his analysis on their overall statistical features and realised that certain properties of experimental nuclear spectra can be modelled by RMT. This initiated the development of RMT, in particular by Wigner [33,177–179], Dyson and Mehta [180–186] and others¹, and remains an important field of research with a broad range of applications.

One advantage of the method of spectral statistics is that it allows for the study of the general properties of a system, while avoiding the exact analytic solution of the spectral problem. As outlined by Dyson [180] the idea instead is "to renounce" exact knowledge [..] of the nature of the system itself" and "picture a complex nucleus as a black box in which a large number of particles are interacting according to unknown laws". Then the route to obtaining an understanding of the physics of the corresponding model is to find the ensemble of random matrices that contains the unknown Hamiltonian, and study the general properties of spectra in this ensemble. According to the ergodic principle, the average spectral properties of this ensemble (ensemble average) are the same as those of a single spectrum of a member in this ensemble (spectral average). If the system's Hamiltonian is a generic member of the ensemble, it will share these statistical features. For the case of heavy nuclei, and many more physical systems, the ensemble which gives a remarkably good description of the spectra is known as the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble (GOE). Figure (4.1) contains an example of a GOE spectrum in the middle, which is contrasted by a uniform spectrum on the left and a spectrum with uncorrelated energy levels on the right. In the following we will review the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble before discussing the

¹See [187] for a collection of important publications in this field before 1965.

relevance of these spectra in the context of quantum chaos and integrability.

Gaussian ensembles. A general random matrix H is a square matrix whose entries H_{ij} are chosen randomly from a given probability distribution $\mathcal{P}[\{H_{ij}\}]$. Its eigenvalues $\{E_i\}$ are thus also random and the central problem in RMT is to relate the choice of distribution $\mathcal{P}[\{H_{ij}\}]$ to the resulting distribution of eigenvalues $\mathcal{P}[\{E_i\}]$ and its statistical properties. An important role in the development of RMT and its application to physical systems is played by the Gaussian ensembles and in particular the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble.

A general matrix H in the GOE is a real symmetric $n \times n$ matrix whose independent entries $H_{ij} = H_{ji}$, $i \leq j$, are randomly chosen from a Gaussian distribution, with the joint probability distribution of the entries being

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{GOE}}[\{H_{ij}\}] = \mathcal{N} \exp\left(-\frac{\sum_{i} H_{ii}^2 + 2\sum_{i < j} H_{ij}^2}{(2\sigma)^2}\right)$$
(4.1)

with constants \mathcal{N} and σ . Note that \mathcal{P}_{GOE} factorises into Gaussian distributions for each entry of H which can thus be sampled independently. This property makes the GOE easy to study numerically as members of the ensemble can be generated rather simply via appropriate computer software. A further property of the distribution (4.1) is that it is invariant under orthogonal transformations R, with $R^{-1} = R^T$, acting as $H \to R^T H R$. This can easily be seen from rearranging the exponent of \mathcal{P}_{GOE} as $\sum_i H_{ii}^2 + 2 \sum_{i < j} H_{ij}^2 = \sum_{i,j} H_{ij}^2 = \text{Tr}(H^2)$. This symmetry property simplifies the analytical treatment of the GOE and indeed it is among those ensembles for which $P[\{E_i\}]$ can be found exactly. What makes the GOE exceptional in RMT is that it is the only ensemble which combines these two properties of independent entries and invariance under orthogonal transformations as was shown by Porter and Rosenzweig [188]. This makes it an ideal starting point for studying more generic ensembles. Of particular interest are orthogonal matrix models $\mathcal{P} \sim \exp[-\text{Tr}(V(H))]$ which, for general potentials V(H), are harder to study numerically due to highly correlated matrix entries H_{ij} .

The Gaussian orthogonal ensemble is also a representative of the larger class of classical Gaussian ensembles [180] whose probability distributions for matrix entries H_{ij} all factorise and which are classified according to the symmetry group of R leaving $\mathcal{P}[\{H_{ij}\}]$ invariant as $H \to R^{-1}HR$. They are

- the Gaussian orthogonal ensemble (GOE): ensemble of real symmetric random matrices with $R \in O(n)$,
- the Gaussian unitary ensemble (GUE): ensemble of complex hermitian random matrices with $R \in U(n)$, and

ensemble	β_D	Hamiltonian	symmetry	physical system	
GOE	1	real symmetric	O(n)	 time-reversal invariant & even spin time-reversal invariant & odd spin totational invariant 	
GUE	2	complex hermitian	U(n)	not time-reversal invariant	
GSE	4	quaternionic	Sp(n)	time-reversal invariant & odd spin & not rotational invariant	

Table 4.1: Classical Gaussian ensembles.

• the Gaussian symplectic ensemble (GSE): ensemble of complex quaternionic random matrices with $R \in Sp(n)$.

The symmetry properties of the ensembles correspond directly to physical properties of the systems they model: e.g. a Hamiltonian of a system with both time-reversal and rotational invariance can be chosen real symmetric in a suitable basis and is thus a member of the GOE. In contrast, if there is no rotational invariance and the system has half-integer spin, then the appropriate ensemble is GSE, and for a system with no time-reversal invariance it is GUE, cf. Table 4.1. The GOE, GUE and GSE are also known as the "classical" Gaussian ensembles and were supplemented by further "non-canonical" ensembles in [189].

The probability distribution function of the spectrum of eigenvalues of matrices in the three Gaussian ensembles can be computed from $\mathcal{P}[\{H_{ij}\}]$ and jointly written as [180, 188]

$$\mathcal{P}_{\beta_D}(E_1, ..., E_n) = \mathcal{N} \exp\left(-\frac{\beta_D}{2} \sum_{j=1}^n E_j^2\right) \prod_{j < k} |E_j - E_k|^{\beta_D}$$
(4.2)

with normalisation constant \mathcal{N} and the Dyson index β_D taking different values for the different ensembles according to Table 4.1. This function (4.2) is the starting point for computing ensemble expectations for spectral observables which can then be compared with numerical spectra. We discuss spectral observables in Section 4.1.2, but firstly we review the occurrence of RMT in the context of quantum chaos.

BGS and Berry–Tabor conjecture. Since Wigner's realisation that RMT can be used to describe spectra of complex many-body systems like those of large nuclei, more applications both in physics and mathematics were found. For instance, in mathematics an interest in RMT arose from the realisation [190, 191] that the distribution of zeroes of the Riemann zeta function resemble the spectrum of a certain ensemble of random matrices. In physics RMT has become more popular due to its relation with quantum chaos [35]. In classical mechanics, the definition of chaos usually relies on a trajectory X(t) describing the time evolution of a system and its dependence on the initial conditions. If for a small change in the initial conditions the difference between the original $X_1(t)$ and the new path $X_2(t)$ differs exponentially in time, i.e.

$$|X_1(t) - X_2(t)| \sim e^{\lambda_L t}$$
 (4.3)

with so-called Lyapunov exponent $\lambda_L > 0$, the system is called classically chaotic. In contrast, for regular systems trajectories only separate linearly in time.

While chaos in most classical-mechanics systems is well-defined in terms of the Lyapunov exponent, the notion of chaos in quantum systems is less understood. Here the concept of a trajectory usually has no quantum analogue and thus a quantum version of the Lyapunov exponent – the out-of-time-order correlator (OTOC) – was only recently introduced [192]. A more traditional description of quantum chaos is based on the statistical features of a system's spectrum. This is connected with the observation that the transition to chaos in classical systems is usually accompanied by the development of level repulsion in the spectra of the corresponding quantum models, i.e. levels are correlated and avoid each other. In contrast, regular systems often have spectra with no level repulsion and so the levels are independent, see e.g. [193–195]. Figure 4.1 contains examples of spectra with different strengths of level repulsion: The uniform spectrum (i) and uncorrelated spectrum (iii) have maximal and zero level repulsion, respectively, while level repulsion in a GOE spectrum is intermediate. In addition to these observations, it was realised that the spectra of a number of quantum models with classically-chaotic limits are well-described by RMT, in a similar fashion to complex many-body systems like heavy nuclei. These developments culminated in the Bohigas–Giannoni–Schmidt (BGS) conjecture [35] that all spectra of quantum-chaotic systems with known chaos in the classical case are described by RMT, specifically the GOE for time-reversal invariant systems according to Table 4.1. Over the years, in lieu of a good definition of quantum chaos, this statement was reversed and the appearance of RMT features in spectra was, and is continued to be, used as a sign, or even definition, of quantum chaos. The complementary Berry–Tabor conjecture [36] relates integrable systems to the occurrence of uncorrelated energy levels in a system's spectrum. There are a number of successful attempts for proving these conjectures for specific models, e.g. in [36], but their scope is limited. Thus the connection between the statistical properties of spectra and quantum integrability/chaos of the underlying model remains conjectural. Nevertheless, they have been verified for a large number of cases like many integrable models such as the Heisenberg spin chain, the t-J model and the Hubbard model [196], as well as chaotic models such as quantum Sinai's billiard [35] or the Heisenberg chain with a random magnetic field [197].

Despite these successes, there are also a few exceptions to these conjectures, e.g. the Haldane–Shastry integrable spin chain whose spectrum is neither of the uncorrelated type, nor can it be described by one of the Gaussian ensembles [198]. Another example is the harmonic oscillator where the level repulsion is maximal and the levels are uniformly spaced as depicted in Figure 4.1 (i). Furthermore, in families of integrable models connected by continuous parameters, one can find non-integrable statistics at finely-tuned values of these parameters, e.g. in Richardson-Gaudin models [199] or the XXZ spin chain [200]. However in that case even small changes in the parameters result in a restoration of the integrable distribution.

To sum up, an understanding of the statistical features of a spectrum can give insights into the symmetry properties of the underlying system. In particular, uncorrelated levels in a spectrum are a sign of integrability, while the occurrence of level repulsion points towards quantum chaos. Moreover, since RMT relates the distribution of levels to invariances of the system as summarised in Table 4.1, identifying the RMT ensemble best describing a spectrum unveils a system's spacetime symmetries. In the following section we will move on to discussing observables that can be computed to obtain a better understanding of the statistical properties of a spectrum.

4.1.2 Level statistics observables

Degeneracies. When exploring a given numerical spectrum, one of the first properties one might identify is whether or not there are degeneracies. It was already noted in the early days of quantum mechanics by von Neumann and Wigner [201] that, given a generic theory depending on a number of parameters, it is necessary to tune at least two parameters to cause energy levels to cross and produce a degeneracy. Subsequently it was shown by Teller [202] that surfaces $E = E(\beta_1, \beta_2)$ representing energy levels depending on two such parameters β_1, β_2 are connected at points like the two sheets of a degenerate cone. The situation is quite different for systems with additional symmetries where degeneracies can occur between eigenstates with different quantum numbers with respect to these symmetries. Since these symmetries are often well-known, one desymmetrises a spectrum by separating it into sectors where eigenstates have the same quantum numbers before doing an analysis of its statistical features. Doing so, the symmetry-induced degeneracies do not overlay the correlations that can reveal the quantum chaos or integrability of the underlying model.

Global and local properties of spectra. To understand correlations in spectra we first introduce a quantity $\rho(E)$ that measures the level density at position E in the spectrum and is defined as

$$\rho(E) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta(E - E_i)$$
(4.4)

for an ordered spectrum $E_1 \leq E_2 \leq ... \leq E_n$. It is normalised to $\int dE \ \rho(E) = 1$. Figure 4.2 (i) depicts the spectral density for a 2000 × 2000 real symmetric random matrix. Up to statistical fluctuations it follows Wigner's semi-circle law [179] which says that the limiting eigenvalue distribution $\bar{\rho}(E)$ of Gaussian ensembles for $n \to \infty$ is a semicircle

$$\bar{\rho}(E) = \frac{2}{\pi r^2} \sqrt{r^2 - E^2} .$$
(4.5)

However, this distribution of energy levels is uncommon for a physical system like for example a heavy nucleus. In fact, RMT does not describe the global properties of physical spectra which are theory-dependent and, for example, in a nuclear context differ for different nuclei. Similarly, the anomalous-dimension spectra in sYM theories, which we will discuss in detail in Section 4.2, do not follow the semi-circle law as illustrated in Figure 4.2 (ii) and (iii) which show the level density of a non-planar and planar spectrum, respectively, in the β -deformed theory. Instead, it is the fluctuations around the smoothed density which can be compared between different systems and which show universal features according to the BGS and Berry–Tabor conjecture.

In order to separate global and local properties of a spectrum we first introduce the integrated spectral density I(E) as

$$I(E) = n \int_{-\infty}^{E} \rho(e) de \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Theta(E - E_i) .$$
(4.6)

It increases by one at the position of each level E_i and is thus also called the staircase function. Assuming that fluctuation properties of the spectrum do not depend on the region in the spectrum, we can separate global from local properties by decomposing I(E) into an average and fluctuation part

$$I(E) = I_{\rm av}(E) + I_{\rm ff}(E)$$
 (4.7)

Next we map the original spectrum $\{E_i\}$ to a so-called unfolded spectrum $\{\varepsilon_i\}$ via

$$\varepsilon_i = I_{\rm av}(E_i) \ . \tag{4.8}$$



Figure 4.2: Spectral densities for (i) a real symmetric random matrix and Wigner's semicircle law, (ii) a non-planar and (iii) planar spectrum in the β -deformed theory.

These new variables capture the fluctuations of the original spectrum

$$\varepsilon_{i+1} - \varepsilon_i \simeq \frac{E_{i+1} - E_i}{D_i} , \qquad (4.9)$$

with local spacing $D_i = (dI_{av}(E_i)/dE)^{-1} = (n\rho_{av}(E_i))^{-1}$, but have a constant mean level spacing over the whole spectrum

$$\langle \varepsilon_{i+1} - \varepsilon_i \rangle = 1$$
 . (4.10)

In the following we will concentrate on the statistical properties of this unfolded spectrum with unfolded level density $\hat{\rho}(\varepsilon)$ and staircase function $\hat{I}(\varepsilon)$ defined as in (4.4) and (4.6) but for the unfolded spectrum. Details of the unfolding procedure used for the anomalous dimension spectra are discussed in Appendix C.

Edges of spectra. RMT also makes predictions for the distribution of the largest and smallest eigenvalues of spectra in a given ensemble, the so-called Tracy–Widom distribution [203]. However, in a physical system the eigenstates with lowest and highest energies are usually more constrained than the states in the bulk of the spectrum, even when the system is chaotic. Therefore, in general they do not follow the RMT prediction, but are more regular [204, 205]. We will observe this behaviour in the information entropy of anomalous dimension eigenstates in Section 4.2.4. In the meantime we focus on statistical properties in the bulk of spectra and discuss the clipping of low- and high-energy states for anomalous dimension spectra in Appendix C.

Nearest-neighbour spacing statistics. The main sign of the presence of chaos in a given spectrum is level repulsion. This phenomenon can be studied by looking at the distribution P(s) of spacings

$$s_i = \varepsilon_{i+1} - \varepsilon_i \tag{4.11}$$

between consecutive levels in the desymmetrised and unfolded spectrum. P(s)dsgives the probability for a nearest-neighbour spacing laying in the interval [s, s + ds]. For integrable systems it is generally the case that $P(s) \to 1$ as $s \to 0$ which reflects the presence of hidden symmetries in these models. They make eigenstates decouple and thus their energy levels become uncorrelated in line with the Berry– Tabor conjecture. Based on this independence of energy levels one can compute the corresponding nearest-neighbour spacing (NNS) distribution P(s) as follows [206]: Given an energy level at position ε , the probability for finding the adjacent level at a spacing [s, s + ds] is the product of the probability of finding no level in the interval $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon + s)$ and one level in $[\varepsilon + s, \varepsilon + s + ds]$. The latter is just given by the interval length ds for an unfolded spectrum with mean level spacing 1. The former can be computed by first partitioning the interval $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon + s)$ into m equal segments

$$\left[\varepsilon + k\frac{s}{m}, \varepsilon + (k+1)\frac{s}{m}\right] , \ k = 0...m - 1 .$$

$$(4.12)$$

The probability for having no level in one of these segments is (1 - s/m) and thus the probability for having no level in $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon + s)$ is given by

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{s}{m} \right)^m = \exp(-s) . \tag{4.13}$$

Putting everything together, the probability for finding two adjacent levels at a distance s is

$$P(s)ds = e^{-s}ds \tag{4.14}$$

and thus we find that the NNS distribution in the integrable case is given by the Poisson distribution

$$P(s) = e^{-s} \qquad (\text{integrable case}) . \tag{4.15}$$

That this distribution is a good description of integrable systems has been numerically shown in a range of models including many-body systems such as the Heisenberg spin chain, the t-J model at its integrable supersymmetric point, and the Hubbard model [196, 207]. There are significantly fewer analytical results, however one important result by Berry and Tabor [36] showed, on the basis of the existence of action-angle variables, that for a generic integrable semi-classical system the distribution of energy levels is indeed Poisson.

For a chaotic quantum system energy levels are correlated and so avoid each other, i.e. $P(s) \rightarrow 0$ as $s \rightarrow 0$. The exact NNS distributions follow from (4.2), however for most practical purposes they can be approximated by the n = 2 distributions ("Wigner's surmise"). Then P(s) follows from

$$P(s) = \int dE_1 \ dE_2 \ \mathcal{P}(E_1, E_2) \delta(s - |E_1 - E_2|) \tag{4.16}$$

via simple integrations and, upon normalisation, one finds the distributions [187,206]

$$P(s) = \frac{\pi}{2} s \exp\left(-\frac{\pi}{4}s^{2}\right)$$
(GOE),

$$P(s) = \frac{32}{\pi^{2}} s^{2} \exp\left(-\frac{4}{\pi}s^{2}\right)$$
(GUE),

$$P(s) = \frac{2^{18}}{3^{6}\pi^{3}} s^{4} \exp\left(-\frac{64}{9\pi}s^{2}\right)$$
(GSE). (4.17)

For small separations this implies $P(s) \sim s^{\beta_D}$ and thus the Dyson index β_D characterises the strength of the level repulsion in Gaussian ensembles, with GOE having the smallest and GSE having the strongest repulsion. Figure 4.3 shows the different NNS distributions for the Gaussian ensembles, as well as for the uncorrelated case and the uniform case, the latter having $P(s) = \delta(s-1)$. In addition to a wide range of numerical evidence, there are also a small number of analytical results supporting the RMT predictions for physical models. In [208] the authors show that in chaotic semi-classical systems the NNS distribution can be approximated by (4.17). They also find an interpolating function P(s) for semi-classical systems with both integrable and chaotic regions in phase space which interpolates between the Poisson distribution and Wigner's surmise. An alternative interpolation is given by the Brody-distribution [209]

$$P(s) = \Gamma\left(\frac{\omega+2}{\omega+1}\right)^{1+\omega} (1+\omega)s^{\omega} \exp\left(-\Gamma\left(\frac{\omega+2}{\omega+1}\right)^{1+\omega}s^{1+\omega}\right) , \qquad (4.18)$$

which for $\omega \to 0$ gives the Poisson distribution (4.15), while for $\omega \to 1$ one finds the GOE prediction in (4.17).



Figure 4.3: Nearest-neighbour spacing distribution P(s) for the uncorrelated and uniform case, as well as the three classical Gaussian ensembles.

Spectral rigidity. While the NNS distribution is useful for probing short-range correlations in a spectrum, there are other observables measuring its long-distance properties, one of which is the spectral rigidity. In general a spectrum is said to be rigid when levels are regularly spaced, i.e. the uniform spectrum has maximum rigidity, while the Poisson spectrum is not rigid at all. This feature of spectra is, similarly to the NNS distribution, intertwined with the occurrence of level repulsion which makes spectra more regular and thus more rigid.

A measure for the rigidity of a spectrum is given by the Dyson–Mehta statistic Δ_3 introduced in [183]². It is defined as

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{1}{l} \left\langle \min_{A,B} \int_{\varepsilon_0}^{\varepsilon_0 + l} d\varepsilon (\hat{I}(\varepsilon) - A\varepsilon - B)^2 \right\rangle , \qquad (4.19)$$

where the expression inside the angle brackets computes the least-square deviation of the unfolded staircase function $\hat{I}(\varepsilon)$ from the best straight line $A\varepsilon + B$ fitting it in the interval $[\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_0 + l]$. The bracket $\langle ... \rangle$ denotes an average over values of ε_0 taken from a discretisation of the interval $[\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_m - l]$. Increasing the interval length l increases the number of probed energy levels and thus this measure probes longdistance correlations. In an unfolded spectrum $\{\varepsilon_i\}$ the mean level spacing is 1 and this makes the statistic $\Delta_3(l)$ only meaningful for sufficiently large interval lengths $l \gtrsim 1$.

Figure 4.4 shows the Dyson–Mehta statistic as a function of the interval length l

²The index on this quantity was introduced to distinguish three different measures for the rigidity proposed in this paper. Δ_3 was established as the most useful statistic and has since been used as the most common measure for rigidity. In this work we carry over this established convention. In this chapter all spectra of scaling dimensions $\{\Delta_i\}$ are denoted by $\{E_i\}$, or $\{\varepsilon_i\}$ for the unfolded case, to minimise confusion.



Figure 4.4: Dyson–Mehta statistic $\Delta_3(l)$ for the uncorrelated and uniform case, as well as the three classical Gaussian ensembles.

for an uncorrelated and uniform spectrum, as well as for the three Gaussian ensembles. For uncorrelated fluctuations Δ_3 grows linearly in l, specifically

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{l}{15} \qquad (\text{uncorrelated spectrum}) , \qquad (4.20)$$

while for the uniform case it approaches a constant value for sufficiently large interval lengths l,

$$\Delta_3(l) \simeq \frac{1}{12}$$
 (uniform spectrum). (4.21)

For more general spectra the Dyson–Mehta statistic, and thus the spectral rigidity, lies between these two extremal cases. For the Gaussian ensembles the expectation for $\Delta_3(l)$ is shown in Figure 4.4. For small interval lengths l < 1 they follow the uncorrelated behaviour (4.20), but for large l one finds the slower growth [206]

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \left(\ln(2\pi l) + \gamma_E - \frac{5}{4} - \frac{\pi^2}{8} \right) + \mathcal{O}(l^{-1}) \qquad (\text{GOE}) ,$$

$$\Delta_1(l) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \left(\ln(2\pi l) + \gamma_E - \frac{5}{4} - \frac{\pi^2}{8} \right) + \mathcal{O}(l^{-1}) \qquad (\text{GUE})$$

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\ln(2\pi l) + \gamma_E - \frac{1}{4} \right) + \mathcal{O}(l^-) \qquad (\text{GOE}) ,$$

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \left(\ln(2\pi l) + \gamma_E - \frac{5}{4} + \frac{\pi^2}{8} \right) + \mathcal{O}(l^{-1}) \qquad (\text{GSE}) . \qquad (4.22)$$

The Dyson–Mehta statistic thus quantifies the increasing level repulsion which results in an increasing rigidity when going from GOE to GUE and GSE.

The Dyson–Mehta statistic is widely used as a measure for long-range correlations in spectra, see e.g. [183] for its application to atomic nuclei spectra, or [210] where it was used in the study of the XXZ spin chain. In [211] the expected behaviour (4.20) and (4.22) was shown for integrable and chaotic semi-classical theories, respectively, up to some non-universal length l_{max} which grows with the number of degrees of freedom in the system.

For an efficient evaluation of the expression (4.19) over a large spectrum, it is useful to parametrise the levels

$$\varepsilon_0 + lz_i \tag{4.23}$$

by the real numbers $\{z_i\}$ with $0 < z_1 < ... < z_k < 1$, so that (4.19) simplifies to

$$\Delta_3(l) = \langle 6s_1s_2 - 4s_1^2 - 3s_2 + s_3 \rangle \tag{4.24}$$

with [212]

$$s_1 = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i$$
, $s_2 = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i^2$, $s_3 = \sum_{i=1}^k (2k - 2i + 1)z_i$. (4.25)

Other spectral observables. The Dyson-Mehta statistic is related to other statistical measures like the number variance and spectral form factor. These relations can be made manifest by realising that all of these measures are essentially probing two-level correlations in the spectrum. The general k-level correlation function $R_k(E_1, E_2, ..., E_k)$ is the probability density for finding k energy levels at positions $E_1, E_2, ..., E_k$, irrespective of the positions of the remaining levels. Thus we obtain it by integrating out n - k levels from the energy distribution function $\mathcal{P}(\{E_i\})$

$$R_k(E_1, E_2, ..., E_k) = \frac{n!}{(n-k)!} \int dE_{k+1} ... dE_n \ \mathcal{P}(E_1, E_2, ..., E_k, E_{k+1}, ..., E_n) \quad (4.26)$$

with a combinatorial prefactor accounting for the fact that R_k is insensitive to which of the *n* levels lie at positions $E_1, E_2, ..., E_k$.

The two-point correlation $R_2(E_1, E_2)$, which is the probability function for finding any two levels at positions E_1 and E_2 , effectively only depends on a single variable $E = |E_2 - E_1|$, the distance between the two levels, in a translation-invariant unfolded spectrum. The Dyson–Mehta statistic is related to the two-point correlation function via

$$\Delta_3(l) = \frac{l}{15} - \frac{1}{15l^4} \int_0^l dE \ (l-E)^3 (2l^2 - 9lE - 3E^2) (1 - R_2(E)) \ , \tag{4.27}$$

see e.g. [213].

Another measure that is closely related to both the Dyson–Mehta statistic and the two-point correlation function is the number variance $\Sigma^2(l)$, which measures the variance of the number of eigenvalues in an interval of length l and is thus another measure for the rigidity of a spectrum. It is based on the level density (4.4) via $\eta(\varepsilon_0, l)$

$$\eta(\varepsilon_0, l) = \int_{\varepsilon_0}^{\varepsilon_0 + l} d\varepsilon \ \hat{\rho}(\varepsilon) \ , \tag{4.28}$$

which measures the number of states in an interval $[\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_0 + l]$. In an unfolded spectrum the average of $\eta(\varepsilon_0, l)$ is independent of ε_0 , i.e.

$$\langle \eta(\varepsilon_0, l) \rangle = 1 , \qquad (4.29)$$

where we again average over values of ε_0 taken from a discretised interval $[\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_n - l]$. The number variance is then

$$\Sigma^2(l) = \langle \eta(\varepsilon_0, l)^2 \rangle - l^2 .$$
(4.30)

In the uniform case it vanishes, while for uncorrelated spectra it is $\Sigma^2(l) = l$ and thus there are $l \pm \sqrt{l}$ levels in an interval of length l in the Poisson case. For the three Gaussian ensembles it lies between these two extremes and the exact RMT predictions can be found in [206]. The relation to the Dyson–Mehta statistic is given e.g. in [213].

Yet another measure that is often employed to measure correlations in a spectrum is the spectral form factor K(t). It is based on the spectral auto-correlation function

$$C(l) = \langle \hat{\rho}(\varepsilon_0) \hat{\rho}(\varepsilon_0 + l) \rangle - 1 \tag{4.31}$$

and then the spectral form factor is the Fourier transform

$$K(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dl \ C(l) \exp(-ilt) \ .$$
 (4.32)

Its relation to $\Delta_3(l)$ can be found in [213].

Statistics of eigenvectors. So far, we have only introduced observables on the set of eigenvalues of a spectral problem. If the set of eigenvectors is accessible in a given physical system, one might wonder whether they can also be used to explore its properties. RMT makes a number of predictions for the distribution of eigenstates, in particular that they spread out over any non-finely tuned reference basis, i.e. they are delocalised. As measure for this spreading one can use the information entropy (also known as Shannon entropy)

$$S_i = -\sum_{a=1}^n |c_{ia}|^2 \ln |c_{ia}|^2$$
(4.33)

for a given eigenvector $|E_i\rangle$ decomposed with respect to a reference basis $\{|a\rangle\}$, i.e. $|E_i\rangle = \sum_{a=1}^n c_{ia} |a\rangle$ with coefficients c_{ia} . For a normalised eigenvector $|E_i\rangle = \sum_{a=1}^n \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} |a\rangle$ which is equally distributed over an orthonormal basis $|a\rangle$ the information entropy is maximal

$$S_i = \ln(n)$$
 (evenly spread over whole basis). (4.34)

In contrast, if an eigenstate is pure, i.e. localised on one basis state such that $c_{ia} = \delta_{ia}$, the information entropy vanishes

$$S_i = 0 \tag{(pure)}. \tag{4.35}$$

In the intermediate case in which $|E_i\rangle$ is exponentially localised over $1 \ll n_i \ll n$ basis states, the information entropy is

$$S_i = \ln(e \ n_i) + \mathcal{O}(n_i^{-1}) \qquad (\text{exponentially localised}) \ . \tag{4.36}$$

Thus, roughly speaking, the information entropy of a state is the logarithm of the number of basis vectors it is spread over. The RMT prediction is that

$$S_{\text{GOE}} = \ln(2e^{\gamma_E - 2}n) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}) \simeq \ln(0.48n)$$
 (GOE), (4.37)

with the Euler–Mascheroni constant γ_E , for all GOE eigenvectors in the large-*n* limit, see e.g. [214]. Thus, the information entropy of the eigenvectors of a spectral problem can be used to expose the possible chaotic nature of a system. A statistical observable which is based on the information entropy of eigenstates is the average localisation length $\langle n_S \rangle$ defined via

$$\langle n_S \rangle = \exp(\langle S_i \rangle - S_{\text{GOE}}) , \qquad (4.38)$$

where $\langle S_i \rangle$ denotes the mean of the information entropy on the set of eigenvectors.

4.2 Level statistics for sYM theories

We now move on to the level statistics of one-loop anomalous dimension spectra in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and its β -deformed version. We begin by discussing the specific spectra to be analysed and how they are desymmetrised in Section 4.2.1. Appendix C contains further details on how they are set up for a level statistics analysis. Then we move on to the study of the short- and long-range correlations in these spectra in Section 4.2.2 and 4.2.3, as well as of the eigenstates of the spectral problem in Section 4.2.4. We close with a discussion of the results in Section 4.2.5.

4.2.1 Desymmetrisation

In order to analyse the spectrum of anomalous dimensions, we must first focus on specific sectors of operators whose mixing is not forbidden due to the symmetries of the dilatation operator. We will henceforth restrict to the rank-one sectors $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$, which are both closed at one-loop order. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM dilatation operator in these sectors is given in (1.36) and (1.38). It does not mix operators with different numbers of fields L and excitations M and S, respectively, and thus we organise operators with respect to these quantum numbers. Furthermore, the dilatation operator in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector has a residual SU(2) R-symmetry which arranges operators in terms of primary and descendant fields and the former do not mix with the latter. Thus, in order to desymmetrise the spectrum, we only work with primary states \mathcal{O} , satisfying $J_{-}\mathcal{O} = 0$ with $J_{-}X = Z$, which form the biggest sector and allow for better statistics. Similarly, the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector has an SL(2) symmetry and so also here we only work with operators \mathcal{O} with $S_{-}\mathcal{O} = 0$, where $S_{-}Z^{(n)} = nZ^{(n-1)}$. An additional symmetry in both these sectors is parity \mathcal{P} which reverses the order of fields within a trace

$$\mathcal{P} \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_1 \dots \chi_L)(x) = \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_L \dots \chi_1)(x) , \qquad (4.39)$$

generalising the spin-chain version given in (3.30), and so eigenstates with different parity are uncorrelated. Therefore, we consider operators with definite parity and all spectra analysed in this work correspond to the bigger positive-parity sector, with the similar analysis of negative-parity sectors yielding the same results but with poorer statistics. To complete the desymmetrisation of the mixing matrix, we remove all zero energies corresponding to protected states whose dimensions are fixed by supersymmetry.

In the planar limit, there are additional symmetries we must account for. In particular the number of traces in a given operator is conserved under the action of the dilatation operator and so we must work at fixed number of traces. In the single-trace sector this reduces the problem to essentially that of an integrable spin chain. In the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector this is the usual Heisenberg spin chain (3.3) and in the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector its non-compact s = 0 version. Therefore, in order to obtain the planar singletrace spectra, one can solve the corresponding Bethe equations (3.19) and (3.35). In the case of the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector this method allows one to go to relatively large sectors quite easily and specifically we will work with the L = 18, S = 7 primary spectrum comprising 6 804 states. In contrast, the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ Bethe equations cannot be solved for high L and M that easily and direct diagonalisation is more efficient.

Next to an analysis of pure $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory spectra, we will also consider spectra in the β -deformed theory in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector with dilatation operator (1.67). Also here the excitation number M is a conserved quantity, however the corresponding U(1) symmetry is not part of a larger SU(2) symmetry. Thus, sectors of fixed L and M do not further decompose into primary and descendant states and this allows for better statistics than in the undeformed case.

Level repulsion in the β -deformed theory. The lifting of degeneracies in the spectrum of one-loop dimensions by the β -deformation is related to the phenomenon of level repulsion. In general, energy surfaces depending on a number of parameters are connected only at special points where multiple parameters are tuned [201]. For the spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory this implies that operator dimensions depending on parameters λ and N avoid crossing for generic fixed values of N as λ is varied, as was borne out in [215]. In our case, being at one-loop order, the λ -dependence is trivial, however we can study the spectrum as a function of both the deformation parameter β and the rank N of the gauge group. By numerically solving for the eigenvalues of specific families of operators, we can see the behaviour of the scaling dimensions as we vary β and as an example we consider the L = 6, M = 3 states in Figure 4.5. This sector has twelve eigenstates, three of which are protected in the β -deformed theory and we only plot the eigenvalues of the remaining nine states. The top (purple) line and fourth from the top (brown) correspond in the undeformed planar limit to descendants of two single-trace two-impurity states. The second and third lines (yellow and light blue) correspond to the single-trace three-impurity singular solution and a degenerate double-trace operator. The remaining operators are protected in the undeformed theory but acquire non-vanishing anomalous dimensions for nonvanishing β . For finite values of N the energy levels mostly repel and even at points where they appear to come close they do not in fact cross, maintaining a separation of $\sim 1/N^2$. There is one obvious exception which clearly does cross other levels at finite N. This is a double-trace state that does not mix with other operators, receives no 1/N corrections and so is effectively uncorrelated with the other states. This is due to the fact that at half-filling the charge conjugation transformation $Z \leftrightarrow X$ combined with the parity transformation (4.39) is a symmetry which commutes with both the impurity number and the one-loop non-planar dilatation operator. This double-trace operator is the only L = 6, M = 3 state with negative charge with respect to this transformation. This again points to the fact that, in order to avoid trivial crossings, we must consider operators which have the same quantum numbers, i.e. desymmetrise the spectrum. At large values of N we can see the appearance of crossings at special values where $\beta/\pi \in \mathbb{Q}$; for example in Figure 4.5 there are crossings in the planar limit at $\beta = \pi/4$ and $\beta = \pi/6$. These points correspond to values where the β -deformed theory becomes equivalent to an orbifold of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, see e.g. [216].



Figure 4.5: Nine eigenvalues corresponding to states with L = 6, M = 3 as functions of $\beta \in [0, \pi]$ with (i) N = 7 and (ii) $N = 10^6$.



Figure 4.6: Nearest-neighbour spacing distribution for planar spectra in the (i) β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and (ii) undeformed $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector.

4.2.2 Short-range correlations

After numerically computing desymmetrised spectra $\{E_1, E_2, ..., E_n\}$ by direct diagonalisation or integrability techniques, we perform an unfolding procedure to separate the fluctuations from the overall energy behaviour of the spectrum. Details about this data preparation are given in Appendix C. Then we label the unfolded spectrum of anomalous dimensions from smallest to largest, i.e. $\varepsilon_1 \leq \varepsilon_2 \leq ... \leq \varepsilon_n$, and estimate the distribution of level spacings between consecutive levels by computing nearest-neighbour spacings $s_i = \varepsilon_{i+1} - \varepsilon_i$, then sorting the data into bins and calculating the fraction that occur in each bin. The results naturally depend on the unfolding procedure and bin size and a choice is made such that small changes do not significantly affect the overall results, see Appendix C for more details. The estimate of the probability distribution naturally improves with larger numbers of states and so one must compute the dimensions for relatively long operators.

M	n	ω	α
2	400	0.70	0.44
3	1035	0.91	0.90
4	2316	0.96	0.89
5	4198	0.98	0.91
6	6539	0.97	0.98
7	8431	0.95	0.93

Table 4.2: NNS distribution of the β -deformed spectrum ($\beta = 0.4$) of L = 16 states with M excitations and size n of the Hilbert space fitted to the Brody distribution with parameter ω and the Wigner–Dyson distribution with parameter α .

Planar results. We first look at the strict planar limit and look at spectra of singletrace operators in the β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and undeformed $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector in Figure 4.6. The numerical data seem to be well described by the Poisson distribution, reflecting the integrability of the planar theory which has additional hidden symmetries that make eigenstates decouple and thus their eigenvalues are independent. To be more quantitative, we fit the data to the Brody distribution (4.18), which interpolates between the GOE distribution ($\omega = 1$) and the Poisson distribution ($\omega = 0$). We find that the best fit data are

$$\omega_{\mathfrak{su}(2)} = 0.05 , \qquad \qquad \omega_{\mathfrak{sl}(2)} = 0.06 , \qquad (4.40)$$

compatible with the Poisson distribution. One can perform a similar level statistics analysis for multi-trace operators and also in these sectors we find that the NNS distribution is Poissonian.

Non-planar results for different excitations M. In Figure 4.7 we present the results for L = N = 16 states in the β -deformed theory and increasing excitation number M = 2...7. By visual inspection it is apparent that the GOE Wigner–Dyson distribution closely matches the data for most values of M. To be more quantitative, one can fit the data to the Brody distribution (4.18) and the Wigner–Dyson distribution

$$P_{\alpha}(s) = 2 \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha/2)^{1+\alpha}}{\Gamma((1+\alpha)/2)^{2+\alpha}} s^{\alpha} \exp\left(-\frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha/2)^2}{\Gamma((1+\alpha)/2)^2} s^2\right) , \qquad (4.41)$$

which interpolates between the different Gaussian ensembles (4.17) for $\alpha = \beta_D$, in particular $\alpha = 1$ for GOE. In Table 4.2 we show the best fit values of ω for different values of M which are generally close to 1 suggesting that this is the appropriate value for the distribution at relatively small values of N. This fit captures the Gaussian behaviour of the exponential decay of the tail and the fact that the distribution goes



Figure 4.7: Nearest-neighbour spacing distribution for non-planar spectra in the β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector and increasing excitation number M.



Figure 4.8: Nearest-neighbour spacing distribution for a non-planar β -deformed spectrum with different clippings of states at the boundary: In (i) 8% (4%) of low-(high-) energy states and in (ii) 35% on both sides of the spectrum are clipped.

to zero as $s \to 0$, i.e. the levels are correlated. If we assume the distribution is of the Wigner–Dyson form we can perform a fit to the general form (4.41) and find the best fit value of α which from Table 4.2 can again be seen to be approximately ~ 1 . It is clear that the fit is better for higher excitation number M as the values for M = 2are furthest from those of the GOE. The values for M = 0, which are protected operators, and M = 1, which are protected in the undeformed theory, clearly do not fit the Wigner–Dyson distribution. In the case of L = 16, M = 2 the poor fit of the Wigner–Dyson distribution is not just an effect of the poor statistics, as one can go to longer operators with M = 2 where one finds similar behaviour, see Figure 4.8 (i). In fact, the distribution seems to be a superposition of the Poisson distribution and the Wigner–Dyson distribution with $\omega = 0.71$. Interestingly, when clipping more states from the edges of the spectrum, one finds the GOE distribution becomes a good fit, see Figure 4.8 (ii) where we only do statistics on a third of the states in the middle of the spectrum and find $\omega = 0.92$. The fact that states at the edges of spectra of chaotic systems typically are more regular than the ones in the bulk is well-known, but we do not have a clear explanation for why the fraction of regular states is so high in the case of small excitation number M. In general however we find that the GOE describes the non-planar distribution of energy levels in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory.

Non-planar results for different undeformed sectors. We can repeat the computation for the undeformed theory where we look at both the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector in Figure 4.9. Similarly to the deformed spectra, we encounter level repulsion and, more precisely, the fluctuations behave like those of the GOE and can be approximated by the Wigner–Dyson distribution with parameters



Figure 4.9: Nearest-neighbour spacing distribution for non-planar spectra in the (i) $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and (ii) $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory.

Non-planar results at small N. So far we have only looked at non-planar spectra where the rank N of the gauge group is chosen to be N = L. In this case (and for N > L) the dependence of the spectrum on N is due solely to its appearance in the matrix elements of the dilatation operator. When N < L there are also relations between single- and multi-trace operators which effectively reduce the size of the Hilbert space. Looking for example at the extreme case of the SU(2) gauge theory, the only surviving states are those built from length-2 traces

$$\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{\frac{L-M-n}{2}}\operatorname{Tr}(ZX)^{n}\operatorname{Tr}(XX)^{\frac{M-n}{2}}.$$
(4.43)

We compute all such identities when analysing the energy fluctuations for theories with 2 < N < L. For given L and M the spectral statistics become poorer for small N due to the shrinking of the basis of states. It is interesting to note that the dilatation operator in the N = 2 case is particularly simple, and the mixing problem becomes solvable in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector at one loop, yielding the spectrum of energies

$$E_n = 4\cos^2\beta (L+1-2n)n , \qquad (4.44)$$

with $n = 0, ..., \lfloor M/2 \rfloor$. Meanwhile, for N > 2 and looking at the β -deformed theory in the length-16 sector, we find

$$\alpha_{N=16} = 0.93$$
, $\alpha_{N=4} = 0.74$, (4.45)

showing that the GOE distribution is still a good approximation as we decrease the value of N, see Figure 4.10. The fit for N = 4 is clearly worse, but this is likely due to the poorer statistics inherent to the smaller size of the Hilbert space.



Figure 4.10: Examples of nearest-neighbour spacing distributions for non-planar spectra in the β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector with (i) N < L and (ii) N = L.



Figure 4.11: Nearest-neighbour spacing distributions for planar spectra in the β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector (i) at purely one-loop order and (ii) with a small two-loop contribution.

Results to two-loop order. In the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory the dilatation operator is also known at two-loop order, cf. equation (1.37). The corresponding planar Hamiltonian with next-to-nearest neighbour interactions is given by

$$H^{(0)} = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \left[\left(1 - \frac{3\lambda}{16\pi^2} \right) \mathbb{1}_{i,i+1} - 4 \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{4\pi^2} \right) \vec{S}_i \otimes \vec{S}_{i+1} - \frac{\lambda}{4\pi^2} \vec{S}_i \otimes \vec{S}_{i+2} \right]$$
(4.46)

with spin operators \vec{S}_i . The corresponding Hamiltonian in the β -deformed case can also be found and just corresponds to the undeformed Hamiltonian with appropriate β -dependent phase factors. The planar integrability of undeformed and β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory is supposed to hold at all loop orders, but when truncating the perturbative expansion at two-loop order and using finite values of λ the resulting system cannot be expected to be integrable. Indeed, a level-statistics analysis shows that the corresponding model is chaotic and the level spacing distribution is welldescribed by the GOE, cf. Figure 4.11 where $g = \lambda/16\pi^2$.



Figure 4.12: Distribution of spacings for (i) the dilatation operator through two-loops for g = 0.1, 0.5, 1, and for (ii) the two-loop part of the dilatation operator by itself in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector.



Figure 4.13: Dyson–Mehta statistic for planar spectra in the (i) β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and (ii) undeformed $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector.

If we include the effects of the two-loop dilatation operator at finite N, the qualitative behaviour is unchanged as can be seen in Figure 4.12 (i). This is in part a consequence of the fact that the spectrum of the two-loop part of the dilatation operator, by itself, has a GOE Wigner–Dyson distribution Figure 4.12 (ii) with $\alpha = 0.89$. As the perturbative expansion is asymptotic at finite-N, we are not making any conclusions about the finite-g behaviour of the spectrum, but rather are exploring the qualitative effect of including higher-order terms in the dilatation operator.

4.2.3 Long-range correlations

Next we discuss the results from an analysis of long-range correlations in sYM theory spectra and in particular study the Dyson–Mehta statistic Δ_3 .

Planar results. In Figure 4.13 we show that planar spectra in both the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and in the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector of the undeformed



Figure 4.14: Dyson–Mehta statistic for non-planar spectra in the (i) $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and (ii) $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory.

theory follow the linear behaviour (4.20) up to some length l_{max} . This behaviour of Δ_3 reflects the independence of energy levels which is characteristic for spectra of integrable models. The maximum length l_{max} differs for different spectra and grows with the size of the Hilbert space. In the case of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ spectrum of Figure 4.13 (i) the linear behaviour is followed up to a length of $l_{\text{max}} \simeq 15$, whereas for the larger $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ spectrum of Figure 4.13 (ii) it is $l_{\text{max}} \simeq 80$. For interval lengths $l > l_{\text{max}}$ the Dyson–Mehta statistic bends down from the linear behaviour, indicating that levels become correlated over large distances in the spectrum. This is in agreement with the behaviour of Δ_3 for spectra of semi-classical integrable systems [211] which saturates for large l.

Non-planar results. For non-planar Yang–Mills theories, we find that $\Delta_3(l)$ for $l \geq 1$ clearly grows more slowly than the integrable case and follows the GOE prediction of (4.22) up to some non-universal l_{\max} , as demonstrated in Figure 4.14 where we find excellent agreement up to $l_{\max} \simeq 25$. However, we see that Δ_3 of the β -deformed theory at N = 4 does not match the GOE prediction quite as well, see Figure 4.15 (ii) where the results are consistently above the predicted GOE behaviour for $l \geq 8$. This could be a result of the smaller Hilbert space than in Figure 4.15 (i), where we find good agreement up to $l_{\max} \simeq 70$. Note that above the maximal interval length $l > l_{\max}$ the Dyson–Mehta statistic $\Delta_3(l)$ does not saturate as in the integrable case, but deviates upwards. This is in contradiction with semiclassical chaotic theories as considered by Berry in [211] where Δ_3 saturates, but is a known feature e.g. in the XXZ spin chain [210].



Figure 4.15: Dyson–Mehta statistic for non-planar spectra in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of the β -deformed theory with (i) N = 16 and (ii) N = 4.



Figure 4.16: Information entropy of eigenvectors in the sector with L = 16, M = 7, $\beta = 0.4$, n = 8512 for different values of N.

4.2.4 Statistics of eigenstates

Going beyond the energy spectrum it is interesting to study the properties of the eigenstates at different values of N. GOE RMT makes a number of predictions for the distribution of chaotic eigenstates, in particular that they are spread out over any non-finely tuned reference basis, i.e. they are delocalised. As a measure of this spreading we use the information entropy (4.33). As our choice of reference basis we simply take the multi-trace operators with fixed numbers of excitations which was used to compute the dilatation operator matrix elements. The GOE RMT prediction is (4.37) for all eigenvectors. However in most physical systems, for example in nuclei [204] or spin-1/2 spin chains [217], the RMT result is only approached near the middle of the energy band, while the states at the edges have significantly lower entropy.

Figure 4.16 shows the information entropy S_i of each eigenvector $|E_i\rangle$, normalised to the corresponding RMT values, for the β -deformed theory for different values of N. Comparing the results for N = 16 and $N = 10^{12}$, it is clear that the entropy is larger



Figure 4.17: Information entropy of eigenvectors from the diagonalisation of \mathfrak{D}_2^T in the sector with L = 16, M = 7, $\beta = 0.4$, n = 8512 for different values of N.

for the smaller value of N and the mean entropy normalised to the GOE prediction at N = L is 0.94, which is significantly larger than the value at large N which is 0.38. Perhaps even more noticeably, the fluctuations in the entropy values are much smaller at N = L where S_i somewhat resembles a smooth function of the energy. We also plot the case of $L = N^2$, and again one finds that the mean value is well above the integrable large-N result, and the maximum value 0.92 approaches the RMT bound. As the dimension of the N < L Hilbert space is smaller, the statistics are perhaps not as reliable, but one interesting feature is the uniformity of the entropy with mixing being almost independent of the energy.

One issue in comparing RMT with the gauge theory is that while the dilatation operator has real eigenvalues and possesses discrete symmetries analogous to time-reversal, with the choice of a scalar product for which the basis of multi-trace operators is orthonormal, it is in fact not symmetric. As a consequence, its eigenvectors are complex rather than real and are not mutually orthogonal with respect to our scalar product. This can be seen in the different entropies of the eigenvectors of the transposed matrix, Figure 4.17, but the finite-N states generally still have larger entropy.

The information entropy can be similarly computed for the two-loop dilatation operator in the undeformed theory. In Figure 4.18 we consider the value g = 0.1, and while there is a number of differences in the structure of the states, qualitatively the results are similar. We can repeat these calculations for the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector and while we find that the mean entropy is still larger at small N than large N, it is generally quite low and significantly further from the GOE RMT bound.



Figure 4.18: Information entropy of the two-loop dilatation operator of the undeformed theory in the positive-parity sector for different values of N in the sector with L = 16, M = 7, n = 1201.

4.2.5 GOE and discrete symmetries

We have provided numerical evidence that the non-planar spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM shares the universal properties we expect of chaotic quantum many-body systems and, specifically is well-described by the GOE of RMT. While we have only displayed results for specific choices of operator lengths and excitation numbers, we have found comparable results for all other charges that we have considered.

That GOE describes the non-planar distribution of energy levels best is, in some respects, to be expected due to the conjecture of [35] that the level statistics of timereversal invariant systems are characterised by GOE. This connection is manifest for RMT systems with space-rotation invariance with generator K, i.e. [H, K] = 0, where the Hamiltonian can be made real and symmetric, see e.g. [206]. The planar Hamiltonian (3.3) is invariant under time-reversal symmetry with operator $\mathcal{T} = KC$, where C takes the complex conjugate of an operator and $K = \prod_{j=1}^{L} i\sigma_j^y$. This symmetry can be extended to the non-planar theory where K essentially exchanges Z and X fields in the dilatation operator. While the undeformed Hamiltonian in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector is invariant under this symmetry, the introduction of the deformation parameter breaks the rotation invariance. Fortunately, there is an additional symmetry that explains why also spectra in the β -deformed theory show GOE behaviour: The deformed, as well as the undeformed, dilatation operator in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector are invariant under a time-reversal symmetry of the form $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{P}C$, where C is again the complex conjugation operator, while \mathcal{P} is the parity operator which acts as (3.30) on spin chains, and (4.39) on general multi-trace operators. One can show [206] that in a suitable basis, the operator \mathcal{P} satisfies $\mathcal{PP}^* = 1$ and this guarantees that any operator commuting with $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{P}C$ can be chosen to be real and symmetric, and is thus a member of the GOE.

Conclusions

We have considered various aspects of non-planar anomalous dimensions in pure and deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, and in the following we summarise our results and discuss possible future directions of research.

We began with a review of the close connection between the dilatation operator and scattering amplitudes revealed in [31, 32]. This connection allows us to obtain anomalous dimensions of a given set of operators via an on-shell approach based on a handful of form factors of these operators, as well as the theory's scattering amplitudes. We illustrated this approach for the mixing of SU(4)-invariant dimension-4 operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, and as a by-product of this computation we rederived the theory's on-shell Lagrangian. This computation may be generalised to the mixing of a larger set of marginal operators, with fewer symmetries and more general scattering amplitudes, to extract the Leigh–Strassler theories, or maybe even new conformal deformations of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory.

While one can obtain specific anomalous dimensions directly from this on-shell approach, it also allows one to extract the general form of dilatation operators. Here we computed the finite-N one-loop dilatation operator of β -deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in the scalar sector including non-planar double-trace contributions. This operator can in turn be diagonalised in order to obtain non-planar anomalous dimensions and we did so for the spectrum of length-two scalar operators. We reproduced results for the Konishi operator previously calculated by direct field-theory methods [75]. The deformed dilatation operator is also an important ingredient into the perturbative approach to non-planar anomalous dimensions and we review these results further below. In the calculation of the dilatation operator, there occur infrared divergences. They have to be subtracted and can be fixed by exploiting their universality and calculating their explicit form from known protected operators; on more general grounds we also discussed IR divergences of scattering amplitudes, in particular in the context of coherent states and asymptotic symmetries.

While the direct diagonalisation of the one-loop dilatation operator for short local operators is relatively straightforward, this task gets more and more involved as the number of field insertions in operators grows. In the planar limit alternative approaches to the direct diagonalisation based on integrability methods exist, but there is no systematic direct approach to non-planar anomalous dimensions. In this work we have studied the leading non-planar corrections to the planar spectrum perturbatively. The approach involves two steps: first one must obtain the mixing matrix between single- and multi-trace operators at leading non-planar order, and then find its eigenvalues with the method of quantum-mechanical perturbation theory. In this work we have mostly focused on the first half of the problem by finding general expressions for the off-diagonal matrix elements of the one-loop dilatation operator in terms of the Bethe rapidities. When expressed in terms of off-shell scalar products, they can be computed efficiently using the algebraic Bethe ansatz. While the direct application of the dilatation operator can in many cases yield the mixing matrix in a similarly efficient fashion, our formulas are given in terms of partitions of the Bethe rapidities, and therefore they are especially advantageous when the number of excitations is small. In those cases we are able to easily evaluate the overlaps even for long operators, where direct diagonalisation would be infeasible. A bottleneck in the second step of computing anomalous dimensions is the determination of the Bethe rapidities. While there are tools for efficiently computing such rapidities, most notably the Baxter Q-function method of [174], carrying out the sums over solutions is still non-trivial, and so we restricted ourselves to a few examples to illustrate the method. The problem of summing over intermediate states increases with the excitation number of the operators under consideration and will rapidly become unfeasible. It might be possible that the sum over solutions is simpler than the individual terms, but this needs a better understanding of the involved sums over Bethe states.

At a more conceptual level, we find that the off-diagonal matrix elements can be written in terms of hexagon-like objects satisfying both the Watson and decoupling conditions. While our methods are not obviously related to the hexagonalisation of the torus, this decomposition hints at the possibility of an approach similar to [218], where four-point functions are built through the OPE, with the OPE data computed within an integrability framework. Similarly, the matrix elements of the dilatation operator might have a more general description which determines their form at higher orders in the perturbative expansion. In order to study this further it would be useful to determine the overlaps at higher loops and to investigate if hexagon-like objects can be found in other sectors of the theory.

One issue in our approach to the diagonalisation of the mixing matrix is that it assumes a non-degenerate spectrum of planar Bethe states. There are however many degeneracies in the planar spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, and so we also considered the β -deformed theory where many degeneracies are lifted. The action of the dilatation operator in the deformed theory, obtained from the form-factor onshell approach discussed above, yields several new structures and for the purpose of evaluating $1/N^2$ corrections to the spectrum it is necessary to include an additional diagonal overlap. We show that degeneracies between excited states in the undeformed theory are lifted when deforming the theory and this reduced degeneracy increases the number of operators for which we can compute the non-planar corrections to the energies by using non-degenerate perturbation theory. A second advantage of the β -deformation is that it provides a useful regularisation of the singular solutions occurring in the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of the undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ spin chain. Such solutions correspond to finite energies, but have singular wavefunctions and so matrix elements in the undeformed theory are not well defined. Instead they can be computed in the deformed theory, where the deformation parameter regularises singularities [165], and the limit of vanishing deformation parameter can be smoothly taken. As an application of our method we computed anomalous dimensions of two-excitation states in the BMN limit through subleading order. We compared these analytical results with numerical data at lower lengths and find that the results agree with at least 8 digits of precision. Since the degeneracies occurring in other sectors of the undeformed theory are not all lifted by the β -deformation, additional twists are needed to extend our results to other sectors. For example, to study the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector it may be useful to consider the integrable dipole deformation [219].

In addition to computing anomalous dimensions of specific operators, it is also of interest to understand their general properties. To this end we analysed the distribution of level spacings and found that at infinite N the one-loop spectra of both deformed and undeformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory are well described by the Poisson distribution characteristic of integrable systems. At finite N the distribution transitions to the Wigner–Dyson distribution of chaotic quantum many-body systems and the statistical properties of the finite-N spectrum are well described by the GOE random matrix model. We constrained this analysis to rank-one sectors of the theories, which considerably simplifies the analysis, but still showcased the universal chaotic behaviour at finite N. While we have only displayed results for specific choices of operator length and excitation number in these sectors, we have found comparable results for all other charges we considered. Level repulsion, which is characteristic for chaotic quantum systems, was previously found in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory in [215], where it was shown that finite-N anomalous dimensions do not cross as the 't Hooft coupling λ varies. Studying the one-loop spectrum as a function of the deformation parameter β , we similarly find that at finite N the anomalous dimensions repel and it is only at large N that they cross.

We have thus provided numerical evidence that the non-planar spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory, in spite of its maximal amount of supersymmetry, exact conformal invariance and planar integrability, is quite generic and shares the universal properties we expect of chaotic quantum many-body systems. The appearance of quantum chaos in the spectrum is in fact quite natural if we view the dilatation operator as

the Hamiltonian of the theory defined on $\mathbb{R} \times S^3$ and multi-trace operators as defining states somewhat analogous to large nuclei in QCD. While it is possible that by resumming the perturbative series and including non-perturbative effects the qualitative behaviour will change, it is natural to conjecture that the non-planar spectrum is described by GOE RMT at finite values of both $g_{\rm YM}$ and N. Such a conjecture is further motivated by the fact that, at strong coupling $\lambda \gg 1$, operators with scaling dimensions $\Delta \sim N^2$ are holographically dual to black holes and so are expected to exhibit chaotic properties [37–40]. This connection was pursued recently in [220], where the authors considered operators dual to a system of giant gravitons. In that sector the one-loop dilatation operator can be reformulated as a Hamiltonian acting on a graph [221], with a large-N counting of graphs matching the expected black hole entropy and therefore suggesting an interpretation of the operators as black hole microstates. The natural basis in this context is that of restricted Schur polynomials, which diagonalise the free-theory two-point functions at finite N. It could be particularly interesting to study the energy eigenfunctions in this basis, where the dilatation operator becomes symmetric, and find the implications for the information entropy.

While the strong-coupling regime can be difficult to access from the gauge-theory side of the AdS/CFT correspondence, an interesting connection with gravity has been made in the context of the holographic duality between the SYK model and Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity on AdS_2 [222–225]. The distribution of the level spacings in the SYK model of N Majorana fermions with random couplings was numerically computed in [226], see also [41,227,228], and was shown to be of Wigner–Dyson type with all three ensembles, GOE, GUE and GSE, occurring depending on the value of N. It would be naturally interesting to study this chaotic behaviour at higher looporders in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM theory and whether, by the holographic correspondence, we can describe the properties of interacting quantum strings on AdS space by RMT.

To conclude, we have studied the computation and universal properties of nonplanar anomalous dimensions in conformal sYM theories. We have applied powerful techniques, including integrability and on-shell methods, as well as quantummechanical perturbation theory, to extract the spectrum of anomalous dimensions. These are important steps towards a systematic framework for the calculation of the finite-N data of sYM theories, but further work is necessary to generalise the results to other sectors, and higher orders in both the coupling- and 1/N-expansion, as well as to turn them into more compact expressions. We furthermore found universal behaviours in numerical anomalous-dimension spectra: at infinite N they are consistent with planar integrability, while at finite N they point towards the quantum-chaotic nature of the theories and are described by random matrix theory. These studies open the door for further explorations of universal features of YM theories and, by the holographic principle, their gravity duals.
Appendix A

Non-minimal form factors in the SU(4)-invariant marginal sector

In this appendix we compute tree-level non-minimal form factors relevant for the mixing of operators G, F and \vec{S} given in (2.46). Doing so, we will make use of the result of [131] for all tree-level MHV form factors of the on-shell Lagrangian (1.17) given in (2.7). For two external states the Lagrangian effectively becomes G and the only-non-vanishing contribution comes from two external negative-helicity gluons. Then (2.7) reproduces the first line in (2.47). For three external states the non-minimal MHV form factor of G can be obtained from (2.7) by removing the contributions coming from the minimal form factor of $-g_{\rm YM}$ F in the on-shell Lagrangian and we find

$$\langle g_{-}(p_{1}), g_{-}(p_{2}), g_{+}(p_{3}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle = -2 \frac{\langle 12 \rangle^{3}}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 31 \rangle} ,$$

$$\langle g_{-}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}_{ABC}(p_{2}), \psi_{D}(p_{3}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle = +2 \varepsilon_{ABCD} \frac{\langle 12 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 23 \rangle} ,$$

$$\langle g_{-}(p_{1}), \phi_{AB}(p_{2}), \phi_{CD}(p_{3}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle = -2 \varepsilon_{ABCD} \frac{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 23 \rangle} .$$
(A.1)

The remaining form factors that are not related to the above by cyclicity and reflection vanish at this order. These expressions can furthermore be obtained by the BCFW recursion for form factors discussed in Section 2.1. Similarly we obtain the nonminimal form factors of G and F with four external states by BCFW recursion and obtain the non-vanishing components

$$\langle \psi_A(p_1), \psi_B(p_2), \bar{\psi}^C(p_3), \bar{\psi}^D(p_4) | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle = -2 (\delta_A^C \delta_B^D - \delta_A^D \delta_B^C) \frac{\langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} ,$$

$$\langle g_+(p_1), \phi_{AB}(p_2), \bar{\psi}^A(p_3), \bar{\psi}^B(p_4) | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle = -2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 14 \rangle} ,$$

$$\langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}^{A}(p_{2}), \phi_{AB}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{B}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle = 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 14 \rangle} ,$$

$$\langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \phi_{BC}(p_{2}), \phi_{DE}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{E}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle = 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} \varepsilon_{ABCD} ,$$

$$\langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \phi_{BC}(p_{2}), \bar{\psi}^{D}(p_{3}), \phi_{EF}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{F} | 0 \rangle = 2 \frac{\langle 23 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle} \varepsilon_{ABCF} \delta_{E}^{D} + 2 \frac{\langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 14 \rangle} \varepsilon_{ABEF} \delta_{C}^{D} . \quad (A.2)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), g_{+}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= -2 \frac{\langle 34 \rangle^{3}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), g_{-}(p_{2}), g_{+}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= -2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{4}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \psi_{A}(p_{2}), \bar{\psi}^{A}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}^{A}(p_{2}), \psi_{A}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= -2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{3}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \psi_{A}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{A}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= -2 \frac{\langle 34 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \phi_{AB}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{A}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= -2 \frac{\langle 34 \rangle \langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \phi_{AB}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), \bar{\phi}^{AB}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \phi_{AB}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), \bar{\phi}^{AB}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle g_{+}(p_{1}), \phi_{AB}(p_{2}), g_{-}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} , \\ \langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}^{AB}(p_{2}), \psi_{B}(p_{3}), g_{-}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 23 \rangle} , \\ \langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \bar{\phi}^{AB}(p_{2}), \bar{\psi}^{C}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{F}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} \varepsilon_{BCDE} \delta_{A}^{F} , \\ \langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \psi_{B}(p_{2}), \bar{\psi}^{C}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{D}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} \delta_{A}^{B} \delta_{C}^{D} - 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} \delta_{A}^{D} \delta_{C}^{B} , \\ \langle \psi_{A}(p_{1}), \bar{\psi}^{B}(p_{2}), \psi_{C}(p_{3}), \bar{\psi}^{D}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle &= 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle} \delta_{A}^{B} \delta_{C}^{D} - 2 \frac{\langle 24 \rangle^{2}}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} \delta_{A}^{D} \delta_{C}^{B} , \\ \langle \phi_{AB}(p_{1}), \phi_{C}(p_{2}), \phi_{EF}(p_{3}), \phi_{GH}(p_{4}) | \mathbf{G} | 0 \rangle \\ &= 2 \left(\left(\frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \varepsilon_{ABGH} \varepsilon_{CDEF} - \left(\frac{\langle 24 \rangle \langle 31 \rangle}{\langle 12 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \varepsilon_{ABCD} \varepsilon_{EFGH} \right) . \quad (A.3)$$

Note that the last expression cannot be obtained by component BCFW as it contains boundary terms. Instead it was derived from (2.7) and removing the contribution from $-g_{\rm YM}$ F and $-g_{\rm YM}^2$ S₁/2⁴.

Appendix B

Overlaps from the algebraic Bethe ansatz

The algebraic Bethe ansatz, see [139, 229, 230] for introductions, provides a powerful framework for studying integrable systems such as the spin chains arising in the one-loop planar dilatation operator. Of particular interest in this work are the computationally efficient formulas for scalar products of Bethe states [167, 231]. These scalar products have previously appeared in the context of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ sYM structure constants and we will mostly follow the conventions of [162].

Central to the algebraic Bethe ansatz approach is the monodromy matrix $\hat{T}_a(u)$, which is an operator depending on the spectral parameter $u \in \mathbb{C}$, and acting on the tensor product $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes L}$ of the *L* spin-chain sites, and an extra auxiliary space $V \simeq \mathbb{C}^2$ labelled by the index *a*. Treating $\hat{T}_a(u)$ as a 2 × 2 matrix in auxiliary space whose entries are operators acting on the spin chain, we can write

$$\hat{T}_a(u) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A}(u) & \mathcal{B}(u) \\ \mathcal{C}(u) & \mathcal{D}(u) \end{pmatrix} .$$
(B.1)

The commutation relations of these entries can be found from the so-called RTT relations

$$R_{a_1a_2}(u-v)\hat{T}_{a_1}(u)\hat{T}_{a_2}(v) = \hat{T}_{a_2}(v)\hat{T}_{a_1}(u)R_{a_1a_2}(u-v)$$
(B.2)

where the R-matrix $R_{a_1a_2}(u-v)$ is an operator acting on two auxiliary spaces labelled by a_1 and a_2 and, for the theories we consider, it only depends on the difference of the spectral parameters u and v. Viewed as a 4×4 matrix mapping as $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes 2} \to (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes 2}$, the R-matrix is given by

$$R_{a_1a_2}(u-v) = \begin{pmatrix} f(u,v) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & g(u,v) & 0\\ 0 & g(u,v) & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & f(u,v) \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.3)

where we have introduced the functions

$$f(u,v) \equiv f(u-v) = 1 + \frac{i}{u-v}$$
 and $g(u,v) \equiv g(u-v) = \frac{i}{u-v}$. (B.4)

The trace of the monodromy matrix over the auxiliary space defines the transfer matrix, $\hat{T}(u) = \text{Tr } \hat{T}_a(u)$, and it follows from (B.2) that transfer matrices with different spectral parameters commute. The Hamiltonian of the spin chain is given by the logarithmic derivative of the transfer matrix evaluated at u = i/2 while the higher conserved charges can be found by further expanding the logarithm of the transfer matrix near u = i/2. The eigenstates of the transfer matrix thus simultaneously diagonalise the Hamiltonian and all higher charges. One can define Bethe states as

$$\left|\left\{u\right\}\right\rangle^{\text{alg}} = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \mathcal{B}(u_i) \left|0\right\rangle \tag{B.5}$$

where the pseudovacuum is defined by $\mathcal{C}(u) |0\rangle = 0$ and satisfies

$$\mathcal{A}(u) |0\rangle = a(u) |0\rangle$$
 and $\mathcal{D}(u) |0\rangle = d(u) |0\rangle$ (B.6)

with $a(u) = (u + i/2)^L$ and $d(u) = (u - i/2)^L$. When the spectral parameters $\{u_i\}$ in (B.5) satisfy the Bethe equations (3.13), using the parametrisations (3.17) and (3.18), the Bethe states are eigenstates of the transfer matrix with eigenvalues

$$\hat{T}(v) |\{u\}\rangle = T(v, \{u\}) |\{u\}\rangle \text{ with } T(v, \{u\}) = a(v) \prod_{i=1}^{M} f(v, u_i) + d(v) \prod_{i=1}^{M} f(u_i, v) .$$
(B.7)

The operators $\mathcal{B}(u_i)$ can thus be viewed as creating excited states whose relative normalisation is given by, see [162],

$$|\{p\}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{S_{<}^{\{u\}} f_{<}^{\{u\}} d^{\{u\}} g^{\{u+i/2\}}}} |\{u\}\rangle^{\text{alg}} , \qquad (B.8)$$

where we use the product notation (3.23). The dual states in the algebraic Bethe

ansatz are defined by

^{alg}
$$\langle \{u\}| = (-1)^M \langle 0| \prod_{i=1}^M \mathcal{C}(u_i^*)$$
 (B.9)

where the dual vacuum satisfies $\langle 0 | \mathcal{B}(u) = 0$ and

$$\langle 0 | \mathcal{A}(u) = \langle 0 | a(u) \text{ and } \langle 0 | \mathcal{D}(u) = \langle 0 | d(u) .$$
 (B.10)

These dual states are related to Bethe states by Hermitian conjugation using the definition

$$|0\rangle = \langle 0|^{\dagger}$$
, and $\mathcal{C}(u^*) = -\mathcal{B}^{\dagger}(u)$ (B.11)

and are dual eigenstates of $\hat{T}(u)$ when the spectral parameters satisfy the Bethe equations.

We will be interested in the quantity $I_M(\{v\}, \{u\})$, which is related to the scalar product of Bethe states by the definition

$$I_M(\{v\},\{u\}) \equiv \langle 0| \prod_{j=1}^M \mathcal{C}(v_j) \prod_{j=1}^M \mathcal{B}(u_j) |0\rangle$$
(B.12)

$$= (-1)^{M \operatorname{alg}} \langle \{v^*\} | \{u\} \rangle^{\operatorname{alg}}$$
(B.13)

and, following [167], can be written as a sum over partitions of the excitations. The partitions are defined by splitting each set of excitations, $\{u\}$ and $\{v\}$, into subsets, $\alpha \cup \bar{\alpha} = \{u\}$ and $\beta \cup \bar{\beta} = \{v\}$, with the cardinality of α equal to that of β . The scalar product is then given as

$$I_{M}(\{v\},\{u\}) = g_{<}^{\{u\}}g_{>}^{\{v\}}\sum_{\substack{\alpha\cup\bar{\alpha}=\{u\}\\\beta\cup\bar{\beta}=\{v\}}} \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha)\operatorname{sgn}(\beta)d^{\alpha}a^{\bar{\alpha}}a^{\beta}d^{\bar{\beta}}k^{\alpha\beta}k^{\bar{\beta}\bar{\alpha}}k^{\alpha\bar{\alpha}}k^{\bar{\beta}\beta}\det t^{\alpha\beta}\det t^{\bar{\beta}\bar{\alpha}}$$
(B.14)

where

$$k(u,v) = \frac{f(u,v)}{g(u,v)} = 1 - i(u-v) , \quad \text{and} \quad t(u,v) = \frac{g^2(u,v)}{f(u,v)} = \frac{-1}{(u-v)(u-v+i)}$$
(B.15)

and $\operatorname{sgn}(\alpha)$ is the signature of the permutation required to put $\alpha \cup \overline{\alpha}$ into the canonical order $\{u\}$. This formula is valid for arbitrary Bethe states, even those whose rapidities do not satisfy the Bethe equations and which are thus said to be "off-shell". In the case where one set of rapidities satisfies the Bethe equations (they are said to be "on-shell"), the formula can be dramatically simplified to the calculation of a single determinant [231]. There is a further simplification when both sets of rapidities are on-shell and equal. In this case, as the set of rapidities is invariant under complex conjugation, the quantity I_M is related to the norm of the Bethe state and is given by Gaudin's formula

$$I_M(\{u\},\{u\}) = d^{\{u\}}a^{\{u\}}f_{>}^{\{u\}}f_{<}^{\{u\}}\det_{j,k}\partial_{u_j}\phi_k$$
(B.16)

where ϕ_k is defined in (3.13).

Appendix C Data preparation

In this appendix we discuss the data preparation of numerical spectra obtained from integrability methods or direct diagonalisation of the dilatation operator, as introduced in the main text. We perform the computation of these spectra in Mathematica. The major bottleneck when trying to achieve better statistics by going to larger spectra in the direct diagonalisation method is the calculation of the mixing matrix whose size grows roughly exponentially when going to higher operator lengths L. Therefore we perform these calculations on the Londsdale cluster of the Trinity Centre for High-Performance Computing. The remaining calculations, including the data preparation of the spectra, as well as the computation of statistical observables, can be performed on a standard desktop or laptop computer.

Unfolding method. As discussed in Section 4.1.2, when comparing spectra of physical systems and RMT spectra we must first separate the overall energy dependence $I_{av}(E)$ from the fluctuations. The former typically depends on the specifics of the model, whereas the latter reveal the underlying chaos or integrability. We unfold the spectrum via (4.8) by first approximating I_{av} . In order to do so, one can for example select each *i*-th energy state, with $i \gg 1$, and perform a piecewise linear interpolation. However we find that some of the subsequent results for the NNS distribution and Dyson–Mehta statistic considerably vary as one varies *i*. Therefore, we choose to approximate I_{av} with a polynomial fit to the set of $\{I(E_i)\}$. The degree *p* of the polynomial is a parameter that needs to be tuned, but we find that the results are virtually unchanged for a wide range of values.

Specifics for NNS distribution. Since I(E) is usually quite flat at the ends of the spectrum, we find it useful to clip at least 4% of the states on each end before fitting the distribution, see Figure C.1. Fitting $I_{av}(E)$ on the whole of the spectrum yields poor behaviour for extreme values of E, while clipping states at the ends of the spectrum yields a fit that captures $I_{av}(E)$ more accurately. While this clipping is



Figure C.1: Integrated spectral density I(E) for the β -deformed theory and a polynomial fit approximating its average behaviour $I_{av}(E)$ for (i) the whole spectrum and (ii) with 4% of the states at each end clipped.



Figure C.2: Values of α for the Wigner–Dyson distribution which best fit the data under different clipping fractions f of low-energy states (with 4% of the high-energy levels clipped) for a spectrum in (i) the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector of the β -deformed theory, and (ii) the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector ($n_b = 50$ in both cases).

necessary in order to obtain a good unfolding, there are still states at the ends of the spectrum that do not exhibit the chaotic properties of RMT. In order to assess which minimal clippings lead to stable results for the NNS distribution, we fit the results to the Wigner-Dyson distribution (4.41). The minimal percentage of states that need to be clipped to lead to stable values of α is theory-dependent, but can be found systematically, see Figure C.2. Note that in order for the results to be stable one needs to clip a larger percentage of states in the $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector. Regarding the degree p of the polynomial unfolding and the number of bins n_b , the variations are small, see Figure C.3. The results are rather insensitive to variations in these parameters, as long as $p \geq 11$ and $n_b \geq 20$. We use p = 17 in all examples shown in this work.

Specifics for the Dyson–Mehta statistics. For the Dyson–Mehta statistic $\Delta_3(l)$ it is similarly important to remove a sufficient number of low-energy states. In Figure



Figure C.3: Variation of the best fit parameter α in the β -deformed theory, with 8% (4%) clipping of low-(high-)energy states, as (i) we vary the number of bins n_b used for obtaining the NNS distribution with p = 17 fixed, and as (ii) we vary the degree p of the polynomial unfolding of the spectrum with $n_b = 50$.



Figure C.4: Plot of the ratio r between $\Delta_3(l)$ for a spectrum in (i) the β -deformed $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ sector, and (ii) the undeformed $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ sector, and its GOE prediction at l = 30 as we vary the clipping fraction f.

C.4 we plot the ratio r of $\Delta_3(30)$ for a given theory with that of the GOE prediction. One can see that the ratio converges as one increases the clipping fraction. The stabilisation in the case of Δ_3 seems to occur at slightly higher values of f than those found in the analogous analysis of the spacings in Figure C.2, but is otherwise similar. Meanwhile the dependence on the degree of the polynomial unfolding is negligible for $p \geq 11$ and also consistent with the plot in Figure C.3.

References

- R. Gonzo, T. Mc Loughlin, D. Medrano and A. Spiering, "Asymptotic charges and coherent states in QCD", Phys. Rev. D 104, 025019 (2021), arxiv:1906.11763.
- [2] T. McLoughlin, R. Pereira and A. Spiering, "One-loop non-planar anomalous dimensions in super Yang-Mills theory", JHEP 2010, 124 (2020), arxiv:2005.14254.
- [3] T. McLoughlin, R. Pereira and A. Spiering, "Quantum Chaos in Perturbative super-Yang-Mills Theory", arxiv: 2011.04633.
- [4] T. McLoughlin and A. Spiering, "unpublished work".
- [5] J. M. Maldacena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity", Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2, 231 (1998), hep-th/9711200.
- [6] N. Beisert, C. Kristjansen, J. Plefka, G. W. Semenoff and M. Staudacher, "BMN correlators and operator mixing in N=4 superYang-Mills theory", Nucl. Phys. B 650, 125 (2003), hep-th/0208178.
- [7] C. Kristjansen, J. Plefka, G. W. Semenoff and M. Staudacher, "A New double scaling limit of N=4 superYang-Mills theory and PP wave strings", Nucl. Phys. B 643, 3 (2002), hep-th/0205033.
- [8] N. R. Constable, D. Z. Freedman, M. Headrick, S. Minwalla, L. Motl, A. Postnikov and W. Skiba, "PP wave string interactions from perturbative Yang-Mills theory", JHEP 0207, 017 (2002), hep-th/0205089.
- [9] N. Beisert, C. Kristjansen, J. Plefka and M. Staudacher, "BMN gauge theory as a quantum mechanical system", Phys. Lett. B 558, 229 (2003), hep-th/0212269.
- [10] N. Beisert, "The complete one loop dilatation operator of N=4 superYang-Mills theory", Nucl. Phys. B 676, 3 (2004), hep-th/0307015.
- [11] J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "The Bethe ansatz for N=4 superYang-Mills", JHEP 0303, 013 (2003), hep-th/0212208.
- [12] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "The N=4 SYM integrable super spin chain", Nucl. Phys. B 670, 439 (2003), hep-th/0307042.
- [13] N. Beisert, C. Kristjansen and M. Staudacher, "The Dilatation operator of conformal N=4 superYang-Mills theory", Nucl. Phys. B 664, 131 (2003), hep-th/0303060.
- [14] I. Bena, J. Polchinski and R. Roiban, "Hidden symmetries of the AdS(5) x S**5 superstring", Phys. Rev. D 69, 046002 (2004), hep-th/0305116.

- [15] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, "Foundations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Superstring. Part I", J. Phys. A 42, 254003 (2009), arxiv:0901.4937.
- [16] N. Beisert et al., "Review of AdS/CFT Integrability: An Overview", Lett. Math. Phys. 99, 3 (2012), arxiv:1012.3982.
- [17] D. Bombardelli, A. Cagnazzo, R. Frassek, F. Levkovich-Maslyuk, F. Loebbert, S. Negro, I. M. Szécsényi, A. Sfondrini, S. J. van Tongeren and A. Torrielli, "An integrability primer for the gauge-gravity correspondence: An introduction", J. Phys. A 49, 320301 (2016), arxiv:1606.02945.
- [18] N. Gromov, "Introduction to the Spectrum of N = 4 SYM and the Quantum Spectral Curve", arxiv:1708.03648.
- [19] J. M. Henn, G. P. Korchemsky and B. Mistlberger, "The full four-loop cusp anomalous dimension in N = 4 super Yang-Mills and QCD", JHEP 2004, 018 (2020), arxiv:1911.10174.
- [20] B. Basso, S. Komatsu and P. Vieira, "Structure Constants and Integrable Bootstrap in Planar N=4 SYM Theory", arxiv:1505.06745.
- [21] T. Fleury and S. Komatsu, "Hexagonalization of Correlation Functions", JHEP 1701, 130 (2017), arxiv:1611.05577.
- [22] B. Eden and A. Sfondrini, "Tessellating cushions: four-point functions in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM", JHEP 1710, 098 (2017), arxiv:1611.05436.
- [23] T. Bargheer, J. Caetano, T. Fleury, S. Komatsu and P. Vieira, "Handling Handles: Nonplanar Integrability in N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory", Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 231602 (2018), arxiv:1711.05326.
- [24] B. Eden, Y. Jiang, D. le Plat and A. Sfondrini, "Colour-dressed hexagon tessellations for correlation functions and non-planar corrections", JHEP 1802, 170 (2018), arxiv:1710.10212.
- [25] N. R. Constable, D. Z. Freedman, M. Headrick and S. Minwalla, "Operator mixing and the BMN correspondence", JHEP 0210, 068 (2002), hep-th/0209002.
- [26] R. G. Leigh and M. J. Strassler, "Exactly marginal operators and duality in four-dimensional N=1 supersymmetric gauge theory", Nucl. Phys. B 447, 95 (1995), hep-th/9503121.
- [27] A. Mauri, S. Penati, A. Santambrogio and D. Zanon, "Exact results in planar N=1 superconformal Yang-Mills theory", JHEP 0511, 024 (2005), hep-th/0507282.
- [28] N. Beisert and R. Roiban, "Beauty and the twist: The Bethe ansatz for twisted N=4 SYM", JHEP 0508, 039 (2005), hep-th/0505187.
- [29] J. Fokken, C. Sieg and M. Wilhelm, "The complete one-loop dilatation operator of planar real β-deformed N = 4 SYM theory", JHEP 1407, 150 (2014), arxiv:1312.2959.

- [30] N. Beisert, "The Dilatation operator of N=4 super Yang-Mills theory and integrability", Phys. Rept. 405, 1 (2004), hep-th/0407277.
- [31] S. Caron-Huot and M. Wilhelm, "Renormalization group coefficients and the S-matrix", JHEP 1612, 010 (2016), arxiv:1607.06448.
- [32] B. I. Zwiebel, "From Scattering Amplitudes to the Dilatation Generator in N=4 SYM", J. Phys. A 45, 115401 (2012), arxiv:1111.0083.
- [33] E. P. Wigner, "On the statistical distribution of the widths and spacings of nuclear resonance levels",
 Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 47, 790–798 (1951).
- [34] N. Rosenzweig and C. E. Porter, "'Repulsion of Energy Levels' in Complex Atomic Spectra", Phys. Rev. 120, 1698 (1960).
- [35] O. Bohigas, M. J. Giannoni and C. Schmit, "Characterization of chaotic quantum spectra and universality of level fluctuation laws", Phys. Rev. Lett. 52, 1 (1984).
- [36] M. V. Berry, M. Tabor and J. M. Ziman, "Level clustering in the regular spectrum", Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 356, 375 (1977).
- [37] P. Hayden and J. Preskill, "Black holes as mirrors: Quantum information in random subsystems", JHEP 0709, 120 (2007), arxiv:0708.4025.
- [38] Y. Sekino and L. Susskind, "Fast Scramblers", JHEP 0810, 065 (2008), arxiv:0808.2096.
- [39] S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, "Black holes and the butterfly effect", JHEP 1403, 067 (2014), arxiv:1306.0622.
- [40] S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, "Stringy effects in scrambling", JHEP 1505, 132 (2015), arxiv:1412.6087.
- [41] J. S. Cotler, G. Gur-Ari, M. Hanada, J. Polchinski, P. Saad, S. H. Shenker,
 D. Stanford, A. Streicher and M. Tezuka, "Black Holes and Random Matrices",
 JHEP 1705, 118 (2017), arxiv:1611.04650, [Erratum: JHEP 09, 002 (2018)].
- [42] F. Gliozzi, J. Scherk and D. I. Olive, "Supersymmetry, Supergravity Theories and the Dual Spinor Model", Nucl. Phys. B 122, 253 (1977).
- [43] L. Brink, J. H. Schwarz and J. Scherk, "Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theories", Nucl. Phys. B 121, 77 (1977).
- [44] M. F. Sohnius and P. C. West, "Conformal Invariance in N=4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory", Phys. Lett. B 100, 245 (1981).
- [45] L. Brink, O. Lindgren and B. E. W. Nilsson, "The Ultraviolet Finiteness of the N=4 Yang-Mills Theory", Phys. Lett. B 123, 323 (1983).
- [46] P. S. Howe, K. S. Stelle and P. K. Townsend, "Miraculous Ultraviolet Cancellations in Supersymmetry Made Manifest", Nucl. Phys. B 236, 125 (1984).

- [47] J. Fokken, C. Sieg and M. Wilhelm, "Non-conformality of γ_i -deformed N = 4 SYM theory", J. Phys. A 47, 455401 (2014), arxiv:1308.4420.
- [48] S. J. Parke and T. R. Taylor, "An Amplitude for n Gluon Scattering", Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 2459 (1986).
- [49] V. P. Nair, "A Current Algebra for Some Gauge Theory Amplitudes", Phys. Lett. B 214, 215 (1988).
- [50] B. Eden, G. P. Korchemsky and E. Sokatchev, "From correlation functions to scattering amplitudes", JHEP 1112, 002 (2011), arxiv:1007.3246.
- [51] S. Caron-Huot, "Notes on the scattering amplitude / Wilson loop duality", JHEP 1107, 058 (2011), arxiv:1010.1167.
- [52] J. Polchinski, "Scale and Conformal Invariance in Quantum Field Theory", Nucl. Phys. B 303, 226 (1988).
- [53] D. Dorigoni and V. S. Rychkov, "Scale Invariance + Unitarity => Conformal Invariance?", arxiv:0910.1087.
- [54] G. 't Hooft, "A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions", Nucl. Phys. B 72, 461 (1974).
- [55] A. V. Belitsky, S. E. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky and A. N. Manashov, *"Dilatation operator in (super-)Yang-Mills theories on the light-cone"*, Nucl. Phys. B 708, 115 (2005), hep-th/0409120.
- [56] N. Beisert, G. Ferretti, R. Heise and K. Zarembo, "One-loop QCD spin chain and its spectrum", Nucl. Phys. B 717, 137 (2005), hep-th/0412029.
- [57] L. N. Lipatov, "Asymptotic behavior of multicolor QCD at high energies in connection with exactly solvable spin models", JETP Lett. 59, 596 (1994), hep-th/9311037.
- [58] L. D. Faddeev and G. P. Korchemsky, "High-energy QCD as a completely integrable model", Phys. Lett. B 342, 311 (1995), hep-th/9404173.
- [59] H. Elvang and Y.-t. Huang, "Scattering Amplitudes", arxiv:1308.1697.
- [60] L. J. Dixon, "A brief introduction to modern amplitude methods", arxiv:1310.5353, in: "Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Particle Physics: The Higgs Boson and Beyond".
- [61] B. Feng and M. Luo, "An Introduction to On-shell Recursion Relations", Front. Phys. (Beijing) 7, 533 (2012), arxiv:1111.5759.
- [62] R. Britto, "Introduction to Scattering Amplitudes", https://www.maths.tcd.ie/ britto/lecture-notes.pdf.
- [63] F. A. Berends and W. Giele, "The Six Gluon Process as an Example of Weyl-Van Der Waerden Spinor Calculus", Nucl. Phys. B 294, 700 (1987).

- [64] M. L. Mangano, "The Color Structure of Gluon Emission", Nucl. Phys. B 309, 461 (1988).
- [65] R. Kleiss and H. Kuijf, "Multi Gluon Cross-sections and Five Jet Production at Hadron Colliders", Nucl. Phys. B 312, 616 (1989).
- [66] V. Del Duca, L. J. Dixon and F. Maltoni, "New color decompositions for gauge amplitudes at tree and loop level", Nucl. Phys. B 571, 51 (2000), hep-ph/9910563.
- [67] Z. Bern, J. J. M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, "New Relations for Gauge-Theory Amplitudes", Phys. Rev. D 78, 085011 (2008), arxiv:0805.3993.
- [68] F. A. Berends and W. T. Giele, "Recursive Calculations for Processes with n Gluons", Nucl. Phys. B 306, 759 (1988).
- [69] O. Aharony and S. S. Razamat, "Exactly marginal deformations of N=4 SYM and of its supersymmetric orbifold descendants", JHEP 0205, 029 (2002), hep-th/0204045.
- [70] D. Berenstein and S. A. Cherkis, "Deformations of N=4 SYM and integrable spin chain models", Nucl. Phys. B 702, 49 (2004), hep-th/0405215.
- [71] R. Roiban, "On spin chains and field theories", JHEP 0409, 023 (2004), hep-th/0312218.
- [72] D. Bundzik and T. Mansson, "The General Leigh-Strassler deformation and integrability", JHEP 0601, 116 (2006), hep-th/0512093.
- [73] Q. Jin and R. Roiban, "On the non-planar beta-deformed N=4 super-Yang-Mills theory", J. Phys. A 45, 295401 (2012), arxiv:1201.5012.
- [74] D. Z. Freedman and U. Gursoy, "Comments on the beta-deformed N=4 SYM theory", JHEP 0511, 042 (2005), hep-th/0506128.
- [75] S. Penati, A. Santambrogio and D. Zanon, "Two-point correlators in the beta-deformed N=4 SYM at the next-to-leading order", JHEP 0510, 023 (2005), hep-th/0506150.
- [76] V. V. Khoze, "Amplitudes in the beta-deformed conformal Yang-Mills", JHEP 0602, 040 (2006), hep-th/0512194.
- [77] O. Lunin and J. M. Maldacena, "Deforming field theories with U(1) x U(1) global symmetry and their gravity duals", JHEP 0505, 033 (2005), hep-th/0502086.
- [78] T. Filk, "Divergencies in a field theory on quantum space", Phys. Lett. B 376, 53 (1996).
- [79] F. Bloch and A. Nordsieck, "Note on the Radiation Field of the electron", Phys. Rev. 52, 54 (1937).
- [80] D. R. Yennie, S. C. Frautschi and H. Suura, "The infrared divergence phenomena and high-energy processes", Annals Phys. 13, 379 (1961).
- [81] T. Kinoshita, "Mass singularities of Feynman amplitudes", J. Math. Phys. 3, 650 (1962).

- [82] T. D. Lee and M. Nauenberg, "Degenerate Systems and Mass Singularities", Phys. Rev. 133, B1549 (1964).
- [83] S. Weinberg, "Infrared photons and gravitons", Phys. Rev. 140, B516 (1965).
- [84] V. Chung, "Infrared Divergence in Quantum Electrodynamics", Phys. Rev. 140, B1110 (1965).
- [85] T. W. B. Kibble, "Coherent Soft-Photon States and Infrared Divergences. I. Classical Currents", J. Math. Phys. 9, 315 (1968).
- [86] T. W. B. Kibble, "Coherent soft-photon states and infrared divergences. ii. mass-shell singularities of green's functions", Phys. Rev. 173, 1527 (1968).
- [87] D. Zwanziger, "Reduction formulas for charged particles and coherent states in quantum electrodynamics", Phys. Rev. D 7, 1082 (1973).
- [88] S. S. Schweber, "Asymptotic operators for coulomb scattering", Phys. Rev. D 7, 3114 (1973).
- [89] J. D. Dollard, "Asymptotic Convergence and the Coulomb Interaction", Journal of Mathematical Physics 5, 729 (1964).
- [90] P. P. Kulish and L. D. Faddeev, "Asymptotic conditions and infrared divergences in quantum electrodynamics", Theor. Math. Phys. 4, 745 (1970).
- [91] M. Greco, F. Palumbo, G. Pancheri-Srivastava and Y. Srivastava, "Coherent State Approach to the Infra-red Behaviour of Non-abelian Gauge Theories", in: "Coherent States in Gauge Theories and Applications in Collider Physics", ed.: M. Greco, WSP (2019), Singapur.
- [92] H. D. Dahmen and F. Steiner, "Asymptotic Dynamics of QCD, Coherent States and the Quark Form-factor", Z. Phys. C 11, 247 (1981).
- [93] D. R. Butler and C. A. Nelson, "Nonabelian Structure of Yang-Mills Theory and Infrared Finite Asymptotic States", Phys. Rev. D 18, 1196 (1978).
- [94] C. A. Nelson, "Origin of Cancellation of Infrared Divergences in Coherent State Approach: Forward Process $qq \rightarrow qq + Gluon$ ", Nucl. Phys. B 181, 141 (1981).
- [95] J. Frenkel, J. G. M. Gatheral and J. C. Taylor, "Asymptotic States and Infrared Divergences in Nonabelian Theories", Nucl. Phys. B 194, 172 (1982).
- [96] S. Catani and M. Ciafaloni, "Generalized Coherent State for Soft Gluon Emission", Nucl. Phys. B 249, 301 (1985).
- [97] S. Catani, M. Ciafaloni and G. Marchesini, "Noncancelling infrared divergences in QCD coherent state", Nucl. Phys. B 264, 588 (1986).
- [98] S. Catani and M. Ciafaloni, "Gauge covariance of QCD coherent states", Nucl. Phys. B 289, 535 (1987).
- [99] M. Ciafaloni, "The QCD Coherent State From Asymptotic Dynamics", Phys. Lett. B 150, 379 (1985).

- [100] M. Ciafaloni, "Infrared singularities and coherent states in gauge theories", Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys. 5, 491 (1989).
- [101] V. Del Duca, L. Magnea and G. F. Sterman, "Collinear Infrared Factorization and Asymptotic Evolution", Nucl. Phys. B 324, 391 (1989).
- [102] J. Ware, R. Saotome and R. Akhoury, "Construction of an asymptotic S matrix for perturbative quantum gravity", JHEP 1310, 159 (2013), arxiv:1308.6285.
- [103] I. Bierenbaum, M. Czakon and A. Mitov, "The singular behavior of one-loop massive QCD amplitudes with one external soft gluon", Nucl. Phys. B 856, 228 (2012), arxiv:1107.4384.
- T. Becher and M. Neubert, "Infrared singularities of scattering amplitudes in perturbative QCD", Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 162001 (2009), arxiv:0901.0722, [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 111, 199905 (2013)].
- [105] A. Strominger, "Asymptotic Symmetries of Yang-Mills Theory", JHEP 1407, 151 (2014), arxiv:1308.0589.
- [106] A. Strominger, "On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering", JHEP 1407, 152 (2014), arxiv:1312.2229.
- [107] A. Strominger, "Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory", arxiv:1703.05448.
- [108] M. Mirbabayi and M. Porrati, "Dressed Hard States and Black Hole Soft Hair", Phys. Rev. Lett. 117, 211301 (2016), arxiv:1607.03120.
- B. Gabai and A. Sever, "Large gauge symmetries and asymptotic states in QED", JHEP 1612, 095 (2016), arxiv:1607.08599.
- [110] D. Kapec, M. Perry, A.-M. Raclariu and A. Strominger, "Infrared Divergences in QED, Revisited", Phys. Rev. D 96, 085002 (2017), arxiv:1705.04311.
- [111] S. Choi, U. Kol and R. Akhoury, "Asymptotic Dynamics in Perturbative Quantum Gravity and BMS Supertranslations", JHEP 1801, 142 (2018), arxiv:1708.05717.
- [112] S. Choi and R. Akhoury, "BMS Supertranslation Symmetry Implies Faddeev-Kulish Amplitudes", JHEP 1802, 171 (2018), arxiv:1712.04551.
- [113] C. Gomez, R. Letschka and S. Zell, "Infrared Divergences and Quantum Coherence", Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 610 (2018), arxiv:1712.02355.
- [114] D. Carney, L. Chaurette, D. Neuenfeld and G. Semenoff, "On the need for soft dressing", JHEP 1809, 121 (2018), arxiv:1803.02370.
- [115] D. Neuenfeld, "Infrared-safe scattering without photon vacuum transitions and time-dependent decoherence", arxiv:1810.11477.
- [116] H. Hirai and S. Sugishita, "Dressed states from gauge invariance", JHEP 1906, 023 (2019), arxiv:1901.09935.

- [117] E. Noether, "Invariant Variation Problems", Gott. Nachr. 1918, 235 (1918), physics/0503066.
- [118] Z. Bern, S. Davies and J. Nohle, "On Loop Corrections to Subleading Soft Behavior of Gluons and Gravitons", Phys. Rev. D 90, 085015 (2014), arxiv:1405.1015.
- [119] F. Cachazo and E. Y. Yuan, "Are Soft Theorems Renormalized?", arxiv:1405.3413.
- S. Catani and M. Grazzini, "The soft gluon current at one loop order", Nucl. Phys. B 591, 435 (2000), hep-ph/0007142.
- [121] F. Cachazo, P. Svrcek and E. Witten, "MHV vertices and tree amplitudes in gauge theory", JHEP 0409, 006 (2004), hep-th/0403047.
- [122] R. Britto, F. Cachazo and B. Feng, "New recursion relations for tree amplitudes of gluons", Nucl. Phys. B 715, 499 (2005), hep-th/0412308.
- [123] R. Britto, F. Cachazo, B. Feng and E. Witten, "Direct proof of tree-level recursion relation in Yang-Mills theory", Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 181602 (2005), hep-th/0501052.
- [124] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Kaplan, "On Tree Amplitudes in Gauge Theory and Gravity", JHEP 0804, 076 (2008), arxiv:0801.2385.
- [125] T. Cohen, H. Elvang and M. Kiermaier, "On-shell constructibility of tree amplitudes in general field theories", JHEP 1104, 053 (2011), arxiv:1010.0257.
- [126] C. Cheung, C.-H. Shen and J. Trnka, "Simple Recursion Relations for General Field Theories", JHEP 1506, 118 (2015), arxiv:1502.05057.
- [127] H. Elvang, D. Z. Freedman and M. Kiermaier, "Recursion Relations, Generating Functions, and Unitarity Sums in N=4 SYM Theory", JHEP 0904, 009 (2009), arxiv:0808.1720.
- [128] K. Risager, "A Direct proof of the CSW rules", JHEP 0512, 003 (2005), hep-th/0508206.
- [129] H. Elvang, D. Z. Freedman and M. Kiermaier, "Proof of the MHV vertex expansion for all tree amplitudes in N=4 SYM theory", JHEP 0906, 068 (2009), arxiv:0811.3624.
- [130] A. Brandhuber, B. Spence, G. Travaglini and G. Yang, "Form Factors in N=4 Super Yang-Mills and Periodic Wilson Loops", JHEP 1101, 134 (2011), arxiv:1011.1899.
- [131] A. Brandhuber, O. Gurdogan, R. Mooney, G. Travaglini and G. Yang, "Harmony of Super Form Factors", JHEP 1110, 046 (2011), arxiv:1107.5067.
- [132] M. E. Peskin and D. V. Schroeder, "An Introduction to quantum field theory", Addison-Wesley (1995), Reading, USA.
- [133] H. Kluberg-Stern and J. B. Zuber, "Ward Identities and Some Clues to the Renormalization of Gauge Invariant Operators", Phys. Rev. D 12, 467 (1975).

- [134] B. Grinstein and L. Randall, "The Renormalization of g^2 ", Phys. Lett. B 217, 335 (1989).
- [135] N. Beisert, "The su(2|3) dynamic spin chain", Nucl. Phys. B 682, 487 (2004), hep-th/0310252.
- [136] B. I. Zwiebel, "The psu (1,1|2) Spin Chain of N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory".
- [137] C. Kristjansen, "Review of AdS/CFT Integrability, Chapter IV.1: Aspects of Non-Planarity", Lett. Math. Phys. 99, 349 (2012), arxiv:1012.3997.
- [138] H. Bethe, "On the theory of metals. 1. Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions for the linear atomic chain", Z. Phys. 71, 205 (1931).
- [139] L. D. Faddeev, "How algebraic Bethe ansatz works for integrable model", hep-th/9605187, in: "Les Houches School of Physics: Astrophysical Sources of Gravitational Radiation".
- [140] W. Heisenberg, "Zur Theorie des Ferromagnetismus", Z. Phys. 49, 619 (1928).
- [141] C. Candu and M. de Leeuw, "Introduction to Integrability", Lectures delivered at ETH, Zurich (2003), http://edu.itp.phys.ethz.ch/fs13/int/SpinChains.pdf.
- [142] V. G. Drinfeld, "Hopf algebras and the quantum Yang-Baxter equation", Sov. Math. Dokl. 32, 254 (1985).
- [143] V. G. Drinfeld, "Quantum groups", Zap. Nauchn. Semin. 155, 18 (1986).
- [144] V. G. Drinfeld, "A New realization of Yangians and quantized affine algebras", Sov. Math. Dokl. 36, 212 (1988).
- [145] V. G. Drinfel'd, "Hopf algebras and the Quantum Yang-Baxter equation", in: "Yang-Baxter Equation in Integrable Systems", pp. 264-268.
- [146] L. Dolan, C. R. Nappi and E. Witten, "A Relation between approaches to integrability in superconformal Yang-Mills theory", JHEP 0310, 017 (2003), hep-th/0308089.
- [147] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "Long-range psu(2,2-4) Bethe Ansatze for gauge theory and strings", Nucl. Phys. B 727, 1 (2005), hep-th/0504190.
- [148] P. Vieira and D. Volin, "Review of AdS/CFT Integrability, Chapter III.3: The Dressing factor", Lett. Math. Phys. 99, 231 (2012), arxiv:1012.3992.
- [149] J. Ambjorn, R. A. Janik and C. Kristjansen, "Wrapping interactions and a new source of corrections to the spin-chain/string duality", Nucl. Phys. B 736, 288 (2006), hep-th/0510171.
- [150] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, S. Leurent and D. Volin, "Solving the AdS/CFT Y-system", JHEP 1207, 023 (2012), arxiv:1110.0562.

- [151] F. Levkovich-Maslyuk, "A review of the AdS/CFT Quantum Spectral Curve", J. Phys. A 53, 283004 (2020), arxiv:1911.13065.
- [152] B. Basso, A. Sever and P. Vieira, "Spacetime and Flux Tube S-Matrices at Finite Coupling for N=4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory", Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 091602 (2013), arxiv:1303.1396.
- [153] B. Basso, "Exciting the GKP string at any coupling", Nucl. Phys. B 857, 254 (2012), arxiv:1010.5237.
- [154] G. Arutyunov, S. Frolov, J. Russo and A. A. Tseytlin, "Spinning strings in AdS(5) x S**5 and integrable systems", Nucl. Phys. B 671, 3 (2003), hep-th/0307191.
- [155] G. Arutyunov, J. Russo and A. A. Tseytlin, "Spinning strings in AdS(5) x S^{**5}: New integrable system relations", Phys. Rev. D 69, 086009 (2004), hep-th/0311004.
- [156] V. A. Kazakov, A. Marshakov, J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "Classical/quantum integrability in AdS/CFT", JHEP 0405, 024 (2004), hep-th/0402207.
- [157] V. A. Kazakov and K. Zarembo, "Classical / quantum integrability in non-compact sector of AdS/CFT", JHEP 0410, 060 (2004), hep-th/0410105.
- [158] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov and K. Sakai, "Algebraic curve for the SO(6) sector of AdS/CFT", Commun. Math. Phys. 263, 611 (2006), hep-th/0410253.
- [159] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov, K. Sakai and K. Zarembo, "The Algebraic curve of classical superstrings on AdS(5) x S**5", Commun. Math. Phys. 263, 659 (2006), hep-th/0502226.
- [160] S. Schafer-Nameki, "The Algebraic curve of 1-loop planar N=4 SYM", Nucl. Phys. B 714, 3 (2005), hep-th/0412254.
- [161] N. Beisert, V. A. Kazakov, K. Sakai and K. Zarembo, "Complete spectrum of long operators in N=4 SYM at one loop", JHEP 0507, 030 (2005), hep-th/0503200.
- [162] J. Escobedo, N. Gromov, A. Sever and P. Vieira, "Tailoring Three-Point Functions and Integrability", JHEP 1109, 028 (2011), arxiv:1012.2475.
- [163] R. I. Nepomechie and C. Wang, "Algebraic Bethe ansatz for singular solutions", J. Phys. A 46, 325002 (2013), arxiv:1304.7978.
- [164] W. Hao, R. I. Nepomechie and A. J. Sommese, "Completeness of solutions of Bethe's equations", Phys. Rev. E 88, 052113 (2013), arxiv:1308.4645.
- [165] R. I. Nepomechie and C. Wang, "Twisting singular solutions of Bethe's equations", J. Phys. A 47, 505004 (2014), arxiv:1409.7382.
- [166] L. D. Faddeev and L. A. Takhtajan, "Spectrum and scattering of excitations in the one-dimensional isotropic Heisenberg model", Zap. Nauchn. Semin. 109, 134 (1981).
- [167] V. E. Korepin, "Calculation of norms of Bethe wave functions", Commun. Math. Phys. 86, 391 (1982).

- [168] A. A. Vladimirov, "Proof of the invariance of the Bethe-Ansatz solutions under complex conjugation", Journal of Mathematics and Physics (Cambridge, MA) 66, 102 (1986).
- [169] F. Coronado, "Perturbative four-point functions in planar $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM from hexagonalization", JHEP 1901, 056 (2019), arxiv:1811.00467.
- [170] F. Coronado, "Bootstrapping the Simplest Correlator in Planar N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory to All Loops", Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 171601 (2020), arxiv:1811.03282.
- [171] M. Bianchi, B. Eden, G. Rossi and Y. S. Stanev, "On operator mixing in N=4 SYM", Nucl. Phys. B 646, 69 (2002), hep-th/0205321.
- [172] D. E. Berenstein, J. M. Maldacena and H. S. Nastase, "Strings in flat space and pp waves from N=4 superYang-Mills", JHEP 0204, 013 (2002), hep-th/0202021.
- [173] R. A. Janik, "BMN operators and string field theory", Phys. Lett. B 549, 237 (2002), hep-th/0209263.
- [174] C. Marboe and D. Volin, "Fast analytic solver of rational Bethe equations", J. Phys. A 50, 204002 (2017), arxiv:1608.06504.
- [175] A. V. Ryzhov, "Quarter BPS operators in N=4 SYM", JHEP 0111, 046 (2001), hep-th/0109064.
- [176] J. Wishart, "The generalised product moment distribution in samples from a normal multivariate population", Biometrika 20A, 32 (1928).
- [177] E. P. Wigner, "Characteristic Vectors of Bordered Matrices With Infinite Dimensions", Annals of Mathematics 62, 548 (1955).
- [178] E. P. Wigner, "Characteristics Vectors of Bordered Matrices with Infinite Dimensions II", Annals of Mathematics 65, 203 (1957).
- [179] E. P. Wigner, "On the Distribution of the Roots of Certain Symmetric Matrices", Annals of Mathematics 67, 325 (1958).
- [180] F. J. Dyson, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. I", Journal of Mathematical Physics 3, 140 (1962).
- [181] F. J. Dyson, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. II", Journal of Mathematical Physics 3, 157 (1962).
- [182] F. J. Dyson, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. III", Journal of Mathematical Physics 3, 166 (1962).
- [183] F. J. Dyson and M. L. Mehta, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. IV", Journal of Mathematical Physics 4, 701 (1963).
- [184] F. J. Dyson, "The Threefold Way. Algebraic Structure of Symmetry Groups and Ensembles in Quantum Mechanics", Journal of Mathematical Physics 3, 1199 (1962).

- [185] M. L. Mehta and F. J. Dyson, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. V", Journal of Mathematical Physics 4, 713 (1963).
- [186] M. L. Mehta and F. J. Dyson, "Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. V", Journal of Mathematical Physics 4, 713 (1963).
- [187] C. E. Porter, "Statistical theories of spectra: fluctuations", Nuclear Physics 78, 696 (1966).
- [188] C. E. Porter and N. Rosenzweig, "Statistical properties of atomic and nuclear spectra", Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae. Ser. A VI No. 44, (1960).
- [189] A. Altland and M. R. Zirnbauer, "Nonstandard symmetry classes in mesoscopic normal-superconducting hybrid structures", Phys. Rev. B 55, 1142 (1997), cond-mat/9602137.
- [190] H. Montgomery, "The pair correlation of zeros of the zeta function", Proc. Symp. Pure Maths. 24, 181 (1973).
- [191] H. Montgomery, "Distribution of the zeros of the Riemann zeta function", Proc. of Int. Congr. of Mathematicians Vancouver, 379 (1974).
- [192] J. Maldacena, S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, "A bound on chaos", JHEP 1608, 106 (2016), arxiv:1503.01409.
- [193] S. W. McDonald and A. N. Kaufman, "Spectrum and Eigenfunctions for a Hamiltonian with Stochastic Trajectories", Phys. Rev. Lett. 42, 1189 (1979).
- [194] G. Casati, I. Guarneri and F. Valz-Gris, "Degree of randomness of the sequence of eigenvalues", Phys. Rev. A 30, 1586 (1984).
- [195] M. Berry, "Quantizing a classically ergodic system: Sinai's billiard and the KKR method", Annals of Physics 131, 163 (1981).
- [196] D. Poilblanc, T. Ziman, J. Bellissard, F. Mila and G. Montambaux, "Poisson vs. GOE Statistics in Integrable and Non-Integrable Quantum Hamiltonians", Europhysics Letters (EPL) 22, 537 (1993).
- [197] Y. Avishai, J. Richert and R. Berkovits, "Level statistics in a Heisenberg chain with random magnetic field", Phys. Rev. B 66, 052416 (2002).
- [198] F. Finkel and A. González-López, "Global properties of the spectrum of the Haldane-Shastry spin chain", Phys. Rev. B 72, 174411 (2005).
- [199] A. Relaño, J. Dukelsky, J. M. G. Gómez and J. Retamosa, "Stringent numerical test of the Poisson distribution for finite quantum integrable Hamiltonians", Phys. Rev. E 70, 026208 (2004).
- [200] P. R. Zangara, A. D. Dente, E. J. Torres-Herrera, H. M. Pastawski, A. Iucci and L. F. Santos, "Time fluctuations in isolated quantum systems of interacting particles", Phys. Rev. E 88, 032913 (2013).
- [201] J. von Neumann and E. Wigner, "Über das Verhalten von Eigenwerten bei adiabatischen Prozessen", Phys. Z 30, 467 (1929).

- [202] E. Teller, "The Crossing of Potential Surfaces.", The Journal of Physical Chemistry 41, 109 (1937).
- [203] C. A. Tracy and H. Widom, "On orthogonal and symplectic matrix ensembles", Commun. Math. Phys. 177, 727 (1996), arxiv:solv-int/9509007.
- [204] V. Zelevinsky, B. Brown, N. Frazier and M. Horoi, "The nuclear shell model as a testing ground for many-body quantum chaos", Physics Reports 276, 85 (1996).
- [205] L. D'Alessio, Y. Kafri, A. Polkovnikov and M. Rigol, "From quantum chaos and eigenstate thermalization to statistical mechanics and thermodynamics", Adv. Phys. 65, 239 (2016), arxiv:1509.06411.
- [206] M. L. Mehta, "Random Matrices", Elsevier (2004).
- [207] T. C. Hsu and J. C. Angles d'Auriac, "Level repulsion in integrable and almost integrable quantum spin models", Phys. Rev. B 47, 4291 (1993), cond-mat/9211004.
- [208] M. V. Berry and M. Robnik, "Semiclassical level spacings when regular and chaotic orbits coexist", Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 17, 2413 (1984).
- [209] T. A. Brody, "A statistical measure for the repulsion of energy levels", Lett. Nuovo Cimento 7, 482 (1973).
- [210] K. Kudo and T. Deguchi, "Level Statistics of XXZ Spin Chains with Discrete Symmetries: Analysis through Finite-size Effects", Journal of the Physical Society of Japan 74, 1992 (2005).
- [211] M. V. Berry, "Semiclassical theory of spectral rigidity", Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 400, 229 (1985).
- [212] O. Bohigas and M. Giannoni, "Level density fluctuations and random matrix theory", Annals of Physics 89, 393 (1975).
- [213] H.-J. Stöckmann, "Quantum Chaos: An Introduction", Cambridge University Press (1999).
- [214] F. M. Izrailev, "Simple models of quantum chaos: Spectrum and eigenfunctions", Physics Reports 196, 299 (1990).
- [215] G. P. Korchemsky, "On level crossing in conformal field theories", JHEP 1603, 212 (2016), arxiv:1512.05362.
- [216] D. Berenstein and R. G. Leigh, "Discrete torsion, AdS / CFT and duality", JHEP 0001, 038 (2000), hep-th/0001055.
- [217] L. F. Santos, F. Borgonovi and F. M. Izrailev, "Onset of chaos and relaxation in isolated systems of interacting spins: Energy shell approach", Phys. Rev. E 85, 036209 (2012).
- [218] B. Basso, F. Coronado, S. Komatsu, H. T. Lam, P. Vieira and D.-l. Zhong, "Asymptotic Four Point Functions", JHEP 1907, 082 (2019), arxiv:1701.04462.

- [219] M. Guica, F. Levkovich-Maslyuk and K. Zarembo, "Integrability in dipole-deformed $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills", J. Phys. A 50, 39 (2017), arxiv:1706.07957.
- [220] R. de Mello Koch, E. Gandote and A. L. Mahu, "Scrambling in Yang-Mills", JHEP 2101, 058 (2021), arxiv:2008.12409.
- [221] R. de Mello Koch, J.-H. Huang, M. Kim and H. J. R. Van Zyl, "Emergent Yang-Mills theory", JHEP 2010, 100 (2020), arxiv:2005.02731.
- [222] S. Sachdev and J. Ye, "Gapless spin fluid ground state in a random, quantum Heisenberg magnet", Phys. Rev. Lett. 70, 3339 (1993), cond-mat/9212030.
- [223] A. Kitaev, "A simple model of quantum holograph", KITP 2015, http://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/entangled15/kitaev/, http://online.kitp.ucsb.edu/online/entangled15/kitaev2/.
- [224] J. Polchinski and V. Rosenhaus, "The Spectrum in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev Model", JHEP 1604, 001 (2016), arxiv:1601.06768.
- [225] J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, "Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model", Phys. Rev. D 94, 106002 (2016), arxiv:1604.07818.
- [226] Y.-Z. You, A. W. W. Ludwig and C. Xu, "Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev Model and Thermalization on the Boundary of Many-Body Localized Fermionic Symmetry Protected Topological States", Phys. Rev. B 95, 115150 (2017), arxiv:1602.06964.
- [227] A. M. García-García and J. J. M. Verbaarschot, "Analytical Spectral Density of the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev Model at finite N", Phys. Rev. D 96, 066012 (2017), arxiv:1701.06593.
- [228] P. H. C. Lau, C.-T. Ma, J. Murugan and M. Tezuka, "Randomness and Chaos in Qubit Models", Phys. Lett. B 795, 230 (2019), arxiv:1812.04770.
- [229] F. Levkovich-Maslyuk, "The Bethe ansatz", J. Phys. A 49, 323004 (2016), arxiv:1606.02950.
- [230] N. A. Slavnov, "Algebraic Bethe ansatz", arxiv:1804.07350.
- [231] N. A. Slavnov, "Calculation of scalar products of wave functions and form factors in the framework of the algebraic Bethe ansatz", Teoreticheskaya i Matematicheskaya Fizika 79, 232 (1989).